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RUUKKI GROUP IN BRIEF

Ruukki Group, an industrial operator in the minerals and 

wood businesses, aims at the financially profitable use 

and processing of natural resources. The Group’s current 

operations include chrome ore mining and beneficiation, 

ferrochrome, silico manganese and nickel-chromium-iron 

alloy manufacturing as well as house building, sawmilling 

and pallet manufacturing.

Ruukki Group’s consolidated revenue for 2009 totalled 

EUR 193.4 million with an EBITDA of EUR 19.4 million. The 

Group employs close to 900 people working in Finland, 

South Africa, Turkey, Germany, UK and elsewhere.

The objectives in the two principal business areas can be 

summarised as follows; Minerals - vertical integration by 

increasing our mining activities and expand our furnace 

operations. Wood Processing - turn our promising house 

building business, Pohjolan Design-Talo, into a growth 

construction company in Finland and potentially demerge 

wood processing assets from the Group.

The key strategic principles can be defined as follows:

1. Industrial operations in selected industry sectors 

2. Diversification of operations by businesses and  

    geographically

3. Vertical integration within business areas

4. A dynamic and proactive approach

5. Products with a high degree of customisation and

    processing

6. Targeting niche markets to the extent possible

Ruukki Group emphasises growth in revenue and prof-

itability, whilst maintaining a conservative approach to 

managing its debt/equity ratio.

  COMPANY FACT SHEET
  
  Corporate name:                   Ruukki Group Plc
  Domicile:                    Espoo
  Business ID-number:                   0618181-8

  Business:                                     Industrials (OMX sector)
  Business areas:                   Minerals
                    Wood Processing

  Trading code:                   RUG1V (NASDAQ OMX Helsinki)

  Interim Reports in 2010:

  Period                    To be published
  1.1. – 31.3.2010 (3 months)  12 May 2010
  1.1. – 30.6.2010 (6 months)  12 August 2010
  1.1. – 30.9.2010 (9 months)  11 November 2010

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be held in Espoo, 

Finland, on Wednesday 21 April 2010. 

The Board of Directors has decided to propose to the 

2010 Annual General Meeting that capital redemption 

of EUR 0.04 per share would be distributed out of the 

paid-up unrestricted equity reserve, and that no dividend 

would be paid out.

Disclaimer

The annual report is a translation from the original annual 

report in Finnish. In case of any discrepancies, inconsist-

encies or inaccuracies, the Finnish version shall prevail.
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Group key figures, continuing operations

Financial performance indicators

EUR million 2009 2008

Revenue 193.4 158.7

EBITDA 19.4 2.1

EBIT -24.6 -46.9

Profit before taxes -28.3 -41.5

Net profit -22.7 -41.4

Return on equity, % -7.1% -10.8%

Return on capital employed, % -5.0% -7.9%

Equity ratio, % 52.0% 64.8%

Gross capital expenditure 215.7 235.4

Average personnel 824 418

Share information

EUR 2009 2008

Earnings per share, basic -0.08 -0.14

Earnings per share, diluted -0.08 -0.14

Equity per share 1.03 1.20

Distribution 0.041 0.042

Market capitalization 
(EUR million)

558.6 333.5

Number of shares on 31.12.
(1,000)

261 034 290 034

1) Capital redemption proposed to the AGM 2010

2) Capital redemption AGM 2009

Equity ratio

52.0%

85.1%

60.1%

32.9%

64.8%

2008 20072005  2006 2009

Market capitalization 

EUR million

2008 20072005  2006 2009

558.6

817.9

163.2

54.4

333.5

Earnings and distribution per share

2008 20072005  2006 2009

0.07

0.03

0.07

0.03

0.05
0.04

-0.14

0.04

-0.08

0.04

Earnings per share, 
basic

Distribution per share

2008 20072005  2006 2009

Revenue                EBITDA              EBITDA-%

Revenue and EBITDA 

EUR million
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100
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16%

14%

12%

10%
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Headquarters

The Group’s headquarters are located in Espoo, Finland. A new office for the headquarter personnel working in London, 

UK, has also been set up. The parent company, Ruukki Group Plc, is listed on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki under the Mid Cap 

segment and is preparing for a listing on the London Stock Exchange. Ruukki Group Plc is responsible for the Group’s strat-

egy and administration. During the year 2009, the Group central administration has been strengthened, Group Executive 

Committee established, segment management appointed and group steering enhanced. With a view to the long-term 

development of the Group’s businesses, the parent company will also provide its subsidiaries with various services. Some of 

the Group’s subsidiaries operate on an entrepreneurial basis with the entrepreneurs responsible for the daily operations.

Mining and benefication

Mining and benefication operations are located in Turkey 

where the Group has active mining areas in three loca-

tions: Kavak, Tavas and Fethiye. In addition, there are 

several exploration licences in other locations. The main 

operations are the exploration and exploitation of chrome 

mines with a main focus on exporting two chrome types: 

high grade chrome concentrates and lumpy chrome ore. 

The chromite concentrate is delivered for further process-

ing to the processing operations in Germany. The annual 

chrome ore concentrate production capacity is currently 

around 30,000 tonnes.

 

Processing

Processing the chromite concentrate from both the 

MINERALS BUSINESS

The Minerals business operations are located in South Africa, Turkey, Malta and 

Germany. Ruukki Group acquired the European minerals businesses in October 2008, 

and expanded in May 2009 via an acquisition into South Africa. The Group operates in 

ferro alloys production, with emphasis on various grades of ferrochrome.

 

Group’s Turkish mines and external parties is carried out 

in Germany through a toll manufacturing agreement. The 

German plant manufactures specialised low carbon and 

ultralow carbon ferrochrome products. The production 

capacity of special grade ferrochrome is some 30,000 

metric tonnes per year. In South Africa, the Group has 

smelting operations in four furnaces with a total annual 

capacity of around 110,000 metric tonnes.

Procurement and sales

Procurement and sales operations are centralised into 

Malta. The Group sells low carbon and ultralow carbon 

ferrochrome, charge chrome, silico manganese and 

nickel-chromium-iron alloys to its customers worldwide, 

mainly to producers of stainless steel.

Revenue split by segment 2009

Minerals: 37%

Wood Processing: 63%

EBITDA split by segment 2009 

EUR million

17

-8

10

Minerals

Wood Processing

Other operations

Personnel by segment on 31.12.2009

Group total: 893

Minerals: 629

Wood Processing: 253

Other operations: 11
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Sawmill businessHouse building

House building operations are 

located in north-western Finland.  

Prefabricated houses are designed 

in Oulunsalo; electrotechnical 

design as well as heating, plumb-

ing, and air-conditioning work is 

carried out in Ii; and the element 
factory is located in Nivala. The business comprises the 

manufacture and delivery of ready-to-move-in detached 

wooden houses as turnkey deliveries to private individu-

als in Finland. During 2009, the house building revenue 

amounted to EUR 31.8 million with altogether 238 houses 

delivered.

The Group’s sawmills operate in 

western Finland with production 

sites in Kalajoki and Oulainen.  

Group’s sawmills concentrate on 

the effective processing of soft-

wood timber into various types 

of sawn goods - pine and spruce 
being the raw materials. The sawmills target both the 

domestic and export markets,  mainly the UK, Japan, 

and the Mediterranean countries, with the construction 

industry being the key customer segment. The annual 

production capacity at the end of 2009 of sawn timber 

was about 300,000 m3. The sawmill business area’s rev-

enue in 2009 was EUR 82.7 million.

Pallet manufacturing

Pallets are manufactured at four 

factories in Oulu, Kemi, Tornio 

and Rovaniemi. Wooden load-

ing pallets are manufactured for 

paper, steel and other industries. 

The Oulu unit focuses on close 

deck, Kemi on open deck and 
Tornio on custom-designed pallets. Service to manufac-

ture tailor-designed pallets is also provided. Annually 

some 1.5 million pallets are produced. Pallet business 

revenue was EUR 9.4 million in 2009.

Ruukki Group’s Wood Processing segment is 

divided into three business operations:

House building »

Sawmill business »

Pallet manufacturing »

WOOD PROCESSING BUSINESS

Wood Processing operations are located in Finland, especially in north-western Finland. The busi-

ness area is engaged in refining natural resources available in the northern coniferous zone with the 

ultimate aim of achieving a high degree of processing at optimum cost and efficiency.
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The most significant 
transaction of the year was 
our acquisition of Mogale 

Alloys in South Africa. 

CEO´S REPORT

Major events

During 2009, we continued with the transformation of 

the Group from a Wood processing company to a natu-

ral resources company with two segments, wood and 

minerals. 

The most significant transaction of the year was our ac-

quisition of Mogale Alloys in South Africa. The Mogale 

transaction provides the Group with a platform from 

which we can grow our minerals operations in South 

Africa. The attempt to acquire Sylvania Resources was 

carried out with this in mind and although the transaction 

was terminated by mutual agreement, Mogale continues 

to see considerable growth opportunities through its ca-

pabilities and expertise in DC smelting technology.

Our Turkish operations entered into a project to extract 

chrome from our existing mine dumps, which is expected 

to reduce production costs at the mine, and we expect 

this to come into production in May 2010. 

In October, our management team was strengthened 

by the appointment of Dr Danko Koncar as CEO of the 

Minerals business and by Dr Alistair Ruiters as CEO of 

Ruukki South Africa.

The house building business is a part of our wood seg-

ment demonstrating the most potential as high growth 

opportunity. To this end, we also acquired land in the 

Kirkkonummi area to develop, providing a platform to 

move into construction using our own house building 

business as the primary driver. 

We have disposed of the sawmill companies Lappipaneli 

Oy and Tervolan Saha ja Höyläämö Oy as part of further 

restructuring of our wood segment. 

The wood segment has also been boosted with a new 

management team. Thomas Hoyer started as CEO of the 

wood business during the last quarter of the year.

Profitability

The year 2009 was challenging for the Group and industry 

in general. However, despite the global economic crisis 

we were able to deliver a relatively strong performance 

for both our business segments, which reported profits at 

the EBITDA level.

Although we spent a considerable amount of cash  

acquiring Mogale, our cash flow from operations remained 

positive and we had sufficient cash in the bank for our 

working capital needs.

Outlook

The general improvement in our key industries appears to 

be driven by growth in China, which strengthened prices 

for our products in the 4th Quarter of 2009. Hopefully, this 

is the beginning of a trend; however, the global recovery 

is still very fragile and very uncertain as fiscal challenges 
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appear to be common in the first world economies.

 

Outside of our house building business, the majority 

of our operations are focused on emerging economies, 

which is where we see the greatest demand for our prod-

ucts going forward. 

Our minerals strategy is based on expanding our pro-

duction in addition to seeking opportunities to expand 

our range of products for the Steel and Stainless Steel 

industries. Our plans for 2010 are very much focused on 

growing our operations to meet this increasing demand.
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Jelena Manojlovic
Chairperson of the Board

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’  REPORT

PERFORMANCE 2009

General

During 2009, the Group continued implementing the 

strategy decided in 2008, namely to have two separate 

reporting segments based on processing of certain natu-

ral resources. The Group’s Minerals segment expanded 

into South Africa and at the same time diversified the 

ferroalloys product range into charge chrome, silico man-

ganese and nickel-chromium-iron alloy. The Wood busi-

ness restructuring alternatives in relation to the wood 

processing assets were evaluated and Wood segment 

changed its focus to increase the relative importance of 

house building by disposing of some non-core sawmill as-

sets not suitable to the Group strategy. During the fourth 

quarter, segment CEOs were elected, and the Group es-

tablished a management executive committee to better 

manage the operational issues.

The global financial and economic crisis that started in 

2008 significantly affected the performance during the 

financial year 2009. Capacity utilisation levels were kept 

low to meet the weak demand, even though there were 

signs of recovery at the end of the year. Although the 

sales volumes dropped considerably from the previ-

ous year, the operational profitability, as measured by 

EBITDA, remained quite good. The Group’s operations 

depend on the commodity prices to major extent, the 

volatility of which is typically quite high in the markets 

where the Group operates.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’  REPORT

CORPORATE ACTIVITY

Acquisition of Mogale Alloys

At the end of May, Ruukki Group acquired an effective 

stake of 84.9% in Mogale Alloys, a company located in 

South Africa with minerals smelting operations. With the 

transaction, the Group expanded its minerals business 

into South Africa and into new products. The acquisi-

tion was a cornerstone transaction in the expansion into 

South Africa, one of the leading areas of minerals produc-

tion in the world. The Mogale platform provides Ruukki 

with opportunities to pursue related acquisitions into vari-

ous minerals and alloys operations, such as chrome and 

platinum assets. Mogale has a total of 96 MVA smelting 

capacity with four furnaces; it produces silico manganese, 

ferrochrome and stainless steel alloy and currently has a 

combined annual capacity of about 110,000 metric tons. 

The purchase consideration was ZAR 1.85 billion (about 

EUR 160 million) and an additional ZAR 150 million (about 

EUR 13 million) was agreed to be paid into a management 

trust. When the transaction was concluded approximately 

ZAR 1.2 billion was paid in cash. The balance of the total 

payment, ZAR 800 million, is split into two tranches: un-

conditional ZAR 200 million to be paid in May 2010 and 

conditional ZAR 600 million tied to environmental licenses 

and permits.

Intended Sylvania Resources merger

At the end of June 2009, Ruukki Group announced its 

intension to acquire 100% of the share capital of Sylvania 

Resources Ltd, an Australian incorporated company 

producing platinum group metal (PGM) alloys with its 

main business located in South Africa. The target of 

the Sylvania transaction was to further expand Ruukki’s 

minerals business in South Africa. In October, however, 

the merger implementation agreement was terminated. 

The parties faced serious obstacles during implementa-

tion that hampered the planned merger as well as the 

estimated benefits it was expected to generate.

Disposal of Lappipaneli Oy’s sawmill assets

Lappipaneli Oy concluded in the fourth quarter of 2009 

the sale of its sawmilling assets to Pölkky Oy, Pölkky 

Metsä Kmo Oy and Kitkawood Oy. Inventories were sold 

in October 2009 and the transfer of fixed assets is ex-

pected to take place in April 2010. This corporate activ-

ity aims at changing the focus of the Wood Processing 

business to enable better growth and profitability, and 

to benefit from the synergies between the various units 

in an improved way. The consideration for Lappipaneli’s 

gross assets totalled EUR 14.6 million. The consideration 

is paid in instalments, to a major extent during the fourth 

quarter of 2009 and the rest expected to be received in 

April 2010.

Divestment of the shares in Tervolan Saha ja 

Höyläämö Oy

As part of refocusing the Group’s Wood Processing busi-

ness, Ruukki Group’s subsidiary, Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy, en-

KEY EVENTS DURING FINANCIAL YEAR 2009

tered on 20 November 2009 into an agreement to sell its 

91.42% stake in Tervolan Saha ja Höyläämö Oy (“TSH”) 

to TSH as part of TSH’s directed acquisition of TSH’s own 

shares. The effective date for the transfer of the shares 

was 31 December 2009. In conjunction with the deal, 

the call option agreement with TSH minority shareholders 

was dissolved. The consideration for the shares totalled 

approximately EUR 4.1 million, and it was paid in cash in 

December.

Russian investments

In 2006 – 2008 the Group carried out significant prepara-

tions for Russian pulp mill and sawmill projects in the 

Kostroma region. The target was to invest over EUR 1 

billion into an integrated pulp mill, sawmill and harvesting 

operations. Due to changed circumstances the Group was 

not able to implement its business plan, and based on 

that as well as on the considerable losses incurred, the 

Russian projects were not further followed by the deci-

sion made by the Board at the end of February 2009.

Acquisition of land areas for house building 

business

The Group is looking into opportunities to broaden its 

house building model portfolio and the geographical sales 

organisation in order to achieve growth. It has also bought 

some land asset during the fourth quarter in Kirkkonummi. 

This and any other additional land assets that might be 

bought later are planned to be developed into housing 

projects and to be sold over the forthcoming years. 
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OTHER DEVELOPMENTS

Intended listing on London Stock Exchange 

As published on 21 December 2009, Ruukki Group Plc’s 

Board has started preparations with a view to list the 

Company’s shares on the Main Market of the London 

Stock Exchange during the first half of 2010.

Changes in management

In June, Ruukki Board member Jelena Manojlovic was 

elected as the Chairperson of the Board. The previous 

Chairman, Alwyn Smit, continued as the Chief Executive 

Officer as well as a Board member. Ruukki Group Plc’s 

Deputy CEO Antti Kivimaa, in charge of Group’s Wood 

Processing businesses, resigned from the Company at the 

end of the third quarter 2009. 

On 1 October 2009, the Board of Ruukki Group Plc ap-

pointed a new CEO of the Wood Processing business, 

Thomas Hoyer, and an operative management team to 

Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy, the subsidiary which will become the 

parent company for all the Wood Processing assets of the 

Group. In early November, Dr. Danko Koncar started as 

CEO of the Minerals business. Further, Dr. Alistair Ruiters 

joined the Group as CEO of Ruukki South Africa (Pty) Ltd, 

taking over responsibility for the Group’s South African 

business.

Cancellation of treasury shares

Ruukki Group Plc’s Board of Directors decided to can-

cel 29,000,000 treasury shares held by the Company 

in February 2009. The cancellation did not affect the 

Company’s share capital. The registered number of 

shares was 261,034,022 after the cancellation, which 

became valid after it was registered at the Trade Register 

on 17 February 2009.

Lappipaneli Oy’s legal proceedings against Sampo 

Bank Plc

Ruukki Group Plc announced on 7 July 2009 that its sub-

sidiary, Lappipaneli Oy, has filed an action for damages 

at Helsinki District Court against Sampo Bank Plc which 

belongs to the Danske Bank Group. The matter concerns 

disagreements related to currency hedging transactions.  

The district court proceedings are not finished.

Audit committee members

Ruukki Group Plc’s Board decided that from 21 January 

2009, the Audit Committee will comprise three members. 

Thomas Hoyer and Markku Kankaala were appointed 

as new members with Jelena Manojlovic continuing on 

the committee. Thomas Hoyer was elected as chair. As 

from 6 October 2009, the Audit Committee has consisted 

of two members, Jelena Manojlovic (chair) and Markku 

Kankaala, since Thomas Hoyer started as the CEO of the 

Group’s Wood Processing business. It is intended that the 

audit committee will be strengthened later in conjunction 

with any future general meetings of shareholders electing 

Board members.

Rautaruukki’s dispute against Ruukki Group 

On 21 December 2009, Ruukki Group received informa-

tion from the release of Rautaruukki Corporation that 

Rautaruukki Corporation has initiated legal proceedings 

against Ruukki Group Plc. According to Rautaruukki 

Corporation, it has taken legal action in the Helsinki 

District Court against Ruukki Group Plc and its subsidiaries 

owing to increases in the registration of certain company 

names and business activities. According to Rautaruukki 

Corporation, it has also initiated legal proceedings in 

those countries where Rautaruukki Corporation claims to 

have earlier rights to the Ruukki name.
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KEY EVENTS AFTER THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2009

CORPORATE ACTIVITY

Acquisition of Intermetal Madencilik ve Ticaret A.S.

In February 2010, Ruukki Group’s Turkish subsidiary, Türk 

Maadin Sirketi A.S., acquired 99.00% of the shares in 

Intermetal Madencilik ve Ticaret A.S. (“Intermetal”). The 

rationale of the transaction was to expand the Group’s 

chrome ore reserves base in Turkey. Intermetal has six 

chrome ore exploration and exploitation licenses with a to-

tal land area of about 7,000 hectares. There is no external 

quantification of the total minerals reserve of Intermetal’s 

license areas. The purchase consideration of Intermetal’s 

shares was close to USD 0.5 million (EUR 0.3 million) and 

was paid in cash.

OTHER DEVELOPMENTS

Cancellation of treasury shares

In January 2010, Ruukki Group Plc’s Board decided to 

cancel 13,052,022 treasury shares held by the Company. 

The cancellation did not affect the Company’s share capi-

tal. After the cancellation, the Company holds 8,735,895 

of its own shares. The registered number of shares was 

247,982,000 after the cancellation, which became valid 

after it was registered at the Trade Register on 2 February 

2010.

Changes in management

In January, Ruukki Group Plc’s Deputy CEO Jukka Havia, 

responsible for finance and acquisitions, resigned from 

the Company and will move on to new responsibilities 

outside Ruukki Group. He continues in his duties until 

15 April 2010. In February 2010, Ilona Halla was nomi-

nated CFO of Ruukki Group Plc. In early March 2010, Mr. 

Johan Oosthuizen, the CEO of Mogale, was dismissed by 

the Mogale Board, but he continues his role as a Board 

member. At the same time Mr. Callie Pienaar was elected 

to Chief Operating Officer position at Mogale.
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Revenue Minerals business

Revenue Wood Processing business

EUR 122.4 million

EUR 71.0 million

Southern European minerals 

EUR 57.3 million

South African minerals EUR 

28.2 million

Sawmills 

EUR 82.7 million

House building

EUR 31.8 million

Pallets

EUR 9.4 million
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DEVELOPMENT BY SEGMENT

MINERALS BUSINESS

Revenue and profitability of the Minerals segment (Mogale consolidated from 1 June 2009):

11-12/2008
2 months

EUR million 1-12/2009
12 months

Revenue

EBITDA

EBITDA margin

EBIT

EBIT margin

12.3

1.9

15.3%

-1.0

-8.1%

71.0

10.4

14.6%

-30.1

-42.3%

Minerals business segment 2009 EBIT was considerably affected by the EUR 19.1 million impairment of Mogale Alloys goodwill.

Quarterly revenue and profitability of the Minerals segment as of 1 November 2008:

7-9/2009
3 months

EUR million 10-12/2009
3 months

Revenue

EBITDA

EBITDA margin

EBIT

EBIT margin

11.7

0.6

4.9%

-4.2

-35.7%

27.3

7.8

28.5%

-17.5

-64.1%

1-3/2009          
3 months

4-6/2009          
3 months

11-12/2008
2 months

19.2

1.3

7.0%

-4.8

-24.9%

12.8

0.7

5.4%

-3.6

-28.1%

12.3

1.9

15.3%

-1.0

-8.1%

General overview of group structure and strategy

Ruukki Group Plc is a Finnish-incorporated parent com-

pany of a group of businesses engaged in the process-

ing of minerals at operations based in South Africa 

and Europe. The facilities and expertise of the Group’s 

minerals processing businesses enables them to produce 

a diverse range of products, including various grades 

of ferrochrome and other ferroalloys. Once processed, 

the end-products are distributed internationally by the 

Group’s minerals sales team to customers operating in 

the stainless steel, automotive, aerospace and power 

plant industries.

In addition to its minerals processing businesses, the 

Group has wood processing subsidiaries located in North-

Western Finland in the house building, sawmill and pallet 

sectors. The wood business restructuring alternatives in 

relation to the wood processing assets were evaluated 

during 2009 and Wood Processing segment changed its 

focus to increase the relative importance of house build-

ing by disposing of some non-core sawmill assets not 

suitable to the Group strategy.

During 2009, the Minerals business segment’s sales and 

production volumes substantially declined from 2008 lev-

els, especially in the Southern Europe’s specialty grade 

ferrochrome business; however, operating profitability, as 

measured by EBITDA, remained quite good for year as 

a whole even though the 2009 was challenging in the 

key markets where the Group operates. The German 

toll manufacturing smelter was shut down in Q1/2009, 

Q3/2009 and Q4/2009 for few months to adjust the 

production volumes to meet customer demands. The 

Turkish underground mining operations were also halted 

for the latter half of 2009. The fourth quarter volumes 

and EBITDA increased from Q1-Q3/2009 levels, driven 

partially by the reversal of earlier destocking by the stain-

less steel industry customers. The Group’s product mix 

was continuously adjusted in 2009 to optimise demand 

and profitability, with the specialty grade ultralow carbon 

ferro-chrome products gaining more ground towards the 

end of the year.
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EUR million

Revenue

EBITDA

EBITDA margin

EBIT

EBIT margin

1-12/2009, 
12 months

57.3

10.0

17.4%

-6.9

-12.0%

EUR million 6-12/2009
7 months

Revenue

EBITDA

EBITDA margin

EBIT

EBIT margin

28.2

0.4

1.6%

-23.1

-82.1%

11-12/2008
2 months

12.3

1.9

15.3%

-1.0

-8.1%

Key financial performance indicators for the Southern European minerals business:

Revenue above includes from Q3/2009 onwards also the sales of the Mogale products, which the Group 
have post-Mogale acquisition channelled through Group’s Maltese distribution centre. As there is only a 
percentage commission on those sales, it affects the relative profitability of the Southern European minerals 
operations presented above. 

Key financial performance indicators for 
the South African minerals business:

During the fourth quarter, the segment management was 

strengthened when Dr. Danko Koncar joined as the segment 

CEO, and Dr. Alistair Ruiters as CEO of Ruukki South Africa. 

The key operating subsidiaries of the segment were: 

RCS Ltd (100%), Malta; »

Türk Maadin Sirketi A.S. (98.7%), Turkey;  »

Mogale Alloys (Pty) Ltd (84.9%), South Africa; »

Elektrowerk Weisweiler GmbH (0.0%), Germany. »

Southern European minerals business

The specialty grade ferrochrome production of the Group’s 

European operations has been adjusted to meet demand; 

as a result, sales and production volumes were lower than 

previous year. The product mix changed significantly dur-

ing 2009, both to secure the profitability and operational 

cash flow as well as to meet customer demands. 

In May, an investment project was started in Turkey to 

build a new chromite beneficiation plant, which is ex-

pected to be finalised in April 2010. The plant should 

reduce production costs as on-ground tailings dumps can 

be utilised instead of mining the ore underground.

Production volume for 1-12/2009, at the German manu-

facturing site EWW, totalled 14,074 metric tons of special 

grade ferrochrome (for 11-12/2008: 2,408 tons). In 2009, 

the Turkish subsidiary of the Group produced altogether 

17,224 (11-12/2008: 3 563) tons of chrome ore concen-

trate for intra-group use, and in addition, lumpy chrome 

ore for external customers 8,742 (11-12/2008: 0) tons. 

The Turkish subsidiary has on the balance sheet on 31 

December 2009 EUR 1.4 (0.7) million activated expenses 

related to exploration and drilling activities.

South African minerals business

After the Mogale Alloys (Pty) Ltd acquisition at the end 

of May 2009, as part of the integration process, Mogale 

products have been sold via RCS Ltd from Q3/2009, 

the Group’s own trading arm. This action saves costs 

and gives more versatile products mix for the custom-

ers. Effective from July, South African Electricity Supply 

Commission (ESKOM) effected about a 40% increase in 

electricity prices, which had a negative impact on profita-

bility. The new 12 MVA DC furnace production was started 

in August, which both tied resources in the third quarter 

and negatively affected the operations for other furnaces. 

Since Ruukki announced in October that the intended 

Sylvania Resources merger implementation was terminated, 

the plan to become a vertically integrated chrome and PGM 

(platinum group metals) producer will not be realised in 

its original form. Based on the merger preparations, a to-

tal of EUR 2.1 million expenses were recognised in Ruukki 

Group’s consolidated income statement for 1-12/2009. 

During the latter half of 2009, a feasibility study was final-

ised for an additional DC furnace. Although preparations 

continue, there are no resolutions yet as to whether the 

investment will be made. There are also some ongoing in-

vestigations to find feasible ore resources, potentially via 

acquisition, for Mogale’s smelting operations. Moreover, 

there are also a number of ongoing environmental devel-

opment projects at Mogale.

Exchange rate changes have a major impact on the profit-

ability in EUR terms and directly on the deferred purchase 

consideration of ZAR 800 million.

The ZAR 150 million purchase consideration related trust 

payment, to incentivise Mogale management, has been 

recognised as personnel expense in the Group accounts 

by accruing that evenly over a 5-year term.

Production 
volume for 6-12/2009 at 
Mogale Alloys totalled 
48,071 metric ton of 
various ferroalloys.
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WOOD PROCESSING BUSINESS

Revenue and profitability of the Wood Processing business:

1-12/2008
12 months

EUR million 1-12/2009
12 months

Revenue

EBITDA

EBITDA margin

EBIT

EBIT margin

32.9

11.5

35.0%

12.1

36.8%

10-12/2008
3 months

10-12/2009
3 months

144.9 

14.5

10.0%

-13.7

-9.5%

36.4

2.9

7.9%

-7.7

-21.3%

Quarterly revenue and profitability of the Wood Processing business for 2009:

7-9/2009
3 months

EUR million 10-12/2009
3 months

Revenue

EBITDA

EBITDA margin

EBIT

EBIT margin

31.9

1.1

3.6%

-0.2

-0.7%

32.9

11.5

35.0%

12.1

36.8%

1-3/2009          
3 months

4-6/2009          
3 months

25.9

1.1

4.1%

-0.4

-1.4%

31.7

3.4

10.7%

2.1

6.6%

122.4

17.1

14.0%

13.6

11.1%

During 2009, sales volumes in general fell substantially 

from those of 2008. In the sawmilling sector, sales prices 

also declined for the first half of the year, which was 

somewhat offset by the lower input prices. The low level 

of capacity utilisation affected profitability negatively, 

since fixed costs could be adjusted down only to a minor 

extent. In the house building business area, the low level 

of new sales in 2008 and early 2009 meant that 2009 

deliveries, and thereby revenue was clearly lower than 

in 2008. 

At the end of 2009, it was resolved that more emphasis 

in the Wood Processing business will be put on house 

building. As a result of this refocusing, some of Group’s 

sawmill units were divested at the end of 2009.

The key subsidiaries of the segment were:

Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy (100%), house building;  »

Junnikkala Oy (51%), sawmill business; and »

Oplax Oy (100%), pallet business. »

Due to the sale of Lappipaneli Oy’s assets at the end of the year, a EUR 2.1 million impairment recognised in 2008 on 

tangible assets was reversed in December 2009 which positively contributed to 2009 EBIT.

Moreover, at the end of 2009 the Group’s subsidiary decided to terminate the put options written by the Group in relation to 

Junnikkala transaction, which led to a EUR 5.3 non-recurring bookkeeping gain positively affecting both EBITDA and EBIT. 

The termination was carried out due to material adverse change in financial results of Junnikkala compared to the business 

plan being part of the original transaction documentation. Ruukki Group owns 51.02% of Junnikkala Oy shares, and from 

December 2009 it has separated the 48.98% minority share. Ruukki Group still has the call options to buy the remaining 48.98% 

of Junnikkala shares. These call options vest after 2010 financial year, but the Group is not obliged to exercise the options. 
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EUR million 1-12/2009

Revenue

EBITDA

EBITDA margin

EBIT

EBIT margin

50.4

10.4

20.6%

10.1

20.0%

31.8

7.2

22.6%

6.8

21.5%

1-12/2008

Key financial performance indicators for the house building 
business:

House building

Due to very low sales at the end of 2008, the house 

building business delivery volumes were low for Q3/2009; 

however, volumes increased somewhat in Q4/2009 in 

particular in November. Although volumes have been low, 

due to lower economies of scale and the effect of fixed 

costs, operating profit margins have come down yet the 

business remains profitable. As the general sentiment and 

consumer confidence seems to be recovering, new sales 

have improved compared to the situation in 2008.

The Group is looking into opportunities to broaden its 

model portfolio and the geographical sales organisation 

in order to achieve growth. It has also started to buy 

land - in Q4/2009, the business area acquired land in 

Kirkkonummi, which is planned to be developed over the 

forthcoming years; other land areas are also sought for 

purchase. During the first half of 2009 the business area 

delivered a total of 31 cottages, which was the first expe-

rience of expanding into the recreational housing sector.

At the end of 2009 the Group had an order book of 285 

(31.12.2008: 185) houses with a total value of EUR 40.1 

(25.0) million excluding VAT.

7-9
2009

27

66

49

96

10-12
2009

4-6
2009

1-3
2009

7-9
2008

8177 79

105

10-12
2008

4-6
2008

1-3
2008

Wooden ready-to-move-in house deliveries (number of houses):
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Sawmill business

7-9
2009

8675
91

79

10-12
2009

4-6
2009

1-3
2009

7-9
2008

55

89
98

10-12
2008

4-6
2008

The volume of sawn timber production (1,000 m3):

During the second half of 2009, the Group’s sawmill units 

were able to generate better earnings than during the first 

half, even though the profitability is still not adequate. In 

the sawmill business, the availability of logs has remained 

tight thus limiting, to some extent, the output volumes 

71

1-3
2008

and levelling off log purchase price decline. In general, 

the market demand was weak for the review period, but 

there was some pick-up in demand and prices to the end 

of the year, partially due to decreased industry supply. 

As the pulp mill production in the vicinity of the Group’s 

sawmills has been decreasing, chip sales prices have 

been negatively impacted. The key customer segment of 

the sawmill business, the house building and construction 

industry, has lately shown sign of recovery - a trend that 

has positively contributed to the financial performance.

During Q4/2009, the Group disposed of Tervolan Saha 

ja Höyläämö Oy. Furthermore, it sold the working capital 

related assets of Lappipaneli Oy, and the related fixed 

assets are to be divested in April 2010, which reduced 

the total annual output capacity of the sawmill business 

from about 500,000 m3 to about 300,000 m3 from the 

beginning of 2010.

Sawmill businesses EBITDA excluding non-recurring 

Junnikkala put option related gain was EUR 3.1 million for 

1-12/2009, which corresponds to about 3.7% of revenue. 

Sawmill business EBIT was EUR 1.1 million negative 

(-1.4% of revenue) when both Junnikkala put option ter-

mination and Lappipaneli related reversal of impairment 

would be excluded.

Key financial performance indicators for the sawmill business:

EUR million 1-12/2009

Revenue

EBITDA

EBITDA margin

EBIT

EBIT margin

87.1

2.3

2.7%

-21.8

-25.0%

82.7

8.4

10.1%

6.2

7.5%

1-12/2008

Did you know that…

the northern slow-growing wood is  »

especially suited for construction in-

dustry due to its strength properties.

the sawing by-products can be uti- »

lised in bio energy generation and as 

raw material for the pulp industry.

the wooden loading pallets are used  »

as transportation pads for our cus-

tomers’ products, e.g. in the paper 

industry.
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Associated companies were consolidated in the Group 

financial statements by applying the equity method. The 

income from associates for 1-12/2009 was positive for a 

net amount of about EUR 0.1 million, but EUR 0.9 million 

impairment on the shares of associates was recognised 

in 2009. In November Ruukki Group sold its stake in 

Cybersoft Oy in cash realising a sales gain of EUR 0.5 

million.

For the financial year 2009 the total negative EBITDA 

of the other operations, not included in the two sepa-

rately reported segments, was EUR 8.1 million, of which 

negative 1.6 million was related to Russian projects, to 

main extent that loss being derived from the sales loss 

on terminating Russian subsidiaries. The Group’s parent 

company recognised EUR 1.0 million option expenses 

for the financial year 2009. In relation to London listing 

preparations EUR 1.9 million expenses were recognised 

in 2009.

Key financial performance indicators for the pallet business:

EUR million 1-12/2009

Revenue

EBITDA

EBITDA margin

EBIT

EBIT margin

9.2

1.7

19.0%

-2.1

-22.4%

9.4

1.5

16.0%

0.5

5.5%

1-12/2008

Pallet business

The pallet business was generally steady during 

2009, even though one of its key customer seg-

ments, the paper industry, has been suffering from 

the general economic decline and periodical shut-

downs. The operative profitability has remained 

quite stable.

OTHER OPERATIONS
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Did you know that…

Of the employees, on 31 December  »

2009 altogether 633 worked abroad 

(70.9%) and 260 (29.1%) in Finnish 

entities. 

At the end of previous year, alto- »

gether 56.6% of the total employees 

worked abroad and 43.4% in Finland 

for the Finnish group companies.

31.12.2009

Minerals business

     Southern Europe

     South Africa

Wood Processing business

     House building

     Sawmill business

     Pallet business

Russian projects

Group management

Discontinued operations

Total personnel

404

404

-

301

99

150

52

8

8

-

721

629

357

272

253

91

116

46

2

9

-

893

31.12.2008

-

-

-

230

118

80

32

10

7

711

958

31.12.2007

At the end of the financial year, Ruukki Group’s number of employees was 893 (2008: 721), and accordingly 

for the parent company 9 (8). The average headcount was 824 (913) during the financial year. The Group’s 

personnel expenses for 2009 were EUR 28,229,894.28 (37,358,317.38). There were altogether EUR 990,755.92 

(878,213.96) expenses recognised in the profit and loss account based on option and other share-based pay-

ments as depicted by the IFRS 2 standard.

The Group has several different business areas. The number of personnel, geographical location and tasks vary 

significantly between the business segments. The number of personnel by segment was the following at the end 

of the year:

GROUP PERSONNEL

B
O

A
R

D
 O

F
 D

IR
E

C
T

O
R

S
’ 

R
E

P
O

R
T



23

Personnel by segment on 31.12.2009 

Group total: 893

Minerals: 629

Wood Processing: 253

Other operations: 11
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OUTLOOK FOR THE FUTURE

GUIDANCE AND OUTLOOK 2010

In the beginning of 2009, the Board of Directors of 

Ruukki Group Plc decided to emphasise cash flow gen-

eration from all of its operations, and this is still a valid 

operational principle for 2010. The Group is looking for 

expansion opportunities and potential acquisition targets 

within the current main business areas. Ruukki Group 

evaluates restructuring alternatives in relation to the 

Wood Processing assets.

Ruukki Group Plc is preparing for a listing on the London 

Stock Exchange. In order to follow the international 

market practices of listed minerals companies, the Board 

of Directors of Ruukki Group Plc decided to change the 

way of presenting the future outlook compared to the 

past practice of the Company in conjunction with the 

February 2010 announcement of the financial statements 

review for the financial year ended 31 December 2009. 

The Board of Directors also takes the view that the new 

policy on future guidance better reflects the way in which 

the Board follows the development of the Company’s 

business in the future as the Company has moved into 

new markets. Hence, EBITDA guidance will no longer be 

provided, for example.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

Global economic recovery remains fragile, but the 

Company expects demand for Ruukki Group’s products 

to be better in 2010 than in the previous year in the 

Company’s major markets. The economic environment is 

still in a fragile state and any growth in the markets the 

Company serves is expected to be modest. In general, 

production volumes have been increasing, but visibility 

entering into 2010 is low.

Ruukki Group’s minerals units have been recovering after 

the recent downturn and the Company sees increased de-

mand, which is expected to result in higher volumes and 

better prices for the Company’s products in 2010. The 

main risk factor for the Company’s profitability is input 

prices, mainly the development of the price of raw mate-

rials and electricity. The Company’s production units have 

a flexible operational model and therefore the Company 

believes that it can quickly adapt to changes in volumes 

or alternatively, by adjusting the product mix, and take 

advantage of price differences between various types of 

metals. Despite recent positive signals, the current state 

of the minerals sector is filled with high uncertainty, and 

therefore the visibility on future financial performance 

remains very low.

Ruukki Group’s wood processing units have been enjoying 

improved market conditions and demand has been in-

creasing. However, the construction industry, which is 

the end market for a majority of Ruukki Group´s wood 

processing products, has been suffering significantly in 

2009. Client activity is still at historically low levels in the 

industry and visibility remains weak. The Group’s house 

building unit has increased its sales volume in 2009 and 

this trend is expected to continue also in 2010. The 

Group’s sawmill unit has recovered, but the sawmill sec-

tor is generally in a challenging state and the Company 

believes that any increase on the supply side would risk 

the recovery of the whole sawmill market. The Group’s 

pallet business has been relatively stable through the 

downturn, but also in this sector the Company is highly 

dependent on changes in the general economic climate. 

The major risk for Ruukki’s wood processing units lies in 

production and raw material costs, where after two years 

of decreasing prices in the industry there is now pressure 

for increases.
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RISKS RELATED TO OPERATIONS

The main risks relevant to the Group and their impli-

cations are discussed below. Certain risks and the risk  

management of the Group are presented in more detail in 

the notes to the consolidated financial statements in the 

section ‘Commitments and risks’. 

The risks and uncertainties described below are not the 

only ones the Group faces. The risks are categorised re-

flecting the Group’s structure and business operations. 

Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known 

to the Directors or that the Directors currently deem 

immaterial may also have a material adverse effect on 

the Group’s business, financial condition or operating or 

financial results and could negatively affect the price of 

the shares.

RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP AND ITS 

BUSINESSES

The Group’s financial performance is dependent 

on cyclical businesses and on commodity prices 

which are cyclical and volatile

The Group’s business portfolio comprises two main busi-

ness divisions: (i) its minerals processing businesses and 

(ii) its house building and wood processing businesses, 

both of which are cyclical in nature and significantly af-

fected by changes in the world and regional economies 

and changes in industry capacity and output levels. 

There has been a significant drop in demand for and 

prices of the Group’s minerals processing businesses’ 

products due to the current economic environment, in 

particular the reduction in demand for specialist steels 

in end products in the automotive, aerospace and other 

industries in which the majority of the Group’s chrome 

and ferrochrome products are used. There has also been 

a significant drop in demand for and prices of the house 

building and wood processing businesses’ products due 

to the economic downturn, in particular the reduction in 

demand for houses and the reduction in the use of wood 

in the construction industry.

As a consequence of this reduced demand, a number of 

the Group’s biggest competitors have reduced their out-

put and some have temporarily closed certain production 

facilities. However, if the competitors’ minerals processing 

facilities and sawmills which are temporarily closed re-

start their production earlier or with higher volumes than 

expected, whether due to the recovery of particular mar-

kets or for other reasons, market prices may decline from 

the forecasted levels. This would have a material adverse 

effect on the business, financial condition or operating or 

financial results of the Group. 

If market prices trend downwards and/or if demand does 

not improve, some competitors might have to sell their 

products at low prices to generate cash; this could di-

rectly and indirectly have a material adverse effect on 

the business, financial condition or operating or financial 

results of the Group.

The price and availability of raw materials has a 

significant effect on the Group’s businesses

Although the Group’s goal is to become a fully integrated 

mine-to-metals minerals producer and processor, the 

Group is currently not fully vertically integrated and the 

majority of raw materials used in its businesses are pur-

chased from third parties. As a result, the price of raw 

materials plays an important role in the profitability of 

various companies within the Group. 

If the price of raw materials develops unfavourably from 

the Group’s perspective and/or if the availability of raw 

material is hindered or prevented, this may limit the prof-

itability or viability of any pending or future investments 

and might have a material adverse effect on the busi-

ness, financial condition or operating or financial results 

of the Group.

The Group will incur costs and forego revenues as 

a result of curtailed production

In an effort to avoid oversupplying markets or building 

up an inventory of unsold products during the current en-

      The price and 
availability of raw materials 
has a significant effect on 
the Group’s businesses.
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vironment of depressed pricing and demand, the Group 

has curtailed its production by temporarily closing certain 

production facilities, running facilities significantly below 

full capacity and reducing headcount. This practice im-

poses costs both directly, in the form of closing costs, the 

costs of then resuming production and redundancy pay-

ments; and indirectly, in the form of revenue foregone, 

deterioration of assets and the resulting increase in unit 

costs from reduced economies of scale. These costs may 

have a material adverse effect on the business, financial 

condition or operating or financial results of the Group.

The Group’s plans have involved and are likely to 

involve further acquisitions and the development 

of existing and new business interests, which 

requires project management, execution and 

integration

Acquisitions have formed an integral part of the Group’s 

operational development and the Group expects to con-

tinue a strategy of identifying and, subject to market 

conditions, acquiring and investing in businesses at the 

appropriate time with a view to expanding and/or diversi-

fying its operating businesses.

There can be no assurance that the Group will continue 

to identify suitable acquisition opportunities, obtain the fi-

nancing necessary to complete and support such acquisi-

tions or its investment; or acquire businesses on satisfac-

tory terms; or that any business acquired will prove to be 

profitable. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that 

any particular transaction will ultimately be completed. 

For example, although the Group entered into a merger 

implementation agreement for the acquisition of Sylvania 

Resources Limited in June 2009, a number of obstacles 

hampering the potential acquisition were encountered 

and the transaction was called off.

Acquisitions and investments involve a number of risks. 

These include: possible adverse effects on the Group’s 

operating results; diversion of the management’s atten-

tion; failure to retain key personnel; risks associated with 

unanticipated events or liabilities; difficulties in the assim-

ilation of the acquired operations, technologies, systems, 

services and products; and risks arising from the change 

of control provisions in contracts of any acquired com-

pany. Some of the businesses that the Group may acquire 

in the future may require substantial capital investments 

to be made in order to maximise their economic poten-

tial to the Shareholders. Further, the Group’s integration 

strategy may also be influenced by local factors in the 

markets in which it has made and makes acquisitions, 

such as black empowerment in South Africa. Any failure 

to successfully make further acquisitions and to achieve 

successful integration of such acquisitions could have a 

material adverse effect upon the results of operations or 

financial condition of the Group.

The Group may be unable to manage effectively 

the expansion of its operations

The Group’s plans involve the expansion of certain of its 

existing businesses and may also wish to expand and 

develop any new businesses it acquires. There can be 

no assurance that the Company will be able to manage 

effectively the expansion of its operations or that the 

Group’s current personnel, systems, procedures and con-

trols will be adequate to support the Group’s operations. 

Any failure of the management to effectively manage the 

Group’s growth and development could have a material 

adverse effect upon the results of operations or financial 

condition of the Group.

In addition to potential acquisitions, the Group is consid-

ering entering into joint ventures in the future, which may 

not be successful, and which necessarily involve special 

risks in addition to risks applicable to general acquisitions 

and other investments. Joint venture partners may have 

economic or business interests or goals that are inconsist-

ent with or opposed to those of the Group; they may also 

block actions that the Group believes to be in its or the 

joint venture’s best interests, take action contrary to the 

Group’s policies or objectives, or be unable or unwilling to 

fulfil their obligations under the joint venture.

Any failure to successfully invest in a joint venture and 

any failure to operate the joint venture successfully with 

any joint venture partner could materially adversely affect 

the business, financial condition or operating or financial 

results of the Group.

The Group is dependent on the attraction and 

retention of key employees

The Group is dependent on the technical and manage-

ment expertise of a small number of key personnel. The 

loss of key personnel may have an adverse effect on the 

Group’s ability to operate certain facilities, duly produce 

and process information and its ability to carry out the 

Group’s intended strategy which may affect the result of 

its operations. The Group’s future success will depend 

on its ability to attract, train and retain suitably skilled 

and qualified personnel at the relevant locations (some of 

which are remote), which is not guaranteed. Any failure 

to retain such existing personnel and to attract appro-

priately skilled new personnel may materially adversely 

affect the business, financial condition or operating or 

financial results of the Group.
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Labour disputes could lead to lost production 

and/or increased costs

Some of the Group’s employees are represented by 

labour unions and collective labour agreements. The 

Group may not be able to satisfactorily renegotiate its 

collective labour agreements when they expire and may 

face tougher negotiations or higher wage demands than 

would be the case for non-unionised labour. In addition, 

existing labour agreements may not prevent a strike or 

work stoppage at its facilities in the future; this could 

have a material adverse effect on the business, financial 

condition or operating or financial results of the Group. 

Many of the Group’s employees are based in jurisdictions 

where wages are typically significantly below levels in 

more mature markets. As the economies of such emerg-

ing markets develop, it is possible that there will be above 

average inflationary pressures on wages compared to 

more mature markets; this may have a material adverse 

effect on the business, financial condition or operating or 

financial results of the Group.

The Group is in the processes of centralising 

various management functions and may incur 

costs and/or suffer inefficiencies as a result of its 

management structure and the changes

The Group has historically operated a decentralised man-

agement structure, with a small central management 

team and significant autonomy being exercised by the 

Group’s subsidiary companies. Members of the central 

management team may not have prior personal opera-

tional experience of the Group’s main business areas or 

any new business areas which the Group may acquire or 

expand into in the future. The Group’s senior manage-

ment structure has undergone significant changes in the 

last six months and a number of the current management 

team are new to the Group.

The Group is in the process of centralising various head 

office functions including: the treasury, budgeting, 

contract management, risk management or IT arrange-

ments; functions within its minerals processing segment; 

and its house building and wood processing segments. 

The Group will incur costs as a result of this restructur-

ing and the benefits it hopes to realise by implementing 

the changes may not be achieved. Where functions are 

duplicated as a result of the Group’s current and/or future 

arrangements, the Group may suffer from inefficiencies 

and additional costs which would not be incurred or suf-

fered had the Group adopted other management arrange-

ments. The Group has also outsourced functions which 

other more integrated groups may conduct internally; 

this may be more expensive and/or less efficient than 

carrying out these functions internally. Any such costs 

and inefficiencies could have a material adverse effect on 

the business, financial condition or operating or financial 

results of the Group.

The Group is exposed to fluctuations in currency 

exchange rates

The Group is exposed to risk from currency fluctuations 

because of mismatches between the currencies in which 

operating costs and purchase liabilities are incurred, and 

those in which revenues are received or deposited and 

finance facilities are denominated. The Group is also 

exposed to indirect risk from currency exchange risks, 

which may benefit its competitors and correspondingly 

reduce its relative competitiveness. The exchange rate 

risks are not hedged either at a group level or by the 

individual companies concerned. Fluctuations in currency 

exchange rates could have a material adverse effect on 

the business, financial condition or operating or financial 

results of the Group.

Foreign exchange rate risks have increased significantly 

as a consequence of the Group’s acquisitions of its miner-

als businesses, particularly the Mogale acquisition. The 

unpaid nominal purchase consideration (excluding inter-

est expenses) is close to ZAR 800 million (approximately 

EUR 75 million at the 31 December 2009 spot exchange 

rate of 10.67 for EUR/ZAR). 

Moreover, since the commodities bought and sold by the 

minerals businesses are predominantly denominated in 

USD, and expenses and investment are partly in EUR and 

other foreign currencies including the South African rand 

and Turkish lira in addition to the USD, the Group’s opera-

tional foreign exchange risks have increased.

The Group’s insurance policies may be insufficient 

to cover potential losses

Ruukki Group considers that the Group’s insurance cover 

is in line with market practice for companies in its in-

dustries. However, insurance fully covering many envi-

ronmental risks and political risks is not generally avail-

able to the Group or to other companies in its industries. 

Furthermore, most insurance policies are arranged by 

Ruukki Group’s subsidiaries and do not cover the Group’s 

parent company. No assurance can be given that any 

insurance will continue to be available, or that it will be 

available at economically feasible premiums.

The actual losses suffered by the Group may exceed 

the Group’s insurance coverage and would be subject to 

limitations and excesses, which could be material. The 

realisation of one or more damaging events for which the 

Group has no or insufficient insurance cover might have 

a material adverse effect on the business, financial condi-

tion or operating or financial results of the Group.
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The economic situation has affected payments 

and credit risks in relation to some of the Group’s 

customers and availability of credit insurance

The ongoing economic recession has changed the payment 

behaviour of some of the Group’s customers and they have 

prolonged their payments. The risk of payment defaults, or 

even credit losses, has therefore increased. As a result, credit 

insurance for such risks is only available on less favourable 

terms (including at higher premiums). Any deterioration in 

the economic situation either generally or in the particular 

industries industries in which the Group’s customers and 

counterparties operate could increase the credit risk. This 

may have a material adverse effect on the business, financial 

condition or operating or financial results of the Group.

The Group’s existing indebtedness and any new 

facilities may affect its operating flexibility

The Group finances its operations with equity-based fund-

ing and debt financing. Part of the Group’s debt financing 

has covenants and other conditions that are tied to the 

Company’s or its subsidiaries solvency, profitability or to the 

Group’s share of ownership in particular group companies. 

These restrictions could affect the other funding of the 

Group in the future or, correspondingly, they could to a cer-

tain degree delay the repayment of debts from a subsidiary 

to Ruukki Group or require negotiations with financers. 

If the negative outlook for global banking and credit markets 

continues for a prolonged period, the Group’s access to fi-

nance may be restricted; this, in turn, may limit the Group’s 

ability to grow via acquisitions and to invest capital into 

expansion projects within its current businesses. Moreover, 

the cost of financing may be significantly increased and the 

terms on which any new or renegotiated finance facilities are 

available may be considerably less favourable to the Group 

compared to its historical situation (which could include 

requirements to agree to covenants that place additional 

restrictions on its businesses). Any such funding restriction, 

additional costs and the impact of any covenant could have 

a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition 

or operating or financial results of the Group.

The Group is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates 

The Group’s debt finance is entirely subject to floating interest 

rates. Although a small proportion of the Group’s liabilities, 

such as certain earn-out liabilities, are non-interest bearing, 

the majority of these, including the Mogale nominal purchase 

consideration and Junnikkala Oy’s investment and working 

capital facilities, are also interest bearing, again at floating 

rates. The Group does not currently hedge its interest rate 

exposures. These interest payments are partially off-set by 

the interest receivable on the Group’s cash in hand; however, 

there is no guarantee that increases in interest rates on the 

Group’s debt will be matched by increased interest received 

on its deposits. Accordingly, changes in interest rates may 

have a material adverse effect on the business, financial 

condition or operating or financial results of the Group.

Interest rate changes may also indirectly affect the condi-

tions in which the business units operate; for example, the 

demand for ready-to-move-in houses, constructed by the 

Group’s house building business, depends on the prevailing 

interest rate, given the impact this has on customers’ finance 

arrangements.

The Group’s results of operations could be materi-

ally adversely affected by the impairment of assets 

and goodwill under IFRS

The Group recognised net impairment loss of EUR 17.0 mil-

lion in its 2009 financial statements: EUR 19.1 million impair-

ment of goodwill in its South African minerals business and 

EUR 2.1 million reversal of impairments in the sawmill busi-

ness. During 2008 the impairments totalled EUR 41.0 million 

in respect of its assets in its previous furniture business, its 

sawmill business and Russian projects. The write-downs in 

relation to the investments in equipment purchased in an-

ticipation of expansion into Russia, with which the Group 

has subsequently decided not to proceed, totalled EUR 17.7 

million in 2008. 

The Group may be required to recognise other asset impair-

ment charges, as a result of impairment indicators which 

could include: a weak economic environment; challenging 

market conditions; fluctuations in longterm commodity 

prices; and changes to long-term plans. In accordance with 

IFRS, the Group does not amortise goodwill but rather tests 

it annually for impairment. Goodwill impairments cannot be 

reversed. The Group may also be forced to revalue inven-

tories if sale prices remain depressed in the long term or 

reduce further. Any such impairment or evaluation could 

have a material adverse effect on the operating or financial 

results of the Group.

The Group may be subject to additional tax 

liabilities

The Group’s main tax risks are related to changes in or pos-

sible erroneous interpretations of tax legislation. Changes or 

erroneous interpretations could lead to tax increases or other 

financial losses. Realisation of this type of risk might have a 

material adverse effect on the business, financial condition 

or operating or financial results of the Group. 

It is possible that the Group has made interpretations on the 

tax provisions that differ from those of the tax authorities 

and that as a result, the tax authorities will impose taxes, 

tax rate increases or other consequences on the Group’s 

companies. This could have a material adverse effect on 

the business, financial condition or operating or financial 

results of the Group.

B
O

A
R

D
 O

F
 D

IR
E

C
T

O
R

S
’ 

R
E

P
O

R
T



29

Did you know that…

The Group’s goal is to become  »

a fully integrated mine-to-

metals minerals producer and 

processor. 
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RISKS RELATING TO THE MINERALS PROCESSING 

BUSINESSES

Increases in energy and fuel prices and any inter-

ruptions in supply will adversely affect the Group

The Group’s operations and facilities, particularly its min-

erals processing operations in Germany and South Africa, 

are intensive users of energy, primarily electricity. The 

procurement dynamics of these and other energy types 

are becoming increasingly connected as supply and de-

mand conditions become more interdependent on a glo-

bal basis. Fuel and energy prices globally have been char-

acterised by volatility coupled with general cost inflation 

in excess of broader measures of inflation. The Group’s 

exposure to energy and electricity prices and its reliance 

on the supply of electricity and other energy sources have 

thus increased. This is following its increased investment 

in its minerals businesses - an area of the Group’s portfo-

lio, such as wood processing, that consumes more energy 

and electricity than other areas. 

In particular, in South Africa, the electricity supply, price 

and availability are essentially controlled by one entity, 

namely Eskom. Increased electricity prices and/or re-

duced or unreliable electricity supply may prevent the 

Group from carrying out its current operations or from 

expanding its business operations as it so desires; this 

might have a material adverse impact on the business, 

financial condition or operating or financial results of the 

Group.

In addition, increases in fuel prices may lead to third 

party transport service providers increasing transportation 

charges, thus resulting in an increase in the cost of sales. 

Any increase in energy costs would increase the cost of 

sales and decrease competitiveness relative to any com-

petitors who have access to cheaper sources of energy 

or who have lower energy requirements. In particular, 

although the direct current furnaces operated by Mogale 

have certain advantages over traditional arc furnaces, 

they have higher electricity consumption per unit output; 

any increase in electricity prices, therefore, would reduce 

their relative competitiveness. If the Group is unable to 

pass on any price increases to its customers, the busi-

ness, financial condition or operating or financial results 

of the Group may be materially adversely affected.

The minerals processing businesses’ revenue and 

earnings depend upon prevailing prices for the 

commodities

The minerals processing businesses’ revenue and earn-

ings depend upon prevailing prices for the commodities 

it produces (such as low carbon and ultralow carbon 

ferrochrome, ferrochrome, silico manganese and stain-

less steel alloys) and any raw material commodities it 

purchases (such as UG2, chrome ore, manganese ore, 

ferrosilicochrome, silicon, stainless steel dust and anthra-

cite) which the Group is unable to directly control. The 

management believes that future trends in prices are 

particularly difficult to predict at present.

Historically, commodity prices have been volatile and sub-

ject to wide fluctuations in response to relatively minor 

changes in supply and demand, market uncertainty, the 

overall performance of world or regional economies and 

the related cyclicality in commodity consuming industries, 

such as stainless steel production and market speculation 

by futures traders and other speculators.

In the past, commodity prices have exhibited a broadly 

upward trend, reflecting demand generated by global 

economic growth and industrialisation. Recently, how-

ever, the rapid deterioration of the global macroeconomic 

environment has led to reduced demand globally, stock 

draw-downs or the increased use of scrap or recycled 

materials by potential customers and the unwinding of 

speculative positions by commodities traders. As a result, 

commodity prices, including prices of those commodities 

produced by the Group, have fallen significantly over a 

relatively short period of time from their previous highs. 

The Group does not currently engage in hedging against 

movements in commodity prices. As a result, adverse 

movements in commodity prices may have a material 

adverse effect on the business, financial condition or op-

erating or financial results of the Group.

Furthermore, as the majority of the commodities pur-

chased and sold by the Group are not end commodities 

for which futures markets exist, the markets for these 

materials are less sophisticated than other commodities 

for which a futures market exists and react in different 

ways to market events than commodities for which there 

are developed futures markets. 

The minerals processing businesses operate in 

competitive markets and the Group’s failure to 

compete effectively could adversely affect the 

Group

The Group competes against a large number of mineral 

processing companies globally, including mineral compa-

nies with capabilities, personnel and financial resources 

which are substantially greater than the Group’s. These 

include large diversified minerals processing companies 

and companies specialising in ferrochrome production. 

In competing with the ferrochrome and related mineral 

processing operations of larger producers, the Group 

may be at a competitive disadvantage. Some of these 

companies benefit from greater financial resources or 

operate furnaces and other processing plants that are 

lower cost producers than the Group’s operations or may 
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benefit from other economies of scale. Competition in 

the industry extends to the acquisition of materials and 

properties as well as the technical expertise and financial 

ability to run and fund operations. The Group cannot be 

certain that its minerals processing operations will remain 

competitive on price or other factors. The Group may be 

forced to increase expenditure while being unable to in-

crease the selling prices of its products sufficiently or in 

time to offset the effects of any increased costs without 

losing market share. It also may be forced to reduce pric-

ing due to a competitor’s pricing or other reasons without 

an equivalent reduction in its costs, either of which could 

have a material adverse effect on the results of the Group’s 

operations. As the Group is smaller than many of its com-

petitors, it may be less able to take advantage of any 

consolidation opportunities which may arise. Any failure 

to exploit opportunities for growth or consolidation may 

have a material adverse effect on the business, financial 

condition or operating or financial results of the Group. 

The Group’s furnaces are vulnerable to interrup-

tions necessitating stoppages

The Group operates a number of mineral and metal 

processing plants; these include e.g. four furnaces 

in South Africa and mines and beneficiation plants in 

Turkey. Its European minerals processing business is also 

dependent on the processing facility operated by EWW, 

a company owned by Kermas, a major shareholder in 

the Company with whom it has an exclusive long-term 

Ferrochrome full manufacturing agreement. Mineral and 

metal processing plants are especially vulnerable to inter-

ruptions, such as power cuts, particularly where events 

cause a stoppage which necessitates a shutdown in 

operations. Stoppages in smelting, even for only a few 

hours, can cause the contents of furnaces to solidify, 

resulting in a plant closure for a significant period and 

necessitating expensive repairs, any of which could ma-

terially adversely affect the business, financial condition 

or operating or financial results of the Group.

The nature of mining and mineral extraction 

activities involves a high degree of risk

The Group’s mining and mineral extraction operations 

carried out by its subsidiary, TMS, in Turkey are subject 

to a number of risks in addition to those affecting the 

Group’s other mineral processing activities, including: 

adverse mining conditions, including unanticipated  »

variations in grade and other geological problems, dif-

ficult surface or subsurface conditions and unusual   or 

unexpected ground conditions, which may delay and 

hamper production;

fire, flooding, rock bursts, cave-ins, landslides and the  »

failure of pit walls or dams;

climate change, unusual weather, seismic events or  »

other natural phenomena; and

other conditions resulting from drilling, blasting and  »

the removal and processing of material associated 

with under-ground and/or opencast mining.

If one or more of these risks materialises, it could materi-

ally adversely affect the business, financial condition or 

operating or financial results of the Group.

The Group’s reserve and resources estimates for its min-

ing and mineral extraction operations may be materially 

different from mineral quantities that the Group may 

ultimately recover. The Group’s estimates of mine life 

may prove inaccurate and market price fluctuations and 

changes in operating and capital costs may render certain 

mineral reserves or mineral resources uneconomical to 

extract, which could have a material adverse effect on 

the business, financial condition or operating or financial 

results of the Group.

The minerals processing businesses are subject to 

numerous laws and regulations, changes to which 

could adversely affect the Group

The minerals processing businesses are subject to nu-

merous health, safety and environmental laws, regula-

tions and standards as well as community and stake-

holder expectations. The Group is subject to extensive 

governmental regulations in various jurisdictions in which 

it operates. Operations are subject to general and specific 

regulations governing mining and processing; land tenure 

and use; the use and storage of chemicals and explo-

sives; environmental requirements (including site-specific 

environmental licences; permits and statutory authorisa-

tions); workplace health and safety; social impacts; trade 

and export; corporations; competition; access to infra-

structure; foreign investment and taxation. The costs as-

sociated with compliance with these laws and regulations 

are substantial and possible future laws and regulations, 

changes to existing laws and regulations could cause ad-

ditional expense, capital expenditures, restrictions on or 

suspension of the Group’s operations which could materi-

ally adversely affect the business, financial condition or 

operating or financial results of the Group.

Evolving regulatory standards and expectations can result 

in increased litigation and/or increased costs, all of which 

can have a material and adverse effect on earnings and 

cash flows. The renewal of existing permits may incur 

significant additional expense and any failure to renew 

permits which are necessary for the Group’s businesses 

may prevent the operation of the relevant part of the 

Group’s business which could have a material adverse ef-

fect on the business, financial condition or operating or 

financial results of the Group. 
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The Group is subject to significant and increasing 

environmental regulation due to the nature of its 

activities

The minerals processing businesses are engaged in in-

dustrial activities that might pollute, inter alia, soil, sur-

face and ground water, air and buildings, especially in 

the event of a leak or accident, and cause local noise 

pollution. The minerals businesses also produce large 

quantities of slag and other waste products. These ac-

tivities might lead to breaches of environmental laws and 

liability for damage, and possibly also to criminal liability, 

such as corporate fines. If a real property currently or 

previously owned or used by the Group is or has been 

polluted due to the activities of the Group or its previ-

ous owner, this could mean that the Group would be 

responsible for cleaning the polluted area or for possible 

loss in the property’s value. In addition, the Group could 

become subject to environmental liabilities resulting from 

personal injury, property damage or natural resources 

damage. The Group also has indirect environmental obli-

gations and liabilities, such as post-production restoration 

or landscaping obligations.

The acquisition of minerals businesses has exposed the 

Group to greater environmental risks and regulations than 

its previous wood processing business and other minor or 

discontinued business operations.

Environmental laws and regulations are becoming more 

complex and stringent; the Group’s environmental man-

agement programmes may be the subject of increasingly 

strict interpretation or enforcement or become more 

comprehensive resulting in financial or other penalties 

and/or the suspension or loss of the Group licences. The 

Group may also incur significant expenditures and may 

face operational constraints to maintain compliance with 

applicable existing and new environmental laws, regu-

lations and permits to upgrade equipment at its mills, 

plants and other operations and to meet new regulatory 

requirements. The Group’s reputation may suffer if it is 

prosecuted for failing to comply, or if it is perceived as 

not complying with environmental laws and regulations, 

which may hinder its relationship with customers, suppli-

ers and employees. If the Group’s environmental compli-

ance obligations were to change as a result of changes 

to the legislation or in certain assumptions it makes to 

estimate liabilities, or if unanticipated conditions were to 

arise in its operations, the Group’s expenses and provi-

sions would increase to reflect these changes. If material, 

these expenses and provisions could materially adversely 

affect the business, financial condition or operating or 

financial results of the Group.

At the time of its acquisition by the Group, Mogale was 

in contravention of numerous environmental regulations. 

Since then, Mogale has obtained the necessary permits 

and licences for its two newer direct current furnaces. It 

is working towards obtaining the necessary permits for 

the other two sites and ensuring that Mogale remedies 

the environmental issues identified at the time of the 

Mogale acquisition. Although a portion of the purchase 

consideration was deferred and its payment is subject to 

receipt of the remaining permits, it is possible (albeit un-

likely) that the Group’s losses, should such licences and 

permits not be obtained; or the expenditure necessary 

to obtain such licences and permits exceed the retained 

deferred consideration; or the cap on the indemnities 

given to the Group in relation to Mogale’s environmental 

liabilities in connection with the Mogale acquisition could 

have a material adverse effect on the business, financial 

condition or operating or financial results of the Group.

The Group has included a provision for certain environ-

mental liabilities and closure costs for its Turkish minerals 

business. However, this provision is only an estimate and 

the costs the Group may incur in respect of its Turkish 

minerals operations may exceed this provision. The Group 

may also incur expenses in other subsidiaries for which 

no provision has been made.

Increased regulation of greenhouse gas emis-

sions could adversely impact the Group’s cost of 

operations

The Group’s mineral processing businesses are energy 

intensive and indirectly depend heavily on fossil fuels. 

Increasing regulation of greenhouse gas emissions, 

including the progressive introduction of carbon emis-

sions trading mechanisms and tighter emission reduc-

tion targets, is likely to raise energy costs and costs of 

production to a material degree over the next decade. 

Regulation of greenhouse gas emissions in the jurisdic-

tions of the Group’s major customers and in relation to 

international shipping could also have an adverse effect 

on the demand for the Group’s products which, if mate-

rial, could have a material adverse effect on the business, 

financial condition or operating or financial results of the 

Group.

New technologies and the development of exist-

ing technologies may affect the Group’s ability to 

compete successfully

New technologies or novel processes may emerge and 

existing technologies may be further developed in the 

fields in which the Group operates. These technologies or 

processes could have an impact on production methods 

or on product quality in these fields. Unexpected changes 

in employed technologies or the development of novel 

processes that affect the Group’s operations and product 

ranges could render the technologies the Group utilises 

or the products it produces less competitive or reduce 

demand for its products in the future. Difficulties in as-
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sessing new technologies may impede the Group from 

implementing them and competitive pressures may force 

the Group to implement any new technologies at a sub-

stantial cost. The Group’s know-how enables it to use 

certain technologies including direct current ferrochrome 

furnaces, which provide certain advantages over com-

petitors who use other processes. The development of 

equivalent or similar technologies by the Group’s com-

petitors will reduce any competitive advantage that the 

Group may currently enjoy as a result of these technolo-

gies and processes. Any such development could materi-

ally adversely affect the business, financial condition or 

operating or financial results of the Group.

Did you know that…

Minerals business is an area of the  »

Group’s portfolio, such as wood 

processing, that consumes more 

energy and electricity than other 

businesses. 

Increases in energy and fuel prices  »

and any interruptions in supply will 

adversely affect the Group.
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RISKS RELATING TO SOUTH AFRICA 

The Group may be affected by political, economic 

and other risks relating to its operations in South 

Africa

The Group has significant operations in South Africa. 

Changes in minerals processing or investment policies or 

shifts in political attitude in South Africa may materially 

adversely affect the business, financial condition or op-

erating or financial results of the Group. Operations may 

be affected to varying degrees by government regula-

tions with respect to matters including, but not limited to: 

restrictions on productions; price controls; export con-

trols; currency remittance; income taxes; expropriation 

of property; foreign investment; maintenance of claims; 

environmental legislation; land use; land claims of local 

people; and water use.

As a result, important political, economic and other risks 

relating to South Africa could affect any investment in 

the Group. Large parts of the population of South Africa 

do not have access to adequate education, healthcare, 

housing and other services, including water and electric-

ity. South Africa has also historically experienced high 

levels of crime and unemployment in comparison with 

more developed countries.

These problems have been among the factors that have 

impeded inward investment into South Africa, prompted 

the emigration of skilled workers and negatively affected 

South Africa’s growth rate. While the South African gov-

ernment has committed itself to creating a stable free 

market economy, it is difficult to predict the future po-

litical, social and economic direction of South Africa or 

how the government will try to address South Africa’s 

challenges. It is also difficult to predict the effect on the 

Group’s business of these problems or of the govern-

ment’s efforts to solve them.

Further, there has been political and economic instability 

in South Africa’s neighbouring countries. If this instability 

were to extend into or cause similar instability in South 

Africa, it could have a negative impact on the Group’s 

ability to manage and operate its South African opera-

tions and therefore on the business, financial condition or 

operating or financial results of the Group.

Electricity supply in South Africa is less reliable 

and may be subject to greater price rises than in 

certain other countries

The Group’s minerals processing operations are depend-

ent upon, and are intensive users of electricity. Electricity 

supply in South Africa is less reliable and may be subject 

to greater price increases than in certain other countries, 

with the supply and price both effectively being control-

led by a single entity known as Eskom. Increased electric-

ity prices and/or reduced or unreliable electricity supply 

may prevent the Group from carrying out its current 

operations. Any expansion of the Group’s processing op-

erations, particularly a development at a new site, would 

be dependent upon the availability of additional electricity 

supplies, which may not be available at the time or in 

the manner that the Group may require for such expan-

sion, which may prevent the Group from implementing its 

expansion plans in the manner it may wish. This might 

have a material adverse effect on the business, financial 

condition or operating or financial results of the Group.

The Group’s South African minerals processing 

operations may be affected by local empowerment 

rights

Under South African empowerment legislation, certain 

types of business are required to ensure that a minimum 

percentage of its interests in South Africa are control-

led for the benefit of historically disadvantaged South 

Africans. Although the Group is currently not required by 

law to comply with the empowerment regime, its compli-

ance with certain aspects is necessary to maintain and 

promote appropriate relationships with commercial coun-

terparties and governmental agencies and regulators.

Should the Group acquire mining interests in South Africa, 

the empowerment regime will require 26% of relevant 

interests to be controlled for the benefit of historically 

disadvantaged South Africans. Currently, 15.1% of the 

Mogale business is so controlled or owned by BEE part-

ners or Mogale’s employees.

No assurance can be given that, despite the initiatives 

taken so far by the Group, the existing empowerment 

legislation or any future legislative developments in South 

Africa will not have a material adverse effect on the 

Group’s mineral operations in South Africa and/or conse-

quently on the business, financial condition or operating 

or financial results of the Group. 

15.1% of the Mogale 
business is controlled or 
owned by BEE* partners or 
Mogale’s employees.

* BEE = Black Economic Empowerment
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Some of the properties on which the Group con-

ducts its South African mineral processing opera-

tions may be subject to successful land claims

South African law provides remedies for persons who 

were dispossessed of rights in land as a result of past 

racially discriminatory laws or practices. The claimants 

may be entitled to restitution in various forms, including 

the return of the land to the claimants, provision of al-

ternative land, payment of compensation, or other forms 

of relief, including services and access to public housing. 

Although the Group does not foresee the widespread 

forfeiture of land, the settlement of any such claims 

could require that the Group cedes freehold titles to the 

claimants in return for compensation payments and may 

further necessitate entry into a lease arrangement by the 

Group. Such compensation may, in the aggregate, result 

in higher costs and materially adversely affect the busi-

ness, financial condition or operating or financial results 

of the Group.

South African foreign exchange control restric-

tions could hinder the Group’s ability to extract 

dividends from, make investments in or procure 

foreign denominated financings to support its 

South African subsidiaries

South African exchange control regulations are in force 

principally to control capital movements. South African 

companies are generally not permitted (except within 

certain monetary limits and other parameters) to export 

capital from South Africa or to hold foreign currency or 

foreign investments without the approval of the exchange 

control authorities. These exchange control regulations 

could hinder the Group’s ability to extract dividends 

from, make investments in or procure foreign denomi-

nated financings to support its South African subsidiaries. 

Further modifications to these restrictions may be made 

by the South African government. The existing regula-

tions and any expansion of existing, or imposition of new, 

exchange controls could materially adversely affect the 

business, financial condition or operating or financial re-

sults of the Group.

The high rate of HIV infection and other chronic 

health conditions in South Africa may adversely 

affect the Group’s business

South Africa has one of the highest reported HIV infection 

rates in the world. The exact effect of increased mortality 

rates due to AIDS-related deaths or the costs of intro-

ducing and maintaining treatment for HIV on the cost of 

doing business in South Africa and on the South African 

economy remains unclear. However, in the past Mogale 

has lost and may continue to lose employees with valu-

able skills due to AIDS-related deaths. In addition, other 

effects of the HIV/AIDS epidemic faced by the Group, 

and other businesses operating in South Africa, include 

absenteeism, reduced productivity, employees being un-

able to perform their normal duties, loss of personnel, 

and increased costs for health care for employees and 

former employees. The HIV/AIDS epidemic and other 

chronic health conditions may cumulatively have a mate-

rial adverse effect on the business, financial condition or 

operating or financial results of the Group.

Inflation or other macro-economic conditions in 

South Africa may increase costs and consequently 

could materially adversely affect the Group

South Africa has in the past experienced double-digit 

rates of inflation, with annual rates of inflation return-

ing to these levels in 2008. If South Africa experiences 

substantial inflation in the future, the Group’s costs in 

Rand terms will increase significantly and, subject to 

movements in the foreign exchange rates, its operating 

margins will contract, resulting in significantly lower cash 

flows in US dollar terms. Inflationary pressures may also 

curtail the Group’s ability to access global financial mar-

kets in the longer term and could materially adversely af-

fect the Group’s business, financial condition or results of 

operations. In addition, the South African government’s 

response to inflation or other significant macro-economic 

pressures may include the introduction of policies and/

or other measures that could have a material adverse 

effect on the business, financial condition or operating or 

financial results of the Group.
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RISKS RELATING TO THE WOOD PROCESSING 

BUSINESSES

The house building business is affected by the 

slowdown in the construction industry and 

additional liability risks compared to other wood 

processing industries

The house building business is affected by the develop-

ment of the new construction industry in Finland, the 

demand for prefabricated detached houses and the cost 

development of the construction industry. Demand and 

prices in the Finnish detached house market have suf-

fered significantly in the economic downturn and any 

recovery is subject, among other factors, to customer 

sentiment improving and the banking sector’s willingness 

to lend to potential homeowners.

The Group’s house building business deals directly with its 

customers; this means that it has responsibility towards 

the end customer for a package delivery, and the Group 

is dependent upon and bears the primary responsibility to 

the customer for the external subcontractors it engages. 

As a result, house building also entails a greater risk of 

legal actions than many other sectors.

House building products involve quality or quantity guar-

antees to customers, typically consisting of a short-term 

duty to make repairs (one-year) and a statutory 10-year 

guarantee in respect of structural safety issues. As the 

Group produces a limited range of house designs, any 

defect in a design could affect many individual houses. 

If realised, risks related to guarantees, structural liability 

or liability for the operations of an external subcontractor 

might have a material adverse effect on the business, 

financial condition or operating or financial results of the 

Group.

The Group’s results have to a considerable extent been 

dependent on the success of the house building business 

since its acquisition in 2004. Accordingly, failure in the 

house building business might have a material adverse 

effect on the business, financial condition or operating or 

financial results of the Group.

The sawmill business is affected by timber pricing, 

timber demand and supply, and its position in the 

wood processing supply chain

In the sawmill business, the profitability of operations is 

affected by the development of standing timber prices, 

the development of timber market prices and the demand 

for conifer wood in general, both as a raw material and 

as an end product. Coniferous wood logs represent ap-

proximately two-thirds of production costs in the sawmill 

business. Due to the seasonal nature of coniferous log 

harvesting and business practices within the markets 

in which the wood processing business operates, the 

Group’s sawmills are required to place firm orders for its 

coniferous wood logs (approximately six months) prior 

to the date they will process the logs. As the market 

price for timber at the time of sale may not reflect the 

market price for coniferous logs at the time of purchase, 

the Group is exposed to the risk of changes in demand 

for its products and price during the intervening period. 

Unfavourable developments might reduce the results and 

competi-tive strength of the business area to a consider-

able extent. The supply of coniferous logs is also depend-

ent on environmental and other natural factors.

The Group’s sawmills benefit from selling by-products 

produced from the mill’s activities including wood chips 

to Finnish and Swedish pulp and paper producers and 

local bio-energy generators. The price of coniferous logs 

also reflects the use of other parts of the tree by such 

industries. Should the pulp and paper producers and any 

such bio-energy producers cut capacity further, this 

could affect the revenue from such by-product sales 

and also indirectly affect log prices, which may have a 

material adverse effect on the business, financial con-

dition or operating or financial results of the Group.

The sawmill business is involved in the early stages 

of the processing chain and delivers part of its pro-

duction output to external processing plants or to the 

wholesale market, which may affect its ability to react 

to major structural changes affecting the sector. 

The house building and wood processing busi-

nesses operate in competitive markets and the 

Group’s failure to compete effectively could 

adversely affect the Group

The Group competes against a large number of wood 

processors and house building businesses on a local 

level and internationally, many of whom have signifi-

cantly larger businesses than the part of the Group’s 

house building and wood processing businesses with 

which they compete. Some of these companies benefit 

from greater financial resources or operate sawmills 

and other production facilities or use subcontractors 

that have lower costs than the Group’s facilities and 

subcontractors. The Group cannot be certain that 

each of its operations will remain competitive. The 

house building business competes against both other 

producers of ‘turnkey’ houses and companies building 

other types of housing. Ruukki Group expects that 

competition in the house building and wood process-

ing industry will intensify, which could cause the 

Group to lose market share, increase expenditures or 

reduce pricing, any of which could have a material ad-

verse effect on the business, financial condition or op-

erating or financial results of the Group.  In addition, 

competition may result in the Group being unable to 
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increase the selling prices of its products sufficiently or in 

time to offset the effects of any increased costs without 

losing market share, which may have a material adverse 

effect on the business, financial condition or operating or 

financial results of the Group.

The wood processing and house building busi-

nesses are subject to customer concentration 

risks and local market risks

The Group’s house building and wood processing busi-

nesses’ production facilities and personnel are all based 

in Finland. This has increased the Group’s risks relating 

to the unfavourable developments in Finland and in rela-

tion to the markets supplied from its operations and the 

changes in neighbouring countries (for example, with re-

spect to exchange rates). The Group’s house building and 

wood processing customers are concentrated in certain 

markets, in particular: house buyers in Finland; the house 

building industry in Finland; and the Japanese, UK and 

Mediterranean export markets for sawn timber products. 

Decreased demand in these sectors might have a mate-

rial adverse effect on the business, financial condition or 

operating or financial results of the Group. 

Each of the four factories in the pallet business serves 

predominantly one local customer for each site. Due 

to the economics of the pallet business, particularly 

transport costs, it might be uneconomical to continue 

to operate a particular factory should its main or sole 

current customer cease trading or significantly reduce its 

demand, which may materially adversely affect the busi-

ness, financial condition or operating or financial results 

of the Group.

The Group is subject to various laws and regula-

tions, changes to which could have an adverse 

effect on the Group’s earnings and cash flows

The Group’s house building and wood processing busi-

nesses are subject to various national and local laws, 

regulations and standards as well as community and 

stakeholder expectations in Finland, and to some extent 

in certain export markets. House building operations are 

subject to numerous regulations dealing with the tech-

nical quality requirements for construction as well as 

planning and local administrative requirements. These 

regulations often grant extensive discretion to relevant 

regulators. Changes in these regulations or the policies of 

the relevant official regulators might subject the Group to 

new obligations or obstruct current or planned business 

activities, which might have a material adverse effect on 

the business, financial condition or operating or financial 

results of the Group.
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RISKS RELATING TO THE ORDINARY SHARES

Trading volumes and liquidity of the Company’s 

shares on the Helsinki Stock Exchange have 

historically been low and an active trading market 

may not develop or be sustained

Trading volumes and liquidity of the ordinary shares on 

the Helsinki Stock Exchange have been relatively low 

and free float relatively low as well. The share prices of 

companies with low trading volumes and liquidity may 

not be the same as for companies with greater trading 

volumes and liquidity. The bid/offer spread is also likely 

to be higher for companies with low trading volumes.

The share prices of publicly traded companies can 

be highly volatile

The share price of the Company’s shares may fluctuate 

widely, and such volatility may be caused by factors out-

side of the Group’s control or may be unrelated or dispro-

portionate to the results of operations of the Group. The 

market price may be subject to significant fluctuations 

due to a change in sentiment from investors and analysts 

regarding the Company’s shares in response to various 

factors, including: differences between the Group’s ac-

tual financial and anticipated operating results as well 

as the perceived prospects for the Group’s business and 

operations and those of other companies in the indus-

tries it operates in. Furthermore, stock markets have 

from time to time experienced extreme price and volume 

fluctuations as a result of general economic and political 

considerations.

A small number of major shareholders would be 

able to influence matters requiring shareholder 

approval

Currently, a small number of the Group’s major sharehold-

ers control approximately 61 per cent of Ruukki Group’s 

issued share capital: Kermas Limited (approximately 29 

per cent), Atkey Limited (approximately 20 per cent in 

total) and Hanwa Co., Limited (approximately 12 per 

cent). These significant shareholders would be able to 

influence matters requiring shareholder approval. Ruukki 

Group currently holds close to 4 per cent of its shares in 

the treasury, after some treasury shares were cancelled 

in February 2010. The concentration of ownership may 

also have the effect of delaying or deterring a change in 

control of the Group, could deprive shareholders of an 

opportunity to receive a premium for their shares as part 

of a sale of the Group, and might affect the market price 

and liquidity of the Company’s shares.

Future sales or issues of the Company’s shares 

may decrease the price of the shares

The sale of a significant number of Company’s shares, or 

the perception that such sales may occur, could materi-

ally and adversely affect the market price of the shares. 

Under the terms of the RCS and TMS sale and purchase 

agreement, 15,000,000 Ruukki Group shares (represent-

ing approximately 6 per cent of the issued shares) held 

by Kermas are subject to a five-year lock-up (subject to 

certain carve outs) from October 2008. Although there 

are certain restrictions imposed by law, Ruukki Group is 

not aware of any other additional contractual restrictions 

limiting the sale of its ordinary shares by any of its major 

shareholders. Ruukki Group has issued option rights in 

respect of certain earn-out payments in respect of prior 

acquisitions and may be required to issue shares in re-

spect of those options if the relevant earn-out conditions 

are met. The subsequent issue of further ordinary shares 

would have the effect of reducing proportionate owner-

ship and voting interests of existing shareholders, and 

could thus have a material adverse effect on the market 

price of the ordinary shares.

As a holding company, Ruukki Group’s ability 

to pay dividends will depend upon the level of 

distributions, if any, received from its operating 

subsidiaries and the level of cash balances

Ruukki Group is a holding company which operates its 

business through its subsidiaries. Therefore, the availabil-

ity of funds to Ruukki Group to pay dividends and capi-

tal redemptions to shareholders depends in part, upon 

dividends received from these subsidiaries. The Group’s 

existing and future contractual arrangements impose or 

may impose operating and financial restrictions on group 

companies. These restrictions and applicable foreign ex-

change control restrictions limit, or may limit, the ability 

of subsidiaries to pay their respective holding compa-

nies and in turn may limit Ruukki Group’s ability to pay 

dividends. Ruukki Group’s ability to declare dividends will 

also depend on the Group’s future financial performance 

which is dependent on the other risk factors described 

above.

Ruukki Group cur-
rently holds about 4 per 
cent of its own shares.
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DIVIDEND PAYOUT PROPOSAL OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company’s Board of Directors has decided to propose to the Annual General Meeting that capital redemption of EUR 0.04 per 

share would be distributed out of the paid-up unrestricted equity reserve, i.e. in total EUR 9,919,280.00 and no dividend payout 

is proposed.

Retained earnings
     Retained earnings 1.1.2009     
     Dividends paid out during 2009
    
     Retained earnings after dividend payout    
     Net profit 1.1.–31.12.2009
     
     Retained earnings 31.12.2009

Paid-up unrestricted equity reserve

     Paid-up unrestricted equity reserve 1.1.2009    
     Capital redemption paid out during 2009  
     Issuance of own shares 
     Treasury shares acquired during 2009

     Paid-up unrestricted equity reserve 31.12.2009

Total distributable equity

     Retained earnings 31.12.2009
     Paid-up unrestricted equity reserve 31.12.2009

     Total distributable equity 31.12.2009

    17,663,749.21
     0.00

    
     17,663,749.21

669,096.67
     

18,332,845.88

332,643,853.17    
     -10,054,960.88

100,000.00
-57,713,640.97

     264,975,251.32

18,332,845.88
    264,975,251.32

     283,308,097.20

INFORMATION PRESENTED BY REFERENCE 

The Group’s key financial figures, information of share capital and option rights are presented on the notes for the consolidated 

financial statements. The share ownership of the parent company’s Board members and the CEO is presented on the notes for the 

parent company’s financial statements. The Corporate Governance Statement has been presented as a separate report.

On the balance sheet date of 31 December 2009, the total distributable equity of the parent company Ruukki Group Plc 
totalled EUR 283,308,097.20, as detailed below:
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (IFRS)
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INCOME STATEMENT

1.1.-31.12.2009 1.1.-31.12.2008

EUR ‘000 Note
Continuing 

operations

Continuing 

operations

Discontinued 

operations
Total

Revenue G1 193 359 158 665 88 696 247 361

Other operating income G2 7 587 1 301 2 347 3 648
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in 
progress

-17 495 -6 653 -2 397 -9 050

Raw materials and consumables used -115 255 -109 352 -62 242 -171 595

Employee benefits expense G3 -28 230 -19 724 -17 634 -37 358

Depreciation and amortisation G4 -26 960 -10 839 -3 328 -14 168

Other operating expenses G5 -20 611 -22 150 -5 542 -27 691

Impairment, net G4 -17 020 -38 187 -2 847 -41 034

Items related to associates (core) G11 6 0 0 0

Operating profit / loss -24 617 -46 939 -2 947 -49 886

Finance income G6 5 871 16 784 -1 16 783

Finance cost G6 -9 306 -11 557 -1 402 -12 958

Items related to associates (non-core) G11 -284 171 0 171

Profit / loss before taxes -28 336 -41 541 -4 349 -45 891

Income taxes G7 5 609 174 997 1 171

Gain on disposal from discontinued operations 0 0 12 033 12 033

Profit / loss for the period -22 727 -41 367 8 680 -32 687

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the parent -19 744 -40 066 8 680 -31 386

Non-controlling interests -2 983 -1 301 0 -1 301

-22 727 -41 367 8 680 -32 687
Earnings per share (counted from profit attributable to 
owners of the parent):

G8

basic (EUR) -0.08 -0.14 0.03 -0.11

diluted (EUR) -0.08 -0.14 0.03 -0.11

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

 

EUR ‘000
1.1.-31.12. 

2009
1.1.-31.12. 

2008

Profit / loss for the period -22 727 -32 687

Other comprehensive 
income

Exchange differences 
on translation of foreign 
operations

9 534 1 026

Income tax relating to other 
comprehensive income

-3 518 -379

Other comprehensive 
income, net of tax

6 016 646

Total comprehensive income 
for the year

-16 711 -32 041

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the parent -14 038 -30 739

Non-controlling interests -2 673 -1 301

-16 711 -32 041
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EUR ‘000 Note 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment G9 80 655 69 633

Goodwill G10 172 850 87 248

Other intangible assets G10 103 063 72 137
Investments in associates G11 507 1 770
Other financial assets G12 1 113 1 082

Receivables G12 26 130 19 469

Deferred tax assets G13 2 264 2 815

386 583 254 154
Current assets
Inventories G14 55 951 40 419

Trade and other receivables G15 49 283 36 672

Held-to-maturity investments G12/G15 2 500 186 485

Other financial assets G12/G15 314 133

Cash and cash equivalents G16 55 852 45 413

163 900 309 121

Assets held for sale G18 12 714 0

Total Assets 563 198 563 275

EUR ‘000 Note 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners of the 
parent

G19

Share capital 23 642 23 642

Share premium reserve 25 740 25 740

Revaluation reserve 2 193 2 193

Paid-up unrestricted equity reserve 260 357 328 025

Translation reserve 6 165 -434

Retained earnings -49 953 -30 224

268 144 348 943

Non-controlling interests 17 878 7 768

Total equity 286 022 356 710

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities G13 43 949 30 979

Interest-bearing debt G21 75 506 41 779

Other non-current debt G22 37 261 63 352

Provisions G23 12 602 4 815

169 318 140 925

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables G22 32 295 31 742

Deferred income G22 13 480 13 215

Provisions G23 1 690 479

Tax liabilities G22 15 104 6 917

Interest-bearing debt G21 39 008 13 286

101 577 65 640

Liabilities classified as held for sale G18 6 280 0

Total liabilities 277 175 206 565

Total equity and liabilities 563 198 563 275
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EUR ‘000 1.1.-31.12.2009 1.1.-31.12.2008

Operating activities

Net profit -22 727 -32 687

Adjustments to net profit:

Non-cash items

Depreciation and impairment 43 980 55 202

Finance income and expense 4 330 -3 341

Income from associates -111 -571

Income taxes -5 609 -1 171

Option expenses 991 358

Proceeds from non current assets -1 564 -13 063

Working capital changes:
Change in trade receivables and other 
receivables

-11 164 18 836

Change in inventories -3 832 17 345

Change in trade payables and other debt 4 757 -31 182

Change in provisions 1 274 -1 708
Payment to trust fund to provide for future 
remuneration in relation to acquisition

-6 479 0

Interests paid -2 145 -6 549

Interests received 1 623 1 340

Income taxes paid -3 138 -3 763

Net cash  from operating activities 185 -952

Investing activities
Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash 
acquired

-102 452 -89 157

Payments for earn-out liabilities -438 -403

Acquisitions of associated companies -63 -5

Capital expenditure on non-current assets -10 772 -38 704

Other investments, net -40 -1 175

Disposals of subsidiaries, net of cash sold 5 602 11 101

Disposals of associated companies 718 10

Net cash used in investing activities -107 443 -118 334

In relation to the operations discontinued in 2008, within the 2009 cash flows there are a EUR 0.8 million cash inflow 
in relation to deferred sales price and a EUR 0.2 million cash outflow due to adjustments to the original sales price; 
both of these items in relation to the care services business that was divested in 2008.

EUR ‘000 1.1.-31.12.2009 1.1.-31.12.2008

Financing activities

Share buy-back -57 714 -12 273

Capital redemption -10 055 0

Dividends paid -479 -12 433

Proceeds from borrowings 9 417 16 731

Repayments of borrowings -14 237 -14 498

Deposits 184 230 -52 770

Other investments 0 173 056

Interest received on investments 1 233 14 741
Repayments of loan receivables and loans 
given, net

5 590 3 872

Repayments of finance leases -279 -212

Net cash used in financing activities 117 706 116 214

Change in cash and cash equivalents 10 449 -3 071

Cash at beginning of period 45 413 48 527

Exchange rate differences -10 -42

Cash at end of period 55 852 45 413

Change in the balance sheet 10 449 -3 071
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITy

Attributable to owners of the parent

EUR ‘000 A B C D E F G H I

Equity at 1 January 2008 23 642 25 740 969 340 690 -1 080 19 694 409 655 1 995 411 650

Profit for the period 1-12/2008 -31 386 -31 386 -1 301 -32 687

Other comprehensive income 646 646 646

Total comprehensive income 646 -31 386 -30 739 -1 301 -32 041

Dividend distribution -12 033 -12 033 -986 -13 019

Share-based payments 878 878 878

Acquisition of own shares -12 665 -12 665 -12 665

Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries 1 224 -7 378 -6 154 8 060 1 906

Equity at 31 December 2008 23 642 25 740 2 193 328 025 -434 -30 224 348 943 7 768 356 710

Profit for the period 1-12/2009 -19 744 -19 744 -2 984 -22 728

Other comprehensive income 6 599 -893 5 706 311 6 016

Total comprehensive income 6 599 -20 637 -14 038 -2 673 -16 711

Dividend distribution 0 -479 -479

Share-based payments 908 908 908

Acquisition of own shares -57 614 -57 614 -57 614

Capital redemption -10 055 -10 055 -10 055

Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries 0 13 263 13 263

Equity at 31 December 2009 23 642 25 740 2 193 260 357 6 165 -49 953 268 144 17 878 286 022

A ....... Share capital 
B ....... Share premium reserve 
C ....... Fair value and revaluation reserves 
D ....... Paid-up unrestricted equity reserve 
E ....... Translation reserve 

F ....... Retained earnings 
G ....... Equity attributable to shareholders, total 
H ....... Non-controlling interests 
I ........ Total equity
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements of Ruukki Group 

have been prepared in accordance with the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in conformity 

with the IAS and IFRS standards as well as the SIC and 

IFRIC interpretations in force on 31 December 2009. In the 

Finnish Accounting Act and the regulations issued on the 

basis thereof, International Financial Reporting Standards 

refer to the standards and their interpretations that have 

been approved for application within the EU in accordance 

with the procedure prescribed in the EU regulation (EC) 

1606/2002. Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

also meet the requirements set forth in the Finnish ac-

counting and company legislation. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 

on the basis of original acquisition cost, unless otherwise 

explicitly stated. All the figures in the consolidated finan-

cial statements are given in EUR thousands.

Ruukki Group Plc’s Board of Directors has on 25 February 

2010 resolved that these financial statements are to be 

published, and on 30 March 2009 the Board has confirmed 

subsequent changes and amendments. According to the 

Finnish Companies Act, shareholders have the right to 

approve or disapprove of the financial statements or to 

change them after financial statements have been pub-

lished when they attend the Annual General Meeting.

Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the par-

ent company Ruukki Group Plc and its subsidiaries. 

Subsidiaries refer to companies in which the Group has 

control. The Group gains control of a company when it 

holds more than half of the voting rights or otherwise 

exercises control. The existence of potential voting rights 

has been taken into account in assessing the requirements 

for control in cases where the instruments entitling their 

holder to potential voting rights can be exercised at the 

time of assessment. Control refers to the right to govern 

the financial and operating policies of an enterprise so as 

to obtain benefits from its activities.

Acquired subsidiaries are consolidated from the time when 

the Group gained control, and divested subsidiaries until 

the time when control ceased. All intra-group transactions, 

receivables, debts, and unrealised profits, as well as inter-

nal distribution of profits are eliminated when the consoli-

dated financial statements are prepared. The distribution 

of profits between parent company owners and minorities 

is shown in the income statement, and the minority share 

of equities is shown as a separate item in the balance 

sheet under shareholders’ equity. The minority share of 

accumulated losses is recorded in the financial statements 

up to the amount of the investment.

Associates

Associates are companies in which Ruukki Group exercises 

significant influence. The Group exercises significant influ-

ence if it holds more than 20% of the target company’s 

COMPANY INFORMATION

Ruukki Group specialises in the industrial 

refining of certain natural resources. The 

Group currently has two business segments: 

minerals and wood processing. The Minerals 

business has ferro alloys smelting operations 

in South Africa; mining and beneficiation 

operations in Turkey; and specialty grade 

ferrochrome refining operations in Germany. 

The Wood Processing business has a strong 

presence in the northern and western part 

of Finland in the house building, sawmill and 

pallet businesses.

The Group’s parent company is Ruukki Group 

Plc (business ID: 0618181-8). The parent 

company is domiciled in Espoo, and its reg-

istered address is Keilasatama 5, FI-02150 

Espoo. Copies of the consolidated financial 

statements are available at Ruukki Group 

Plc’s head office at Keilasatama 5, FIN-02150 

Espoo.

Ruukki Group Plc is quoted (trading code: 

RUG1V) on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Oy 

in the industrials group, in the mid-cap 

category.
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voting rights, or if the company in other ways exercises 

significant influence but not control. Associates have been 

consolidated in the Group’s financial statements using 

the equity method. If the Group’s share of the associate’s 

losses exceeds the carrying amount of the investment, 

the investment is recognised at zero value in the balance 

sheet, and losses exceeding the carrying amount are not 

consolidated unless the Group has made a commitment to 

fulfil the associates’ obligations. Unrealised profits between 

the Group and the associates have been eliminated in line 

with the Group’s ownership. Investment in an associate 

includes the goodwill arising from its acquisition.

Translation of foreign currency items

Figures indicating the profit/loss and financial position of 

Group entities are measured in the currency of each en-

tity’s main operating environment (‘functional currency’). 

Figures in the consolidated financial statements are pre-

sented in EUR, which is the functional and presentation 

currency of the Group’s parent company, Ruukki Group 

Plc.

Transactions in foreign currencies have been recorded at 

the functional currency using the exchange rate on the 

date of the transaction or mid reference rates of central 

banks. Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies 

have been translated into the functional currency using the 

exchange rates for the balance sheet date. Exchange rate 

gains and losses are included in the revenue, operational 

costs or financial items, corresponding to their respective 

origin. Hedge accounting was not applied.

In the Group accounts foreign subsidiaries’ income state-

ment and cash flow statement are converted into EUR by 

using average exchange rates for the period, and balance 

sheet is converted by using the period-end exchange rate. 

The translation differences caused by this are recognised 

in other comprehensive income. If and when the foreign 

subsidiary would be partially or fully divested, these ac-

crued translation differences will be taken into account in 

adjusting the sales gain or sales loss.

When acquiring foreign subsidiaries, the Group has applied 

IFRS3, and hence the purchase price allocation process 

has led to goodwill, other assets and liabilities to be recog-

nised on the Group accounts, and these entries have been 

entered in using the functional currency of each acquired 

subsidiary. The balances in that functional currency have 

then been translated into EUR using the exchange rates 

prevailing at the end of the reporting period.

Operating profit

IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements does not define 

the concept of operating profit. Ruukki Group has defined 

it as follows: Operating profit is the net amount derived by 

adding to revenue other operating income, less purchase 

costs adjusted with the change in inventories of finished 

goods and work in progress and expenses from work per-

formed by the enterprise and capitalised, less costs from 

employee benefits, depreciation and impairment losses, 

and other expenses. All other income statement items 

are excluded from operating profit. Translation differences 

arising from operational transactions with third parties are 

included in operating profit; otherwise they are recorded 

under financial items.

Income recognition principles

Goods sold and services provided

Income from the sale of goods is recognised once the 

substantial risks and benefits associated with ownership 

have been transferred to the buyer. Income from services 

is recognised after the service has been provided.

Construction contracts

Ruukki Group’s house building business area has had some 

projects that fell under the definition applied in the IAS 11 

standard Construction Contracts. Revenue and expense 

from construction contracts is recognised by reference 

to the stage of completion of a contract. The stage of 

completion of the contract activity is defined by the share 

of actual costs incurred of total estimated costs of the 

contract activity. The profit margin of the contract activity 

is recognised based on the estimated total profit margin. 

The sales of single houses, which currently comprise the 

majority of deliveries, from standard product mix to con-

sumers are recognised as the contract is completed.

Financial income and expense

Interest income and expense is recognised using the ef-

fective yield method, and dividends are recognised when 

the right to dividends is established. Unrealised changes 

in value of items measured at fair value are recognised 

in the income statement. These items relate to currency 

forward contracts and interest rate swaps. Exchange rate 

gains or losses that arise from intercompany loans that 

are considered as part of the net investment in the foreign 

entity are included, net of any deferred tax effects, in the 

translation reserve within equity.

Employee benefits

Pension liabilities

All pension arrangements in Ruukki Group are classi-

fied as defined contribution plans with the exception 

of a defined benefit plan which is effective in Germany. 

Payments for defined contribution plans are recorded in 

the income statement for the relevant period. The present 

value of obligation for the defined benefit plan effective in 
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Germany has been estimated applying the Projected Unit 

Credit Method and recognised as a non-current liability on 

the balance sheet.

Share-based payments

Option rights are measured at fair value at the time they 

were granted and recorded as expenses in the income 

statement on a straight-line basis during the vesting pe-

riod. The expenses at the time the options were granted 

are determined according to the Group’s estimate of the 

number of options expected to vest at the end of the vest-

ing period. Fair value is determined on the basis of the 

Black & Scholes option pricing model. The effects of non-

market-based terms and conditions are not included in the 

fair value of the option; instead, they are taken into ac-

count in the estimated number of options expected to vest 

at the end of the vesting period. The Group updates the 

estimated final number of options on each balance sheet 

date. Changes in the estimates are recorded in the income 

statement. When the option rights are exercised, the cash 

payments received from the subscriptions adjusted with 

potential transaction costs are recorded under share capi-

tal and paid-up unrestricted equity reserve.

Other benefits

In conjunction with the Mogale Alloys acquisition, Ruukki 

Group has agreed to pay altogether ZAR 150 million into 

a management trust, which is not consolidated into the 

Group. In relation to this trust payment, Ruukki Group 

treats the ZAR 150 million payments in its Group accounts 

as an expense, evenly split over a five-year term; how-

ever, no pension or other social expenses or taxes are 

recognised.

Impairment

On each balance sheet date, the Group makes an assess-

ment of whether there are any indications of asset impair-

ment. If such indications exist, the recoverable amount of 

the asset is estimated. In addition, goodwill is assessed 

annually for its recoverable amount regardless of whether 

there are any signs of impairment. Impairment is exam-

ined at the cash-generating unit level; in other words, the 

lowest level of entity that is primarily independent of other 

entities and whose cash flows can be separated from other 

cash flows. Impairment related to associates and other as-

sets are tested on a company/asset basis.

The recoverable amount is the fair value of an asset less 

divestment costs, or the higher value in use. Value in use 

means the present value of estimated future cash flows 

expected to arise from the asset or cash-generating unit. 

Value in use is forecast on the basis of circumstances and 

expectations at the time of testing. The discount rate takes 

into account the time value of money as well as the special 

risks involved for each asset, different industry-specific 

capital structures in different lines of business, and the 

investors’ return expectations for similar investments, in 

addition to the specific risks related to of these particular 

businesses. An impairment loss is recorded when the car-

rying amount of an asset is greater than its recoverable 

amount. Impairment losses are recorded in the income 

statement. If the impairment loss involves a cash-flow-

generating entity, it is allocated first to reduce the goodwill 

of the entity and subsequently to reduce other assets of 

the entity. An impairment loss is reversed if a change has 

occurred in circumstances and the recoverable amount of 

the asset has changed since the impairment loss was rec-

ognised. However, the reversal must not cause the adjusted 

value to be higher than the carrying amount without the 

recognition of the impairment loss. An impairment loss rec-

ognised for goodwill is not reversed in any circumstances. 

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually at the year’s 

end; for the 2009 financial year, testing took place on 31 

December 2009. Impairment testing and the methods 

used are discussed in more detail elsewhere in ‘Notes to 

the consolidated financial statements’.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 

obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 

event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embody-

ing economic benefits will be required to settle the obliga-

tion and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 

of the obligation. Where the Group expects some or all of 

a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insur-

ance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a sepa-

rate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually 

certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented 

in the income statement net of any reimbursement. If the 

effect of the time value of money is material, provisions 

are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, 

where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where 

discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to 

the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Rehabilitation and decommissioning liability

The provision for rehabilitation and decommissioning costs 

has arisen on operating manufacturing site and facility for 

the processing of minerals. These costs are provided at the 

present value of expected costs to settle the obligation us-

ing estimated cash flows. The cash flows are discounted at 

a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the 

rehabilitation and decommissioning liability. The unwinding 

of the discount is expensed as incurred and recognised in 

the income statement as a finance cost. The estimated fu-

ture costs of decommissioning are reviewed annually and 

adjusted as appropriate. Changes in the estimated future 
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costs of or in the discount rate applied to the rehabilitation 

obligation are added or deducted from the profit or loss, or 

respectively, decommissioning obligation adjusted to the 

carrying value of the asset dismantled. The unwinding of 

the discount is added to the finance cost of the period. 

Product warranties in house-building

The prefabricated houses manufactured by Ruukki Group’s 

house building segment involve a one-year repair liability 

and an additional ten-year structural safety guarantee. On 

the basis of the historical data of the company operating 

in the house building business area, the one-year repair 

liability has been recorded as expenses in the income 

statement and as provisions in the balance sheet. No ex-

penses have been recorded in the income statement for 

the ten-year structural safety guarantee due to its immate-

rial nature.

Other

The Group has recognised a long-term provision on em-

ployee severance indemnities for the Group’s employees 

working in Turkey in accordance with Turkish legislation.

Income taxes

Tax expenses in the income statement consist of the tax 

based on taxable income for the year and deferred taxes. 

Taxes based on taxable income for the year are calculated 

using the applicable tax rates. Taxes are adjusted with any 

taxes arising from previous years.

Deferred taxes have been calculated for all temporary 

differences between the carrying amount and taxable 

amount. No deferred taxes have been recorded for goodwill 

impairment. Deferred taxes have been calculated using the 

tax rates prescribed by the balance sheet date. Deferred 

tax assets arising from taxable losses carried forward have 

been recognised up to the amount for which there is likely 

to be taxable income in the future, and against which the 

temporary difference can be used.

Tangible assets

Tangible assets have been measured at original acquisi-

tion cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses. If a tangible asset item consists of several parts 

with different useful lives, a components approach is ap-

plied. In this case, expenses from material component 

replacements are capitalised. Heavy production machinery 

contains components with different useful lives, and thus 

a component approach is applied. Material component 

replacements and overhauls are capitalised. Lighter ma-

chinery’s and other intangible items’ repair and mainte-

nance are recognised as expense when occurred. Interest 

expenses are activated as part of the tangible asset’s value 

if and when the Group acquires or constructs assets that 

satisfy the required terms and conditions. At the end of  

the financial period there were some tangible assets fit-

ting into that definition, but the total activated interest 

expense was insignificant.

Minerals tailings acquired in business combinations and 

recognised as separate assets are measured based on 

estimated volume and the market price of the mineral 

content at the time of the acquisition.

Assets are depreciated over their useful lives using the 

straight-line method, except for the tailings which are de-

preciated based on reported consumption. Land areas are 

not depreciated. The estimated useful lives of assets are 

as follows:

Buildings    15–25 years

Machinery and equipment  3–15 years

Other tangible assets  5–10 years

Tailings    consumption

The residual value of assets and their useful life are re-

viewed in connection with each financial statement and, 

if necessary, they will be adjusted to reflect the changes 

that have occurred in the expected financial benefit. The 

sales gains or losses arising from the decommissioning or 

divestment of tangible assets are included in other operat-

ing income or expenses.

Public subsidies for the acquisition of tangible assets have 

been recorded as a deduction of the acquisition cost. The 

subsidies are recognised as income indirectly in the form of 

smaller depreciation amounts over the useful life of the asset. 

Intangible assets

Goodwill and intangible assets identified at 

acquisitions

Goodwill represents the portion of acquisition cost that 

exceeds the Group’s share of the fair value at the time of 

acquisition of the net assets of a company acquired after 

1 January 2004. Goodwill arising from previous business 

combinations represents the carrying amount under the 

previous accounting standards, which has been used as 

the deemed cost. The classification or accounting process 

for these acquisitions has not been adjusted in preparation 

of the Group’s opening IFRS balance sheet on 1 January 

2004. Instead of regular amortisation, goodwill is tested 

annually for potential impairment. For this purpose, good-

will has been allocated to cash-generating units or, in the 

case of an associated company, is included in the acquisi-

tion cost of the associate in question. Goodwill is measured 

at original acquisition cost less impairment losses.

Goodwill, arising from acquisitions after 1/2004, is initially 
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measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the ac-

quisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the 

identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of 

the acquired company at the date of acquisition. Intangible 

assets typically recognised include customer relationships, 

trademarks and brands and technology.

The cost of acquisition is measured as the fair value of 

the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabili-

ties incurred or assumed at the date of the acquisition. 

Contingent purchase consideration is inclined in the cost 

based on an estimate at the date of an acquisition, and 

adjusted subsequently to reflect the current estimate or 

the final outcome.

Increase in ownership interest after obtaining 

control

Ruukki Group is applying the ‘Parent entity extension 

method’, where the entire difference between the cost of 

the additional interest in the subsidiary and the minority 

interest’s share of the assets and liabilities reflected in the 

consolidated balance sheet at the date of the acquisition 

of the minority interest is reflected as goodwill.

Decrease in ownership interest without loss of 

control

Consistently with increases in ownership interest, Ruukki 

Group is also applying the ‘Parent entity extension method’ 

in the decrease in ownership interest, where an adjust-

ment to goodwill and gain or loss is recognised from the 

difference between the proceeds received of the disposed 

interest in the subsidiary and the minority interest’s share 

of the assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated 

balance sheet at the date of the disposal.

Research and development costs

Research costs are always recognised as expenses in the 

income statement. The development costs, which prima-

rily relate to the development of existing products, are 

expensed as incurred. The development of new products 

is recognised as an intangible asset when the Group can 

demonstrate the technical and commercial feasibility of 

the product, and the intention to complete the develop-

ment project successfully.

Emission rights

One of the Group’s sawmills has received emission rights 

without compensation. The Group has no operational use 

for the emission rights and the intention is to sell them. 

The emission rights have been classified as intangible as-

sets measured at fair value; the reception of the rights, 

their subsequent fair value adjustments and the sale gain 

or loss are recognised as other operating income of the 

income statement.

Exploration and evaluation expenses in relation to 

mineral resources

In Group’s mining operations exploration and evaluation 

expenses incurred, based on e.g. drilling actitivies, are 

activated on the balance sheet under the IFRS6 principles. 

If and when the exploitation phase starts, the Group will 

to relevant extent reclassify those assets and amortise 

them under the economic life according to the volume of 

that exploitation activity. Moreover, these exploration and 

evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if and when 

facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount 

exceeds its recoverable amount.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets are initially recognised on the 

balance sheet at cost when the costs can be reliably de-

termined and it is probable that the expected financial 

benefits of that assets will be reaped by the Group. Other 

intangible assets mainly relate to IT software utilised as 

support to Group’s business operations.

Amortisation periods are as follows:

Computer software   3–5 years

Other intangible rights  3–5 years  

(e.g. customer relationships)

Trademarks   5 or 10 years

Inventories

Inventories are measured at acquisition cost or a lower 

probable net realisable value. Acquisition costs are deter-

mined using the average cost method. The cost of finished 

goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, 

direct labour expenses, other direct expenses, and an ap-

propriate share of fixed and variable production overheads 

based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. 

In ordinary operations, the net realisable value is the es-

timated selling price that is obtainable, less the estimated 

costs incurred in completing the product and the selling 

expenses.

 

At the end of  2009, Group’s house building business area 

acquired some land areas with a target to develop the 

land in the future into house sites, on which single family 

houses delivered by the Group could be erected as well as 

the houses and the attached land could be sold to custom-

ers. This acquired land asset is classified into inventory, 

and the balance sheet value is based on the purchase 

price agreed at the time of the transaction. The project 

contains a profit-sharing agreement with a third party 
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determining principles in sharing any added value to be 

achieved from the expected zoning and area development 

activities. As the fair value of the project appreciates, the 

inventory value and the discounted profit-share liability 

will be adjusted accordingly. The appreciation is based on 

the expected impact of the zoning and other development 

activities, when they become probable.

Financial assets and liabilities

Financial instruments – initial recognition and sub-

sequent measurement

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified 

as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans 

and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-

for-sale financial assets, or as derivatives designated as 

hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 

The Group determines the classification of its financial as-

sets at initial recognition. All financial assets are recog-

nised initially at fair value plus, in the case of investments 

not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable 

transaction costs.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 

of assets within a time frame established by regulation or 

convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are 

recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that the Group 

commits to purchase or sell the asset.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and short-term 

deposits, trade and other receivables, loan and other re-

ceivables, quoted and unquoted financial instruments, and 

derivative financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends 

on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include 

financial assets held for trading and financial assets des-

ignated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit 

or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if 

they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchas-

ing in the near term. This category includes derivative fi-

nancial instruments entered into by the Group that are not 

designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships 

as defined by IAS 39. Derivatives, including separated em-

bedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading 

unless they are designated as effective hedging instru-

ments. Financial assets at fair value through profit and 

loss are carried in the statement of financial position at 

fair value with changes in fair value recognised in finance 

income or finance cost in the income statement.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for 

as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their 

economic characteristics and risks are not closely related 

to those of the host contracts, and the host contracts are 

not held for trading or designated at fair value though 

profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured 

at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the 

income statement. Reassessment only occurs if there is a 

change in the terms of the contract that significantly modi-

fies the cash flows that would otherwise be required.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 

with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 

in an active market. After initial measurement, such finan-

cial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method (EIR), less impair-

ment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account 

any discount or premium on acquisition and fee or costs 

that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation 

is included in finance income in the income statement. 

The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the 

income statement in finance costs.

Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments and fixed maturities are classified as held-to-

maturity when the Group has the positive intention and 

ability to hold it to maturity. After initial measurement, 

held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 

discount or premium on acquisition and fee or costs that 

are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is 

included in finance income in the income statement. The 

losses arising from impairment are recognised in the in-

come statement in finance costs. 

The Group has had funds that are placed into euro-denom-

inated deposits whose maturities range from 0 to 1 month. 

These deposits are classified as short-term assets held to 

maturity during the periods ending on 31 December 2009 

and 2008.

 

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments include equity and 

debt securities. Equity investments classified as available-

for sale are those which are neither classified as held 

for trading nor designated at fair value through profit or 

loss. Debt securities in this category are those which are 

intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and 

which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in 
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response to changes in the market conditions. After ini-

tial measurement, available-for-sale financial investments 

are subsequently measured at fair value with unrealised 

gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income 

in the available-for-sale reserve until the investment is 

derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is 

recognised in other operating income; or determined to be 

impaired, at which time the cumulative loss is recognised 

in the income statement in finance costs and removed 

from the available-for-sale reserve.

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial 

asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is dere-

cognised when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have  »

expired

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash  »

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to 

pay the received cash flows in full without material de-

lay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; 

and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially 

all the risks and rewards of the asset; or (b) the Group 

has neither transferred nor retained substantially all 

the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 

control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash 

flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through ar-

rangement, and has neither transferred nor retained sub-

stantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor trans-

ferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the 

extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. 

In this case, the Group also recognises an associated lia-

bility. The transferred asset and the associated liability are 

measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations 

that the Group has retained. Continuing involvement that 

takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 

measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of 

the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that 

the Group could be required to repay.

Financial liabilities

Presentation principles

Liabilities are classified as current and non-current, and 

they include both interest bearing and interest-free li-

abilities. Interest bearing liabilities include liabilities that 

either include a contractual interest component, or are dis-

counted to reflect the fair value of the liability. Discounted 

non-current liabilities include acquisition related deferred 

conditional and un-conditional liabilities. Conditional li-

abilities have an earn-out component that need to be met 

to make the liability unconditional and fix the amount of 

the future payment. Certain acquisition related conditional 

purchase considerations are payable in the Company’s 

shares, and are presented as interest-free liabilities. 

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classi-

fied as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 

loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as 

hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 

The Group determines the classification of its financial li-

abilities at initial recognition. All financial liabilities are rec-

ognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and 

borrowings, plus directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other 

payables, bank overdrafts, loans and borrowings, financial 

guarantee contracts and derivative financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their 

classification as follows:

 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in-

cludes financial liabilities held for trading and financial li-

abilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value 

through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are classified as 

held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of 

selling in the near term. This category includes derivative 

financial instruments entered into by the Group that are 

not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relation-

ships as defined by IAS 39. Separated embedded deriva-

tives are also classified as held for trading unless they are 

designated as effective hedging instruments.

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised 

in the income statement.

The Group has not designated any financial liabilities upon 

initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrow-

ings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 

the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are 

recognised in the income statement when the liabilities 

are derecognised as well as through the effective interest 

rate method (EIR) amortisation process. Amortised cost is 

calculated by taking into account any discount or premium 
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on acquisition and fee or costs that are an integral part of 

the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance cost in 

the income statement. 

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are 

those contracts that require a payment to be made to re-

imburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified 

debtor fails to make a payment when due in accordance 

with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee 

contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, 

adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable 

to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liabil-

ity is measured at the higher of the best estimate of the 

expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the 

reporting date and the amount recognised less cumulative 

amortisation.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation 

under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another 

from the same lender on substantially different terms, or 

the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, 

such an exchange or modification is treated as a derec-

ognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 

new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying 

amounts is recognised in the income statement.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in 

active markets at each reporting date is determined by 

reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quota-

tions (bid price for long positions and ask price for short 

positions), without any deduction for transaction costs. For 

financial instruments not traded in an active market, the 

fair value is determined using appropriate valuation tech-

niques. Such techniques may include: using recent arm’s 

length market transactions; reference to the current fair 

value of another instrument that is substantially the same; 

discounted cash flow analysis; or other valuation models.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge 

accounting

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group has to some extent used derivative financial in-

struments, such as forward currency contracts and interest 

rate swaps, to hedge its foreign currency risks and interest 

rate risks. At the end of December 2009, the Group had no 

material outstanding currency or interest rate derivative 

contracts in place. Such derivative financial instruments 

are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which 

a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 

remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as finan-

cial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial 

liabilities when the fair value is negative. Any gains or 

losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives are 

taken directly to the income statement, except for the ef-

fective portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in 

other comprehensive income.

Derivative contracts and hedge accounting

Derivative contracts are measured at fair value in the income 

statement. The Group does not apply hedge accounting. 

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the ac-

quisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 

form part of the cost of that asset are capitalised if it is 

likely that they will provide future economic benefit and 

can be measured in a reliable manner. Other borrowing 

costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which 

they are incurred. Arrangement fees linked to loan com-

mitments are entered as transaction costs.

Non-current liabilities are valued at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method. 

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury 

shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from the 

paid-up unrestricted equity reserve. No gain or loss is rec-

ognised in the income statement on the purchase, sale, is-

sue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. 

Any difference between the carrying amount and the con-

sideration is recognised in other capital reserves.

Lease agreements (the Group as the lessee)

Leases of tangible assets where the Group possesses a 

material portion of the risks and benefits of ownership are 

classified as financial leases. An asset acquired through a 

financial lease agreement is recorded in the balance sheet 

at the fair value of the leased object at the beginning of 

the lease period, or at a lower current value of minimum 

lease. An asset obtained through a finance lease is depre-

ciated over the useful life of the asset or the lease term, 

whichever is shorter. The leases payable are divided into 

financial expenses and loan repayment during the lease 

term so that the interest rate for the remaining loan is 

roughly the same each financial year. Leasing obligations 

are included in interest-bearing liabilities. Lease agree-

ments in which the risks and benefits typical of owner-

ship remain with the lessor are classified as other leases. 

Leases paid under other lease agreements are recognised 

as expenses in the income statement on a straight-line 
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basis over the lease term.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued 

operations

The standard IFRS 5 requires that an entity must classify 

a non-current asset or a disposal group as assets held for 

sale. if the amount equivalent to its carrying amount is ac-

cumulated primarily from the sale of the item rather than 

from its continued use. In this case, the asset or disposal 

group must be available for immediate sale in its present 

condition under general and standard terms for the sale 

for such assets and the sale must be highly probable.

At the end of the financial year 2009, the Group agreed 

to dispose of Lappipaneli Oy’s sawmilling business. The 

tangible assets related to that transaction, which will be 

transferred to the buyers in 2010 have been presented 

on the Group balance sheet as assets held for sale. Also 

the liabilities related to those fixed assets are shown in a 

separate balance sheet line as liabilities held for sale.

 

Accounting policies requiring management discre-

tion and key uncertainty factors for estimates

Preparation of the financial statements requires the man-

agement to make estimates, assumptions, and forecasts 

regarding the future. Future developments may deviate 

significantly from the assumptions made if changes occur 

in the business environment and/or business operations. 

In addition, the management is required to use its discre-

tion in the application of the financial statements’ prepara-

tion principles. Ruukki Group is engaged in several differ-

ent lines of business, and each business requires different 

kinds of estimates and assumptions. Group Companies 

vary by their size and they are located both in different 

parts of Finland and abroad. The nature of Ruukki Group’s 

operations essentially involves business acquisitions and 

other arrangements, which often requires the manage-

ment’s discretion in the application of accounting policies.

Allocation of the cost of a business combination

In accordance with IFRS 3, the acquisition cost of an ac-

quired company is allocated to the assets of the acquired 

company. The management has to use estimates when 

determining the fair value of identifiable assets and li-

abilities. Determining a value for intangible assets such as 

trademarks or customer relationships requires estimation 

and discretion because in most cases, no market value 

can be assigned to these assets. Determining fair value 

for tangible assets requires particular discretion as well. 

This is especially the case where the companies are small 

or geographically situated in areas where there are no ac-

tive markets for real property, for instance. In these cases, 

the management has to select an appropriate method 

for determining the value and must estimate future cash 

flows. Similarly, determining the discount rate to be used 

for discounting future cash flows requires discretion.

Determination of the amount of the earn-out and 

contingent liabilities associated with business 

acquisitions

The Group has made a significant number of business ac-

quisitions in the past few years. These acquisitions have 

typically involved contingent considerations, in particular 

in relation to the acquisition of RCS Ltd and Türk Maadin 

Sirketi A.S. as well as Mogale Alloys (Pty) Ltd, either 

subject to a specified future event to occur, or calculated 

and paid on the basis of the future operative profitability 

of the acquired company (earn-out arrangements). The 

discounted estimated contingent considerations have been 

included in the Company’s other liabilities at the time of 

acquisition. The estimates presented in the financial state-

ments may differ from the actual earn-out liability if the 

realise profit or loss of the acquired company differs from 

the estimated profit. Furthermore, the estimated earn-out 

items may differ from the subsequent actual sale prices as 

a result of the discounting of future liabilities.

The earn-out liabilities are reviewed at each balance sheet 

date and adjusted if the estimate has changed, which af-

fects the goodwill and the corresponding contingent con-

sideration liability on the other hand.

Impairment testing

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment, and assess-

ments of whether there are indications of any other asset 

impairment are made at each balance sheet date, and 

more often if needed. The recoverable amounts of cash-

flow-generating units have been determined by means of 

calculations based on value in use. Preparation of these 

calculations requires the use of estimates to predict future 

developments. Future cash flow forecasts are made for a 

five-year period, after which the cash flow growth rate is 

assumed to be zero in all of Group’s cash flow generat-

ing units except for the South African minerals business, 

where a seven percent growth rate assumption has been 

used to reflected South African circumstances and the 

nominal discount rate used in impairment testing.

The forecasts used in the testing are based on the budg-

ets and projections of the operative units, which strive to 

identify any expansion investments and rearrangements. 

Carving out the expansion investments from replacement 

investments and the elimination of their impact from the 

projected figures require the use of discretion. To pre-

pare the estimates, efforts have been made to collect 

background information from the operative business area 

management as well as from different sources describing 

general market activity. The risk associated with the es-

timates is taken into account in the discount rate used. 
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The definition of components of discount rates applied in 

impairment testing requires discretion, such as estimating 

the asset or business related risk premiums and average 

capital structure for each business segment. When deter-

mining the carrying amount of assets to be tested, the 

liabilities that can be allocated to that cash flow generating 

units have been taken into account.

Trade receivable

The individual companies in Ruukki Group make assess-

ments of the recoverability of their trade receivables based 

on known facts, previous experience, and foreseeable fu-

ture events; therefore, the information includes estimates 

made by the management of the companies in question.

Tangible and intangible assets

Ruukki Group management is required to use its discre-

tion when determining the useful lives of various tangi-

ble and intangible assets, which affects the amount of 

depreciation and thereby the balance sheet value of the 

assets concerned. In particular, when the Group acquires 

new subsidiaries, assessments have to be made to make 

the acquired companies’ depreciation policy consistent 

with policy of the Group wherever applicable. Similarly, 

the management is required to use its discretion in de-

termining the useful lives of intangible assets identified in 

accordance with IFRS 3, and in determining the amortisa-

tion period. This affects the financial result for the period 

through depreciation and change in deferred taxes.

Inventories

Those Ruukki Group companies that have inventories 

make, in case needed, an estimate-based non-marketabil-

ity provision for inventories; as a result, the balance sheet 

value of inventories has been changed somewhat. The es-

timates are based on stocktaking as well as the predicted 

future need and inventory turnover rate.

Provisions

Guarantee expenses

The deliveries of prefabricated houses manufactured by 

Ruukki Group’s house building business area involve repair 

liabilities. To estimate these liabilities, the management 

has to prepare estimates based on the historical data of 

the company operating in the division, as well as on expe-

rience of similar realised repair costs.

Rehabilitation provision

As part of the purchase price allocation for the acquisition of 

Mogale Alloys in 2009, the Group has recognised a provision 

for environmental rehabilitation obligations associated with 

Mogale’s plants and facilities. In determining the fair value 

of the provision, assumptions and estimates are made in 

relation to discount rates, the expected cost to rehabilitate 

the area and remove or cover the contaminated soil from 

the site, and the expected timing of those costs, as well as 

whether the obligations stem from Mogale’s past activity.  

Taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of 

complex tax regulations and the amount and timing of 

future taxable income. Given the wide range of interna-

tional business relationships and the long-term nature and 

complexity of existing contractual agreements, differences 

arising between the actual results and the assumptions 

made, or future changes to such assumptions, could ne-

cessitate future adjustments to tax income and expense 

already recorded. The Group establishes provisions, based 

on reasonable estimates, for estimated consequences of 

audits by the tax authorities of the respective countries in 

which it operates. The amount of such provisions is based 

on various factors, such as experience of previous tax 

audits and differing interpretations of tax regulations by 

the taxable entity and the responsible tax authority. Such 

differences of interpretation may arise on a wide variety 

of issues depending on the conditions prevailing in the 

respective group company’s domicile.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax 

losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 

will be available against which the losses can be utilised. 

Significant management judgment is required to determine 

the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, 

based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable 

profits together with future tax planning strategies.

The Group has certain tax losses carry forward. Some of 

these losses relate to subsidiaries that have a history of 

losses and may not be used to offset taxable income else-

where in the Group. There may not be taxable temporary 

differences or any tax planning opportunities available that 

could partly support the recognition of these losses as de-

ferred tax assets.

Share-based payments

For share-based payments, Ruukki Group applies the IFRS 

2 standard, according to which option rights are measured 

at fair value at the time they were granted. Share-based 

payments are recorded as expenses in the profit and loss 

account on a straight-line basis during the vesting pe-

riod until the first potential exercise date of the options. 

Expenses on the option grant date are determined ac-

cording to the Group’s estimate of the number of options 
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expected to vest at the end of the vesting period. The 

Group updates the estimated final number of options on 

each balance sheet date. Changes in the estimates are 

recorded in the profit and loss account. Fair value is deter-

mined using the Black & Scholes option pricing model. The 

management is required to assess the parameters of this 

model in terms of the volatility of the underlying share, 

which is based on historical volatility data.

Moreover, as part of the incentive package of the Group’s 

wood processing segment CEO, during the fourth quarter 

of 2009 shares were granted for free as a signing bonus 

for the segment CEO, and the valuation of that transac-

tion was based on the written employment contract where 

a fixed monetary value was agreed and the amount of 

shares granted was determined by using the previous 

month-end exchange rate.

Segment reporting

IFRS8 ‘Operating Segments’ became effective as of 1 

January 2009. Ruukki Group Plc’s Board of Directors de-

cided at the beginning of 2009 that the Group change its 

segments based on the new IFRS 8. Consequently, from 1 

January 2009 the Group has reported two operating seg-

ments: Minerals business and Wood Processing business.

Reclassifications

The Group decided in conjunction with 2009 financial 

statements to change the way it presents share of associ-

ated profits, sales gains and losses related to associates, 

and impairment on associates’ shares and receivables, to 

the extent they relate to associated companies owned by 

the Group parent company and not belonging to business 

segments. Hence, from 2009 onwards these items are 

presented in finance items below EBIT, when previously 

they have been presented above EBIT in various lines. The 

comparatives of financial year 2008 have been changed 

accordingly as well. The rationale behind the change in 

the way of presenting these items is that these associated 

companies are not material and that they are classified as 

non-core assets.

From 31 December 2009, with retroactive implementation, 

the Group has presented realised and unrealised gains 

and losses in relation to emission rights in other operating 

income above EBIT, whereas earlier those items have been 

included in finance income and finance expense.

Acquisition-related liabilities, both conditional and un-

conditional items, have from 31 December 2009 been 

retroactively presented in interest-bearing liabilities to the 

extent those liabilities are to be settled with cash regard-

less whether the payments are fixed in nominal terms or 

whether there are interest determined in the transaction 

documentation. The earn-out liabilities where the payment 

is in the form of the Company’s shares, no reclassification 

has been carried out, and hence those items are shown in 

the non-interest bearing liabilities category.

Compared to the previous year-end 31 December 2008 the 

reclassifications described above have not had a material

effect.

Application of new or amended IFRS standards

The Group applies new or amended IFRS standards and 

interpretations related to its business activities since their 

effective date.

Amended standards

As the Group has been active in corporate restructuring, 

and might be carrying out mergers and acquisitions or di-

vestments in the future, the revised IFRS3 standard (IFRS 

3R), changes effective from 1 July 2009, that is applied 

to business combinations is expected to have significant 

impact on the Group’s financial position and results for 

future financial periods in relation to new business com-

binations. To the extent the Group realises transaction 

expenses, it will lead to those expenses being recognised 

in the income statement. The Group has also typically car-

ried out acquisitions where there has been earn-out com-

ponents tied to future profitability of the target. Hence, 

if there are deviations between the expected and actual 

outcomes, it could have significant impact of Group’s earn-

ings in various periods, since those estimation changes will 

be reflected in the income statement rather than balance 

sheet as previously.

The other amendments to the standards presented below 

have been or will be taken into account to the relevant 

extent; however, it is expected that no major changes to 

the Group’s financial statements arise from these standard 

changes that have or can have implications to the Group’s 

disclosures:

IAS1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ was  »

changed effective 1 January 2009, which was to a rel-

evant extent reflected in the 2009 financials.

IAS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs’ was changed effective 1  »

January 2009, but it did not have a major impact in 

2009 financial statements even though it was applied 

to certain capital expenditures in 2009.

IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’  »

was changed effective 1 July 2009, but it did not affect 

the Group’s 2009 financial statements.  This standard 

charge affects acquisitions and divestments carried out 

in steps. If the parent company control is still with the 

Group, the changes in subsidiary ownership interest is 

directly recognised in the Group equity, Of these ar-

rangements with minority shareholders, no goodwill 

nor income or expenses though profit and loss are 
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realised. If the control in the subsidiary is lost, any 

investment left will be recognised through profit and 

loss. Moreover, similar bookkeeping is applied to also 

to associated companies and to joint ventures. In the 

future subsidiary losses can be allocated to minority 

shareholders even if they exceed the value of the mi-

nority investment.

IAS 19 standard has been amended, effective 1 January  »

2009, in relation to curtailments and negative past 

service costs, but it did not affect the Group’s 2009 

financial statements.

IAS 39 (and IFRIC 9) has been amended, effective to  »

financial periods ending on or after 30 June 2009, in 

relation to reassessment of embedded derivatives, but 

it did not affect the Group’s 2009 financial statements.

IFRS 2 was changed in relation to vesting conditions  »

and cancellations effective from 1 January 2009, but 

it did not affect the Group’s 2009 financial statements, 

but can impact Group’s future profitability if and when 

new share-based incentive schemes are initiated.

IFRS 7 was changed in relation to improving disclosures  »

about financial instruments effective from 1 January 

2009, which was to a relevant extent reflected in the 

2009 financials.

New IFRIC interpretations

As far as the new IFRIC interpretations are concerned, the 

following changes have been effected:

IFRIC 15 ‘Agreements for the Construction of Real  »

Estate’, effective from 1 January 2009, but its implica-

tions have not led to changes in Group’s accounting 

policies.

IFRIC 16 ‘Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign  »

Operation’, effective from 1 October 2009.

IFRIC 17 ‘Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners’,  »

effective from 1 July 2009.

IFRIC 18 ‘Transfers of Assets from Customers’, trans- »

fers on or after 1 July 2009, which will not be relevant 

to Group’s current operations.

IFRIC 19 ‘Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity  »

Instruments’, effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 July 2010 with earlier application permitted.
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FINANCIAL INDICATORS

Formulas for calculation of indicators 
Return on equity, % Net profit / Total equity (average for the period) 

* 100

Return on capital 

employed, %

Profit before taxes + financing expenses / (bal-

ance sheet total - non-interest bearing liabilities) 

average * 100

Equity ratio, % Total equity / balance sheet - prepayments 

received * 100

Earnings per share, 

basic, EUR

Profit attributable to shareholders of the parent 

company / Average number of shares during 

the period

Earnings per share, 

diluted, EUR

Profit attributable to shareholders of the parent 

company / Average number of shares during the 

period, diluted

Equity per share, EUR Shareholders’ equity / Average number of shares 

during the period

Dividend per share, EUR Dividends / Number of shares at the end of the 

period

Dividend per earnings, % Dividend per share / Earnings per share * 100

Effective dividend 

yield, %

Dividend per share / Share price at the end of 

the period

Price to earnings, EUR Share price at the end of the period / Earnings 

per share

Average share price Total value of shares traded in euro / Number of 

shares traded during the period

Market capitalisation,  

EUR '000

Number of shares * Share price at the end of 

the period

Operating profit Operating profit is the net of revenue plus other 

operating income, plus gain on finished goods 

inventory change, minus employee benefits 

expense, minus depreciation, amortisation and 

impairment and minus other operating expense. 

Foreign exchange gains or losses are included in 

operating profit when generated from ordinary 

activities. Exchange gains or losses related to 

financing activities are recognised as financial 

income or expense.

Gross capital expenditure Gross capital expenditure consists of the 

additions in the acquisition cost of non-current 

tangible and intangible assets as well as addi-

tions resulting from acquisitions.

2009 2008 2007

Group Group
Continuing 
operations

Group
Continuing 
operations

Revenue, EUR '000 193 359 247 361 158 665 213 910 128 378

EBITDA, EUR '000 19 363 17 348 2 087 24 729 17 276

% of revenue 10.0% 7.0% 1.3% 11.6% 13.5%

Operating profit / loss, EUR '000 -24 617 -37 853 -46 939 15 674 12 667

% of revenue -12.7% -15.3% -29.6% 7.3% 9.9%

Profit / loss before taxes, EUR '000 -28 336 -45 891 -41 541 19 158 17 981

% of revenue -14.7% -18.6% -26.2% 9.0% 14.0%

Return on equity, % -7.1% -8.5% -10.8% 5.8% 5.3%

Return on capital employed, % -5.0% -5.8% -7.9% 8.8% 7.0%

Equity ratio, % 52.0% 64.8% 64.8% 85.1% 85.1%

Gross capital expenditure, EUR '000 215 700 241 243 235 411 34 442 12 065

% of revenue 111.6% 97.5% 148.4% 16.1% 9.4%

Personnel, average 824 916 418 866 279

Earnings per share, basic, EUR -0.08 -0.11 -0.14 0.06 0.05

Earnings per share, diluted, EUR -0.08 -0.11 -0.14 0.06 0.05

Equity per share, EUR 1.03 1.20 1.20 1.41 1.41

Dividends, EUR '000 * 9 919 10 055 11 601

Dividend per share, EUR * 0.04 0.04 0.04

Dividend per earnings, % * 68.9%

Effective dividend yield, % 1.4%

Price to earnings, EUR -27.1 -10.6 48.6

Highest share price, EUR 2.68 2.99 3.59

Lowest share price, EUR 1.04 1.02 1.18

Average share price, EUR 1.67 2.03 2.40

Market capitalisation, EUR '000 558 613 333 539 817 896

Turnover, EUR '000 547 018 884 635 623 228

Turnover, % 125.7% 149.9% 89.7%

Average number of shares, (1,000) 250 175 290 034 217 889
Average number of shares, diluted,  
(1,000)

295 456 303 891 221 432

Number of shares at the end of the 
period (1,000)

261 034 290 034 290 034

* In 2009 the Company distributed a capital redemption of EUR 0.04 per share out of the paid-up unrestricted equity reserve and no dividend was 
distributed; in 2010 the Board of the Company has proposed to the AGM that EUR 0.04 per share capital redemption would be paid and that no 
dividend would be distributed
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The Group has two reportable segments (strategic busi-

ness units) which are organised based on their products 

and services. The segments are managed and reviewed 

separately by the Group’s CEO and Board as well as the 

appointed segment CEO’s. 

Management reviews the operating results of its separate 

business segments regularly for the purpose of making de-

cisions about resource allocation and performance assess-

ment. Segment performance is measured based on earn-

ings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation 

(EBITDA) as included in the internal management reports 

and defined consistently with the consolidated EBITDA. 

Moreover, the Board of Directors of the Group’s parent 

company has for the last years emphasised the ability of 

the businesses to generate positive cash flow operations.

In its operations the Group targets to utilise operational 

and financial synergies between the various units, and 

also targets to become a vertically integrated mine-to-

metals producer in its Minerals segment. Hence, there are 

inter-company transactions between the segments’ units. 

Inter-company transactions are carried out based on arm’s 

length logic. There have practically not been any transac-

tions between the two operating segments of the Group, 

i.e. Minerals and Wood Processing, but the Group’s parent 

company has provided funding and administrative services 

for the those segments.

The Group’s other business units are classified under All 

Other Operations section. As of 1 January 2009, the Group 

has changed the presentation of operational segments in 

accordance with IFRS 8 Operating segments so that the 

sawmill business and house building business previously 

reported as separate segments are now presented under 

Wood Processing and the Russian investment projects 

under All Other Operations. Information for the cor-

responding period 2008 has been changed accordingly. 

Investments in associates are presented in the segments 

classified by the nature of their operations. During 2008, 

the Group divested the majority stake in the furniture busi-

ness and all of its care services segments which have been 

presented as discontinued operations.

Over the last years, various corporate restructurings have 

taken place, and a number of mergers, acquisitions and 

divestments have been either concluded or targeted with 

the Group’s parent company having a key role in those 

processes. In 2009 the Board of Directors of Ruukki Group 

Plc decided that expenses of unsuccessful transactions or 

other activities will be allocated to the relevant business 

segments. 

The Group’s operating segments 

are the following:

Minerals segment comprises mining,  »

benefication, processing and smelting of 

ores and metal alloys including chrome 

ore, ferrochrome, silico manganese and 

chromium-iron-nickel alloy. The produc-

tion plants are located in Europe and in 

South Africa. The sales of all production 

units has from the latter half of 2009 

been centralised into the European trad-

ing arm located in Malta, and processes 

have been started to centralise the treas-

ury functions as well; and

Wood Processing segment is engaged in  »

refining natural resources available in the 

coniferous zone of Finland. The segment 

specialises in mechanical production of 

wood-based products including sawmill-

ing products, prefabricated houses and 

loading pallets. Segment’s customers are 

predominantly in Finland, but the sawmill-

ing business units have export operations 

as well.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
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Operating segment information 2009 

Year ended 31.12.2009 Continuing operations

EUR ’000 Minerals Wood Processing All other operations Segments total
Eliminations and  

unallocated items
Consolidated Group

External revenue

Services 278 1 461 1 1 739 0 1 739

Goods sold 70 757 120 863 0 191 620 0 191 620

Total external revenue 71 035 122 324 1 193 359 0 193 359

Inter-segment revenue 0 63 321 384 -384 1 0

Total revenue 71 035 122 387 322 193 744 -384 193 359

Associates (core) 6 0 0 6 0 6

Segment EBITDA 10 380 17 086 -8 104 19 363 0 19 363

Depreciation and amortisation -21 367 -5 535 -57 -26 960 0 -26 960

Impairment, net -19 079 2 059 0 -17 020 0 -17 020

Segment operating profit / loss -30 066 13 610 -8 161 -24 618 0 -24 617

Finance income 5 871

Finance cost -9 306

Associates (non-core) -284

Income taxes 5 609

Profit/loss for the period -22 727

Segment's assets 2 390 005 83 623 362 749 836 378 -273 180 563 198

Segment's liabilities 2 404 944 96 561 44 596 546 101 -268 926 277 175

Other disclosures

Gross capital expenditure 3 202 754 11 989 957 215 700 0 215 700

Investments in associates 27 0 481 507 0 507

Provisions 14 164 128 0 14 292 0 14 292

1. Inter-company items are eliminated on consolidation.
2. The assets and liabilities of the segments represent items that these segments use in their activities or that can be reasonably allocated to them. 
3. Investments consist of increases in tangible and intangible assets whose life is longer than one financial year.
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Minerals segment more detailed information 2009

Continuing operations                                           Minerals

EUR ‘000 Southern Europe South Africa

External revenue

Services 278 0

Goods sold 56 790 13 967

Total external revenue 57 068 13 967

Inter-segment revenue 232 14 235

Total revenue 57 300 28 202

Associates (core) -36 42

Segment EBITDA 9 992 409

Depreciation and amortisation -16 888 -4 479

Impairment, net 0 -19 079

Segment operating profit / loss -6 896 -23 149

Segment's assets 1 307 574 214 526

Segment's liabilities 1 300 312 236 702

1. The assets and liabilities of the segments represent items that these segments use in their activities or that 
can be reasonably allocated to them.

Wood Processing segment more detailed information 2009

Continuing operations  Wood Processing

EUR ‘000 Sawmill business House building Pallet business

External revenue

Services 9 1 076 376

Goods sold 81 045 30 763 9 055

Total external revenue 81 054 31 839 9 431

Inter-segment revenue 1 635 0 0

Total revenue 82 689 31 839 9 431

Associates (core) 0 0 0

Segment EBITDA 8 374 7 182 1 512

Depreciation and amortisation -4 195 -350 -990

Impairment, net 2 059 0 0

Segment operating profit / loss 6 238 6 832 522

Segment's assets 1 58 022 21 361 9 221

Segment's liabilities 1 72 876 23 089 5 572

Wood Processing segment more detailed information 2008

Continuing operations  Wood Processing

EUR ‘000 Sawmill business House building Pallet business

External revenue

Services 0 1 548 503

Goods sold 84 484 48 820 8 711

Total external revenue 84 484 50 368 9 214

Inter-segment revenue 2 640 11 0

Total revenue 87 123 50 379 9 214

Associates (core) 0 0 0

Segment EBITDA 2 340 10 384 1 747

Depreciation and amortisation -6 152 -288 -1 385

Impairment, net -17 949 0 -2 427

Segment operating profit / loss -21 761 10 097 -2 066

Segment's assets 1 61 279 19 318 6 050

Segment's liabilities 1 74 803 17 495 3 036

1. The assets and liabilities of the segments represent items that these segments use in their activities or that 
can be reasonably allocated to them.
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Operating segment information 2008 

Year ended 31.12.2008 Continuing operations Discontinued operations

EUR ’000 Minerals
Wood 

Processing
All other 

operations
Segments total

Furniture 
business

Care services Segments total
Eliminations 

and unallocated 
items

Consolidated 
Group

External revenue

Services 0 2 051 7 2 058 0 10 190 10 190 0 12 248

Goods sold 12 308 142 015 2 300 156 623 78 506 0 78 506 -16 1 235 113

Total external revenue 12 308 144 066 2 308 158 681 78 506 10 190 88 696 -16 247 361

Inter-segment revenue 0 840 381 1 221 0 0 0 -1 221 1 0

Total revenue 12 308 144 906 2 689 159 902 78 506 10 190 88 696 -1 237 247 361

Associates (core) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Segment EBITDA 1 880 14 483 -13 346 3 016 2 125 13 136 15 260 -928 17 348

Depreciation and amortisation -2 880 -7 824 -135 -10 839 -2 959 -369 -3 328 0 -14 168

Impairment, net 0 -20 376 -17 810 -38 187 -2 847 0 -2 847 0 -41 034

Segment operating profit / loss -999 -13 718 -31 292 -46 010 -3 681 12 767 9 085 -929 -37 853

Finance income 16 783

Finance expense -12 958

Associates (non-core) 171

Income taxes 1 171

Profit/loss for the period -32 687

Segment's assets 2 57 943 85 675 453 102 596 721 0 0 0 -33 446 563 275

Segment's liabilities 2 58 210 106 831 71 317 236 358 0 0 0 -29 793 206 565

Other disclosures

Gross capital expenditure ³ 154 787 80 584 39 235 411 4 687 1 146 5 833 0 241 243

Investments in associates 0 0 1 770 1 770 0 0 0 0 1 770

Provisions 5 202 92 0 5 294 0 0 0 0 5 294

1. Inter-segment items are eliminated on consolidation.
2. The assets and liabilities of the segments represent items that these segments use in their activities or that can be reasonably allocated to them. 
3. Investments consist of increases in tangible and intangible assets whose life is longer than one financial year.

Other operations include investment projects, Group headquarters and other operations not included in the two segments reported. In the care services segment’s 2008 EBITDA and EBIT, a gain on disposal resulting from the sale 
of the segment and totalling about EUR 12.0 million is included.
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BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

GROUP COMPANIES

Mogale Alloys (Pty) Ltd

At the end of May, Ruukki Group acquired an effective 

stake of 84.9% in South African ferroalloys producer 

Mogale Alloys. The acquired business has been consoli-

dated into Ruukki Group since the beginning of June 2009. 

The total nominal purchase consideration, at the exchange 

rate prevailing at the date of the payment of purchase 

consideration (EUR/ZAR rate of 11.58) totals some EUR 

162.5 million for the 84.9% share in Mogale.

Based on the timing and contingencies of the various pay-

ments in relation to purchase consideration as well as to

management compensation, cash outflow liabilities can be 

split into the following categories:

(i) ZAR 1,200 million (about EUR 103.7 million at EUR/

ZAR 11.58) paid in cash at the closing date, of which ZAR 

1,125 million was paid to the vendors and ZAR 75 mil-

lion allocated to a trust set up for Mogale’s management. 

In addition about ZAR 24 million was paid as interest 

compensation;

(ii) ZAR 200 million (about EUR 17.3 million) in cash as 

unconditional deferred payment on the first anniversary of 

the closing date, i.e. in May 2010; and

(iii) ZAR 600 million (about EUR 51.8 million) in cash as 

conditional deferred payment via a five-year vendor loan 

arrangement, which includes ZAR 75 million to be allocated 

to Mogale’s management trust. This tranche is payable 

only if and from the date when Mogale receives environ-

mental permits and licences for its four furnaces, with the 

ZAR 600 million split into four furnace –specific tranches. 

Ruukki Group’s new subsidiary Ruukki South Africa 

(Proprietary) Ltd acquired the following shares in the 

Mogale transaction:

a) directly 17.7% of shares in Mogale Alloys (Proprietary) Ltd; 

b) through 100% owned subsidiaries; and

c) through an 49% owned associated company

directly    17.70%

via PGR 17   34.60%

via Dezzo 184   27.70%

via PGR Manganese   4.90%

total effective stake   84.90%

The remaining 15.10% is effectively held by Mogale Alloys 

Trust and PGR Manganese (Pty) Ltd’s major shareholders, 

both of which are controlled or owned by black entrepre-

neurs or Mogale’s employees. Hence, in the transaction, 

South African Black Economic Empowerment legislation 

was taken into account. Since Ruukki South Africa (Pty) 

Ltd ceded 40% of the shares, and rights thereby, of 

Mogale, PGR 17 and Dezzo, it acquired as collateral for 

the unpaid portion of the purchase consideration, at incep-

tion the effective unpledged ownership interest of Ruukki 

totalled 52.90%. 

FINANCIAL YEAR 2009 

Ruukki Group has carried out the following business 

acquisitions and disposals during the financial year 2009: 

Month Segment Transaction description

May Minerals 
Acquisition of an effective stake 
of 84.9% in Mogale Alloys  
(Pty) Ltd

October Wood (sawmills)
Sale of Lappipaneli Oy’s sawmill-
ing business

December Wood (sawmills)
Disposal of the 91.4% stake in 
Tervolan Saha ja Höyläämö Oy

In addition to the abovementioned transactions, the Group’s house 
building business (Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy) acquired some land areas 
in December, which are controlled by Keski-Lapin Kiinteistösijoitus Oy, of 
which the Group owns 100%. However, this transaction was not a busi-
ness combination as defined in IFRS3, but rather is treated under IAS2.

 

Ruukki Group owns 
Mogale both directly and 
via intermediate holding 

companies.
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If the acquisition had taken place with a correspond-

ing holding already on 1 January 2009, this would have 

changed the consolidated figures reported by Ruukki 

Group for the review period 1 January - 31 December 

2009 as follows:

Consolidated revenue EUR +10.5 million (+5.5%)

Consolidated EBIT*  EUR - 4.4 million (-17.9%)

Consolidated net profit * EUR - 3.8 million (-16.6%) 

(all these figures compared with the accounting period 2009 figures 
reported by the Group) 

* when (i) taking into account the depreciations and deferred taxes 
related to purchase price allocations, and (ii) assuming 31 May 2009 
fair values to be valid for the earlier periods as well; and iii) taking 
into account ZAR 150 million management incentive schemes’ accruals 
based portion for 1-5/2009

Ruukki Group prepared a preliminary purchase price al-

location based on the target companies’ balance sheets 

at the date of the conclusion of the deal, which was pub-

lished in August 2009 within the Q2/2009 interim report. 

On 31 December 2009, the Group adjusted the purchase 

price allocation particularly based on changes in Mogale’s 

environmental and rehabilitation provision, based on ad-

ditional analysis pursued post-transaction. This was in 

particular based on analysis whether those liabilities have 

been caused by historical action and operation or whether 

they are future related.

Based on the adjustments above, the following key 

changes have been recognised compared to the balance 

sheet reported earlier:

decrease of goodwill by ZAR 60.3 million (about EUR  »

5.2 million)

decrease of provisions by ZAR 118.4 million (about EUR  »

10.2 million)

decrease of deferred taxes by ZAR 44.2 million (about  »

EUR 3.8 million)

The target companies’ adjusted balance sheets as well 

as the assets and liabilities recognised in the purchase 

price allocation process on 31 December 2009 are 

presented on the next page. The figures include, to 

some extent, transactions between those parties 

and hence cannot be simply added up.

 

The goodwill recognised as a consequence of the transac-

tion is based on the following factors:

the utilisation of Ruukki Group’s internal resources and  »

sales channels for the sales and logistics operations 

thereby saving expenses, and therefore a total of about 

EUR 24.4 million of the goodwill recognised in conjunc-

tion with Mogale acquisition has been reallocated to 

Southern European Minerals business, i.e. to another 

cash generating unit which reaps those benefits, based 

on the present value of the expected synergy gains; 

a broader portfolio of alloys providing the Group with  »

new and better opportunities to change its production 

and redirect resources to optimise profit margins;

the knowledge of management and employees of the  »

acquired company generating cost savings and higher 

returns, thus one key component of the deal has been 

to structure a five-year incentive package for key man-

agement and employees;

providing access to the infrastructure, including but not  »

limited to the supply of electricity;

a platform for future expansion, which decreases the  »

lead time to expand the current business or to ad-

just the business model in accordance with market 

conditions.

In the following tables, and when calculating the total 

purchase consideration and when converting the balance 

sheet of the acquired business, the exchange rate at the 

time of transaction has been used. The exchange rate 

used at the end of December to convert the balance sheet 

differs from this; hence, the translation differences have 

been recognised in Group equity.

In addition to transaction value, ZAR 150 million has been 

allocated to the Mogale management incentives scheme 

rather than to purchase consideration, and that is ex-

pensed over a five-year term.

At the end of 2009, the Board of Directors of Ruukki Group 

Plc resolved, based on IAS 36 impairment testing results, 

that an impairment of goodwill of about ZAR 208 million 

(EUR 19.1 million) was recognised in relation to the Mogale 

Alloys transaction.

C
O

N
S

O
L
ID

A
T

E
D

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

T
A

T
E

M
E

N
T

S



64

A revised preliminary purchase price allocation of the acquisition:

EUR ‘000 ZAR ‘000

Fair value of acquired 
assets

FV adjustments
Book value before 

acquisition
Fair value of acquired 

assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 21 959 8 299 13 660 254 185

Intangible assets

Technology 31 964 31 964 0 370 000

Clientele 12 699 12 699 0 147 000

Financial assets 321 321 3 711

66 943 52 962 13 981 774 896

Current assets

Inventories 9 528 9 528 110 288

Trade and other receivables 6 153 6 153 71 222

Tax receivables 314 314 3 634

Cash and cash equivalents 4 244 4 244 49 127

20 238 0 20 238 234 270

Total assets 87 181 52 962 34 219 1 009 166

Non-current liabilities

Loans 0 0 4

Finance lease obligation 658 658 7 613

Deferred tax liability 17 247 14 829 2 418 199 646

17 905 14 829 3 076 207 264

Current liablities

Trade and other payables 4 600 4 600 53 247

Provisions 7 048 -2 057 9 106 81 590

Income taxes 1 672 1 672 19 353

13 320 -2 057 15 378 154 189

Total liabilities 31 226 12 772 18 454 361 454

Net assets 55 955 40 190 15 766 647 712

On 31 December 2009, Mogale had some ZAR 78.0 million worth of active unused banking, guarantee and loan facilities from a financial institution, 
corresponding to EUR 7.3 million at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the financial year (EUR/ZAR rate of 10.67).

 

EUR ‘000 ZAR ‘000

Purchase consideration, paid 98 265 1 137 461

Purchase consideration, unpaid 61 556 712 539

Interest 2 084 24 119

Stamp duty 400 4 625

Transaction costs 1 673 19 365

Acquisition cost 163 976 1 898 109

Acquisition cost 163 976 1 898 109
Ruukki's direct share of net 
assets 44 838 519 023
Ruukki's indirect share of net 
assets 2 718 31 462
Goodwill 116 420 1 347 625

Net cash outflow on the 
acquisition:
Cash consideration for the 
acquisition -99 272 -1 149 119
Management remuneration -6 479 -75 000

Ruukki's share of acquired cash 4 244 49 127

Net cash flow effect -101 507 -1 174 993

 

MOGALE ALLOYS (PTY) LTD
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Lappipaneli Oy

Lappipaneli Oy concluded in the fourth quarter of 2009 

the sale of its sawmilling assets to Pölkky Oy, Pölkky 

Metsä Kmo Oy and Kitkawood Oy. Inventories were sold in 

October 2009 and the transfer of fixed assets is expected 

to happen in April 2010. The consideration for Lappipaneli’s 

gross assets totaled EUR 14.6 million. The consideration is 

to be paid in installments, to a major extent during the 

fourth quarter of 2009 and April 2010.

Tervolan Saha ja Höyläämö Oy

As part of refocusing the Group’s Wood Processing busi-

ness, Ruukki Group’s subsidiary Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy entered 

on 20 November 2009 into an agreement to sell its 91.4% 

stake in Tervolan Saha ja Höyläämö Oy (“TSH”).The effec-

tive date for the transfer of the shares was 31 December 

2009. In conjunction with the deal, the call option agree-

ment with TSH’s minority shareholders was dissolved. The 

consideration for the shares totalled approximately EUR 

4.1 million, and was paid in cash in December.

RCS Ltd and Türk Maadin Sirketi A.S.

Related to the October 2008 acquisition of RCS Ltd and 

Türk Maadin Sirketi A.S., there is an earn-out purchase 

price component linked to the financial results of the com-

panies in 2009 – 2013. At the end of 2009, the actual 2009 

financial results and revised forecasts for 2010 – 2013 

have been taken into account, and thus the total purchase 

consideration has been revised down by EUR 21.7 million 

compared to the corresponding total expected liability at 

year-end 2008. The earn-out, sum, if positive, has to be 

paid in Ruukki shares, for which a fixed (with dividend and 

capital redemption adjustment) exercise price has been set 

(on 31 December 2009: EUR 2.26 per share). Therefore, 

on 31 December 2009 altogether 22,774,441 (31.12.2008: 

39,725,720) shares was estimated to be given as earn-out 

payment to the seller based on revised forecasts of the 

target companies’ future results. The fair value of these 

shares has been determined to be EUR 1.28 per share 

based on the market price of the share on 28 October 

2008, the date of the Company’s General Meeting. 

Elektrowerk Weisweiler GmbH

On the consolidated balance sheet on 31 December 2009, 

Ruukki Group Plc assumed that the option rights in rela-

tion to Elektrowerk Weisweiler would be exercised in 2018. 

The nominal exercise price was determined by using judg-

ment and a simplified valuation model based on so-called 

Stuttgarter Verfahren model. At the end of 2009, this com-

ponent changed due to discounting.

Associates

As part of refocusing the Group’s core business and strat-

egy, Ruukki Group sold its 37.5% stake in Cybersoft Oy 

to Headpower Oy in an all-cash transaction. The effective 

date for the transfer of the shares was 1 November 2009.  

The consideration of the shares totalled about EUR 0.9 mil-

lion and the transaction generated a sales gain of EUR 0.5 

million. In addition, there are potential earn-out elements 

related to the transaction which have not been taken into 

account in the consolidated financial statements.

Other corporate activity

Pyyn Liikehuoneisto Oy, a subsidiary of Junnikkala Oy op-

erating in the Wood Processing business, was merged into 

its parent company in January 2009.

During December 2009, Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy terminated the 

put options it had written in relation to the Junnikkala 

acquisition after which it only has the call option left in 

accordance with the original transaction agreements. This 

led to a EUR 5.3 non-recurring income positively affecting 

both the EBITDA and EBIT.

   

PSL Räinä Oy, a fully owned subsidiary of Oplax Oy, was 

merged into its parent company in November.
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FINANCIAL YEAR 2010

Intermetal

In February 2010 Ruukki Group Plc’s Turkish subsidiary, 

Türk Maadin Sirketi A.S., acquired 99% of the shares in 

Intermetal Madencilik ve Ticaret A.S.. The rationale of the 

transaction was to expand the Group’s chrome ore reserves 

potential in Turkey. Hence, to the extent that the purchase 

consideration exceeded the value of target company’s net 

assets on its balance sheet the residual was recognised on 

the Group balance sheet as minerals reserves. Intermetal 

has six chrome ore exploration and exploitation licenses 

with a total land area of about 5,000 hectares. There is 

no external quantification of the total minerals reserve of 

Intermetal’s licence areas. 

In 2009, Intermetal’s revenue was approximately EUR 1.8 

million, EBITDA EUR 12.4 thousand and net profit EUR 9.3 

thousand when using the average exchange rate of 2.1631 

for EUR/TRY.

The purchase consideration of the Intermetal shares was 

close to USD 0.5 million (about EUR 0.3 million), and was 

paid in cash.

Other corporate activity

In the beginning of 2010, certain initiatives have been 

taken targeted to dissolve or merge some non-active 

Finnish subsidiaries.

EUR ‘000
Fair value of 

acquired assets
Book value be-
fore acquisition

Intangible assets 7 7

Property, plant and equipment

Machinery and equipment 119 119

Ore reserves 61 0

Other tangible assets 193 193

Inventories 14 14

Trade and other receivables 87 87

Cash and cash equivalents 27 27

Total assets 508 447

Deferred tax liability 12 0

Current liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 130 130

Trade and other payables 29 29

Total liabilities 172 159

Net assets 336 287

INTERMETAL

EUR ‘000

Acquisition cost 336

Net assets 336

Goodwill 0

Net cash outflow on the acquisition:

Consideration paid in cash 336

Acquired cash and cash equivalents -27

Cash flow 309
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GROUP COMPANIES

Junnikkala Oy

The Group’s sawmill business area acquired a 51% inter-

est in Junnikkala Oy and the Group it forms in January. 

Junnikkala Oy was consolidated into Ruukki Group as a 

100% subsidiary based on a share option arrangement 

as of February. Junnikkala Oy practises saw milling and 

the further processing of sawn wood mainly targeted 

for the prefabricated housing business. At the same 

time, Junnikkala Oy acquired all shares of Pyyn Saha ja 

Höyläämö Oy, which operates in Oulainen. It was merged 

into its parent company on 1 October.

If the acquisition had taken place with a corresponding 

holding already on 1 January 2008, it would have changed 

the consolidated figures reported by Ruukki Group for 

the accounting period 1 January - 31 December 2008 as 

follows:

Consolidated revenue    + EUR 3.384 million (+1.4%)

Consolidated EBIT*       + EUR 118,000 (0%)

Consolidated net profit  + EUR 47,000 (0%) 
(all these figures compared with the accounting period 2008 figures 
reported by the Group) 

* when (i) taking into account the depreciation and deferred taxes 
related to purchase price allocations, and (ii) assuming 31 January 
2008 fair values to be valid for the earlier periods as well

If the Junnikkala Group had been consolidated into Ruukki 

Group’s sawmill business already on 1 January 2008, the 

business area’s revenue would have been EUR 99.7 million 

(+3.5% compared with the business area’s 2008 revenue) 

and EBIT about EUR -23.6 million (+0.5% compared with 

the business area’s 2008 EBIT). 

The acquisition generated EUR 2.5 million goodwill, which 

was based on synergies expected to be gained, e.g. from 

wood procurement, cooperation in export markets and 

potentially from rationalisation measures in administration 

to be taken in the future. According to the preliminary 

purchase price allocation, the acquisition generated EUR 

5.4 million goodwill, which was written off in conjunction 

with the impairment test carried out on 30 September. 

Consequently, there was no goodwill on the Group’s balance 

sheet on 31 December 2008. The difference in goodwill 

between the preliminary and final purchase price allocation 

was recognised by decreasing the value of the clientele. 

Pan-Oston Oy

In January, Ruukki Group sold all the shares of its metal 

industry subsidiary, Pan-Oston Oy, in an all-cash transac-

tion and recognised a gain on disposal totalling about EUR 

0.7 million.

Selka-line Oy

On 29 August, Ruukki Group’s metal industry subsidiary, 

Alumni Oy, sold 80.6% of the share capital of Selka-line 

Oy, a company operating in the metal contract furniture 

and furniture component businesses, to the company’s 

Managing Director Ismo Räty. Ruukki Group’s share in the 

company decreased from 100% to 19.4%, and Selka-line 

was consolidated into Ruukki Group up until the end of 

FINANCIAL YEAR 2008 

Ruukki Group has carried out the following business 

acquisitions and disposals during the financial year 2008: 

Month Segment * Transaction description

January Wood (sawmills) Acquisition of a 51.02% (51.06% of 
votes) stake in Junnikkala Oy 

January Non-segment Disposal of Pan-Oston Oy

July Non-segment Disposal of Mikeva Oy and the group 
it formed

August Non-segment Disposal of an 80.6% stake in 
Selka-line Oy

September Wood  
(house building)

Acquisition of 9.9% in Pohjolan 
Design-Talo Oy

September Wood  
(house building)

Acquisition of all the business opera-
tions of Gloria House Finland Oy

October Minerals Acquisition of a 100% stake in RCS 
Ltd and a 98.75% stake in Türk 
Maadin Sirketi A.S.

October Wood (pallet) Acquisition of 100% of PSL Räinä Oy

December Non-segment Disposal of a 23% stake in Incap 
Furniture Oy

* segments following 2009 segment reporting structure
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The following assets and liabilities were recognised relat-

ing to the acquisition:

EUR ‘000
Fair value of 

acquired assets
Book value before 

acquisition

Intangible assets

Clientele 3 869 0

Emission allowances 795 0

Order book 104 0

Other intangible assets 318 318

Property, plant and equipment

Land and water 730 730

Buildings and constructions 6 243 6 243

Machinery and equipment 13 984 13 984

Investments 59 59

Other tangible assets 687 687

Current assets

Inventories 11 761 10 873
Non-interest bearing 
receivables

12 296 10 731

Cash and cash equivalents 415 415

Total assets 51 260 44 040

Interest-bearing liabilities 16 811 16 811

Non-interest bearing payables

Deferred tax liability 1 470 0
Other non-interest bearing 
payables

10 538 10 538

Total liabilities 28 820 28 696

Net assets 22 440 15 344

 

JUNNIKKALA OY

EUR ‘000

Acquisition cost 24 902

Net assets 22 440

Goodwill 2 462

Net cash outflow on the acquisition:

Consideration paid in cash 5 740

Acquired cash and cash equivalents -415

Cash flow 5 326
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August. The sales price of the shares was EUR 10,000 and 

the gain on disposal some EUR 150,000. The revenue of 

Selka-line totalled approximately EUR 2.9 million in 2007 

and the operating profit was slightly positive. The transac-

tion did not have a significant effect on the Group’s income 

statement or balance sheet.

Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy

Ruukki Group Plc’s Board of Directors decided in September 

to strengthen the house building business operations 

by redeeming all the minority shareholder’s shares in its 

subsidiary, and by acquiring the business of Gloria House 

Finland Oy. Ruukki Group Plc acquired 9.9% of Pohjolan 

Design-Talo Oy from Kimmo Kurkela, its Managing Director, 

with approximately a EUR 6.1 million cash consideration. 

The share of the purchase price exceeding the minority 

interest, about EUR 6 million, was recognised as goodwill. 

After the transaction, Ruukki Group Plc owns all the shares 

in Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy. Moreover, Pohjolan Design-Talo 

Oy entered into a preliminary agreement to acquire, by the 

end of 2008 at the latest, all the business operations and 

related intellectual property rights of Gloria House Finland 

Oy, with a fixed cash consideration of EUR 0.3 million. The 

transaction was completed in November.
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RCS Ltd and Türk Maadin Sirketi A.S.

Ruukki Group Plc purchased 99.93% and its subsidiary 

Rekylator Oy 0.07% of the shares of the Maltese company 

RCS Ltd; further, Ruukki Group Plc purchased 98.75% of 

the shares of the Turkish company Türk Maadin Sirketi 

A.S. from Kermas Ltd. Ruukki Group Plc paid as a purchase 

consideration EUR 80 million in cash at the closing and will 

pay, as a potential additional earn-out purchase consid-

eration, 50% of the combined net profit of RCS and TMS 

over a five-year period covering the financial years 2009 

– 2013. The maximum total earn-out consideration is EUR 

150 million. In addition, the transaction includes a long-

term ferrochrome toll manufacturing agreement between 

RCS Ltd and the German Elektrowerk Weisweiler GmbH 

(EWW), a put option for two years related to the shares of 

Türk Maadin Sirketi A.S., and a call option related to the 

shares of Elektrowerk Weisweiler GmbH after five years.

The purchased Minerals business became a separately 

reported business segment, which was consolidated into 

Ruukki Group from the beginning of November 2008. Also, 

EWW has been consolidated into the Ruukki Group even 

though the share of ownership is 0% and even though 

the exercise period of the EWW option only starts on 1 

January 2014, since based on the IFRS SIC-12 principles 

and on a comprehensive view of the target, the signs of 

control are estimated to exist.

Related to the acquisition, Ruukki Group Plc has issued 

73,170,731 option rights to the seller, Kermas Ltd, based 

on the General Meeting resolution on 28 October 2008. 

These options can be exercised only on the condition that 

the companies acquired generate positive net results, and 

are based on a EUR 2.30 per share exercise price with 

dividend adjustment mechanism. Based on estimates, as 

confirmed by Ruukki Group Plc’s Board of Directors, for 

2009 – 2013 profits of the acquired entities and assuming 

the maximum dividend adjustment of the share purchase 

agreements, 39,725,720 shares were, on 31 December 

2008, estimated to be given as earn-out payment to the 

seller. The fair value of these shares has been determined 

to be EUR 1.28 per share based on the market price of 

the share on 28 October 2008, the date of the company’s 

General Meeting. There is no resolution as to the exercise 

of option rights related to Elektrowerk Weisweiler GmbH. 

Moreover, the exercise price of the option rights on that 

company are not fixed in advance; however, the exer-

cise price will be based on the fair value of Elektrowerk 

Weisweiler GmbH, which will be separately determined 

in the future. In the consolidated balance sheet on 31 

December 2008, Ruukki Group Plc assumed that option 

rights would be exercised in 2018. The nominal exercise 

price was determined by using judgment and a valuation 

model.

If the business entity had been acquired in a correspond-

ing way already on 1 January 2008, it would have changed 

the consolidated figures reported by Ruukki Group for 

the accounting period 1 January - 31 December 2008 as 

follows:

Consolidated revenue   + EUR 98 million (+39%)

Consolidated EBIT*      + EUR 12 million (+31%)

Consolidated net profit  + EUR 11 million (+34%)
(all these figures compared with the accounting period 2008 figures 
reported by the Group)

* when (i) taking into account the depreciations and deferred taxes 
related to purchase price allocations, and (ii) assuming 31 January 
2008 fair values to be valid for the earlier periods as well

The purchased 
Minerals business became a 
separately reported business 

segment
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The following assets and liabilities were recognised relat-

ing to the acquisition:

EUR ‘000
Fair value of 

acquired assets
Book value before 

acquisition

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Intangible assets 260 260

Clientele 66 587 0

Technology 5 573 0

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings 4 741 1 519

Machinery and equipment 3 110 1 181

Other tangible assets 1 170 1 170

Ore reserves 10 435 0

Financial Assets 15 657 15 657

Deferred tax assets 2 009 1 615

109 542 21 402

Current assets

Inventories 20 135 16 789

Order book 237 0
Receivables 16 870 16 870
Cash and cash equivalents 8 576 8 576

45 818 42 235

Total assets 155 362 63 637

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities 87 87
Provisions 17 716 15 746

Deferred tax liabilities 30 308 683

Current liabilities 23 768 23 768

Total liabilities 71 880 40 284

Net assets 83 482 23 353

 

RCS LTD AND TüRK MAADIN SIRKETI A.S.

EUR ‘000

Acquisition cost 144 571

Net assets 83 482

Goodwill 61 089

Net cash outflow on the acquisition:

Consideration paid in cash 84 889

Acquired cash and cash equivalents -8 576

Cash flow 76 313

Related to the acquisition, Ruukki Group recognised about 

EUR 61.1 million goodwill based on the following factors:

As part of the transaction, Ruukki Group Plc acquired a  »

mining company operating in Turkey with mining sites 

and ore reserves in a number of Turkish locations. To 

the extent that external experts’ geological and other 

surveys have established proven or probable quantities 

of ore reserves, the reserves have been recognised as 

a separate asset on Ruukki Group’s balance sheet. The 

value of ore reserves at the time of acquisition was de-

termined to be EUR 10.4 million. However, there are no 

certain survey data on reserves below the surface, even 

though they might have major significance according to 

the studies; hence goodwill has been recognised.

In implementing the acquisition, Ruukki Group’s target  »

was to create a combined business consisting of the 

acquired companies so that as tight integration as pos-

sible can be achieved. The Group will get efficiency and 

cost gains from the increase in operational integration, 

which also enables diminishing the relative importance 

of external service and goods providers thus giving 

added value into the Group. Via the acquisition, it is 

possible to gain with the ferrochrome business econo-

mies of scale - something that has not been possible in 

the past, for example in the production of chrome ore 

concentrate. 

To a certain extent, Ruukki Group can utilise the same  »

global agent or trade house channels, which can lead 

to added value or cost savings in the operations of the 

Group’s wood products businesses.

Since at the time of the acquisition Ruukki Group’s  »
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cash reserves were significant, the expansion into the 

Minerals business has enlarged the Group’s investment 

opportunities; as a result, the Group can make such 

investments or acquisitions that it could not make 

previously.

The acquisition of the Minerals business increases the  »

debt capacity of the Group, diversifies business risks, 

and consequently can affect the stability and poten-

tially also the predictability of cash flows. This can lead 

to more optimal capital structure and tax benefits. 

PSL Räinä Oy

Oplax Oy, a subsidiary of Ruukki Group’s sawmill busi-

ness, entered on 31 October 2008 into an agreement to 

acquire the entire share capital of PSL Räinä Oy, located 

in Rovaniemi, and which operates in the wooden loading 

pallets business. PSL Räinä Oy was consolidated into the 

Group as of November.

If the acquisition of PSL Räinä Oy had taken place with 

a corresponding holding already on 1 January 2008, this 

would have increased the Group’s revenue by about EUR 

2 million. Otherwise, the acquisition would not have had a 

material effect on the Group’s reported figures.

The acquisition generated goodwill EUR 40 thousand, 

which is based on expected synergies to be generated by 

cost savings from streamlining the administrative functions 

and lowering the prices of sawn timber due to higher pro-

curement volumes.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Mikeva Oy

At the end of June, Ruukki Group entered into an agree-

ment to sell all the shares of Mikeva Oy, the parent 

company of its care services business, to DF-Care Oy. 

The transaction was closed at the beginning of July. The 

business was presented in the Group’s 2008 income state-

ment as a discontinued operation. The net gain on dis-

posal amounted to EUR 12 million. The cash consideration 

paid in July to Ruukki Group Plc by the buyer was EUR 

10.2 million. According to the transaction, Ruukki Group 

Plc’s receivables from the sold subsidiary have been con-

verted into non-interest-bearing vendor notes, whose total 

nominal amount is about EUR 3.8 million, and given to the 

buyer to be paid back in arrears over the next three years. 

Moreover, Ruukki Group Plc has, until the end of 2012, a 

call option to buy up to 5% of the buyer’s shares.

Incap Furniture Oy

Ruukki Group decreased its stake in the furniture business 

by selling altogether 23% of the shares in Incap Furniture 

Oy, the parent company of its furniture business, with 

a total cash consideration of EUR 200 on 29 December 

2008. After the transaction, Ruukki Group owns 48.3% of 

Incap Furniture Oy’s shares and the company is currently 

the Group’s associated company. Net gain on disposal 

amounted to EUR 5.2 million, which was fully recognised 

against impairment losses on the furniture business’ prop-

erty, plant and equipment recognised in September 2008.

 

 

 

 

The combined results and cash flows of the discontinued 

operations are set out on the next page. The comparative 

figures include care services and furniture business profit, 

and cash flows for the previous financial year. 

Associates

Ruukki Group Plc’s former associates, Lanux Oy, Orienteq 

Capital Oy and SG Systems Oy, closed down their opera-

tions during the financial year 2008.
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The following assets and liabilities were recognised relat-

ing to the acquisition:

EUR ‘000
Fair value of 

acquired assets
Book value before 

acquisition

Intangible assets

Clientele 368 0

Property, plant and equipment 33 33

Inventories 252 252

Receivables

Trade receivables 386 386

Other receivables 11 11

Cash and cash equivalents 0 0

Total assets 1 050 682

Deferred tax liability 96 0

Current liabilities

Trade payables 91 91

Other liabilities 335 335

Total liabilities 522 426

Net assets 528 256

Acquisition cost 568

Net assets 528

Goodwill 40

Net cash outflow on the 
acquisition:
Consideration paid in cash 568
Acquired cash and cash 
equivalents 0
Cash flow 568

 

EUR ‘000 1.1.-31.12.2008 1.1.-31.12.2007

Revenue 88 696 85 532

Other operating income 2 347 6 282

Operating expenses -93 991 -88 808

Operating profit -2 947 3 007

Finance income and expense -1 402 -1 830

Profit before tax -4 349 1 177

Income tax 997 -51

Net profit -3 352 1 126
Gains on disposals of discontin-
ued operations

12 033 0

Profit from discontinued 
operations

8 680 1 126

Cash flows from discontin-
ued operations
Cash flow from operating 
activities

6 919 -4 158

Cash flow from investing 
activities

-3 973 1 016

Cash flow from financing 
activities

-3 761 3 326

Net cash flows -815 183

 

PSL RäINä OY DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
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GENERAL PRINCIPLES OF IMPAIRMENT 
TESTING

Ruukki Group has carried out impairment testing on good-

will and other assets as of 31 December 2009. During 

2008 the Group carried out impairment testing as of 31 

December 2008, and additionally due to market circum-

stances also on 30 September 2008. For the impairment 

testing as of 31 December 2009 the following cash gener-

ating units were identified, which quite closely resembles 

the cash generating units used in the 2008 impairment 

testing:

Cash generating units belonging to Minerals business:

Southern European Minerals Processing business (RCS,  »

Türk Maadin Sirketi and Elektrowerk Weisweiler) with a 

vertically integrated mining-beneficiation-smelting-sales 

operation in the specialty grade ferrochrome business 

and having an annual capacity of about 30,000 metric 

tons; and

South African Minerals Processing business (Ruukki  »

South Africa and Mogale Alloys), which has ferroalloys 

smelting operations with four furnaces and with a to-

tal capacity of about 96MVA corresponding to about 

110,000 metric tons per year production capacity.

Cash generating units belonging to Wood Processing 

segment:

House building business (Pohjolan Design-Talo and  »

subsidiaries), producing and selling wooden ready-

to-move-in houses into the Finnish market mainly for 

private families; and

Sawmill business (Junnikkala), which has sawmills  »

in Kalajoki and Oulainen producing sawn timber and 

further processed products from pine and spruce with 

annual capacity of about 300,000 m3 with sales into 

domestic and export markets; and

Pallet business (Oplax) producing and selling wooden  »

loading pallets and related logistical services.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether 

there is any indication that assets may be impaired. If any 

such indication exists, the recoverable amount of these 

assets is estimated. Moreover, the recoverable amount of 

any goodwill and unfinished investment projects will be 

estimated annually, at the end of the year, irrespective of 

whether there is an indication of impairment. At the finan-

cial year-end 2009 sawmill business and pallet business, 

two of the abovementioned cash generating units, did not 

have any goodwill on their balance sheet nor any indica-

tion of impairment, and they were not tested.

Changes in goodwill during 2009

During financial year 2009 the total goodwill of the Group 

increased by approximately EUR 86.4 million net, as com-

pared to the end of financial year 2008, to a total of EUR 

172.9 million.

Related to certain acquisitions there are earn-out liabilities 

or deferred liabilities, which are conditional upon future 

years’ results of the target entity. The amounts of earn-

outs are revised when the actual target company results 

are finalised or in case there is reason to believe that the 

original assumptions and forecasts used for the determi-

nation of these earn-outs have changed. Changes made 

in earn-outs have affected the amount of goodwill during 

2009 mainly due to the change in future profit estimates 

for the Southern European Minerals Processing business. 

In the impairment testing process, the Group has reallo-

cated about EUR 24.4 million of the goodwill recognised in 

conjunction with the Mogale Alloys acquisition from South 

African minerals CGU to the Southern European minerals 

CGU based on the present value of the expected synergy 

gains to be benefited by the Southern European minerals 

CGU due to Mogale Alloys acquisition.

Reversal of earlier impairment on other assets dur-

ing 2009

In 2008 the Group recognised impairment losses on 

non-current tangible assets for its sawmill business and 

pallet business. Based on the actual realisation of the non-

current assets, the Group reversed some of those earlier 

impairment losses by a total amount of EUR 2.1 million in 

relation to the divestment of Lappipaneli Oy’s assets to 

external parties.

The methodology applied in impairment testing

For all cash generating units, which have been tested for 

impairment, the value in use has been calculated by dis-

counting estimated future net cash flows that have been 

based on the conditions and assumptions prevailing at the 

IMPAIRMENT TESTING

During the financial 
year the total goodwill of 

the Group increased

C
O

N
S

O
L
ID

A
T

E
D

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

T
A

T
E

M
E

N
T

S



74

time of the testing. In certain cases the Group has applied 

the net realisable value approach, as an example when 

testing the associated companies’ values.

Future cash flows have been projected for a 5-year period 

after which a zero percent growth assumption has been 

used for all European assets. As far as the Group’s South 

African assets are concerned, a fixed 7% per annum nomi-

nal growth rate has been applied to reflect local inflation 

and the discount rate used. For the terminal year after 

the 5-year estimation period the essential assumptions 

(e.g. revenue, variable costs and fixed costs) have been 

based at the estimation period’s last year figures excluding 

inflation adjustments. To take into account possible varia-

tions in the amount or timing of cash flows, the price for 

bearing uncertainty and other factors like illiquidity of the 

assets, adjustments are made to the discount rate used in 

discounting the projected future cash flows.

The weighted average cost of capital (WACC) has been 

calculated separately for each cash generating unit and 

testable asset taking into account unit-specific risk factors, 

each businesses typical capital structures, investors’ av-

erage required rate of return for similar investments and 

company size and operational location related factors, as 

well as the prevailing risk-free interest rates and required 

margins for debt financing. The Group has used publicly 

available information to get market information on the 

peer group companies’ capital structure, risk premium and 

other factors. As there are not perfect matches available, 

to fully incorporate all specific aspects of the assets, peer 

group averages have been used, and moreover, asset-

specific risks added where applicable.

The changes in goodwill during 2009 are described below:

 EUR ’000
Minerals,  

Southern Europe
Minerals,  

South Africa
Wood,  

House building
Group Total

Goodwill 1.1.2009 61 830 0 25 418 87 248

Acquisitions 116 420 116 420

Reallocation between CGUs 24 390 -24 390 0

Changes in earn-out liabilities -21 698 105 -21 592

Impairment -19 079 -19 079

Exchange rate movement 9 462 9 462

Other changes 333 333

Goodwill 31.12.2009 64 914 82 413 25 523 172 850

The changes in goodwill during 2008 are presented below:

 EUR ’000
Minerals,  
Southern 

Europe

Wood,  
House

building

Wood,  
Sawmill 

business

Wood,  
Pallet 

business

Continued 
operations

Other 
businesses

Discontinued 
operations

Group 
total

Goodwill 1.1.2008 0 19 518 6 554 1 239 27 310 1 460 5 669 34 440

Acquisitions 61 830 5 918 5 470 40 73 258 73 258

Divestments 0 -1 460 -5 665 -7 125
Changes in earn-out 
liabilities -18 -218 -236 -5 -241

Impairment -11 805 -1 279 -13 084 -13 084

Goodwill 31.12.2008 61 830 25 418 0 0 87 248 0 0 87 248

Goodwill was split in the following way on balance sheet dates 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008:

EUR´000 31.12.2009 % 31.12.2008 % Change

Minerals business 147 327 85.2% 61 830 70.9% 85 497

Wood Processing business 25 523 14.8% 25 418 29.1% 105

Total continuing operations 172 850 100.0% 87 248 100.0% 85 603

 

Goodwill as a ratio of the Group’s equity has been the following on 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008: 

EUR´000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Goodwill 172 850 87 248

Equity 286 022 356 710

Goodwill/Equity, % 60% 24%
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The information used in the 31 December 2009 impair-

ment testing is based on subsidiary management future 

forecasts, on general third-party industry expert or analyst 

reports where available and to the extent possible, on cur-

rent business and asset base excluding any non-committed 

expansion plans. Moreover, peer group market data has 

been utilised to determine certain components, such as 

beta coefficients, of the WACC. The market interest rates 

have been changed from previous year-end to reflect the 

rates applicable on 31 December 2009.

The functional currencies of the cash generating units 

have been used, which has been EUR for all the other 

assets than the Turkish minerals business, where Turkish 

lira has been converted into EUR, and the South African 

minerals business, where ZAR has been used for all cash 

flows and for carrying amount as well. By using the local 

currency and related South African economic indicators to 

determine the discount rate also the country-specific risk 

component has been taken into account.

The key reasons for the changes in the discount rates 

compared to 2008 are the following, the effect in paren-

theses presenting the impact to house building business 

discount rate:

changes in market interest rate (decrease) »

change in the assumed debt/funding margin  »

(decrease)

update of the risk premia, asset specific and general  »

market related (decrease)

The results of impairment testing have been evaluated by 

comparing the cash generating units’ recoverable amount 

to the corresponding carrying amount based on the follow-

ing judgment rules:

Recoverable amount 

divided by

the carrying amount Conclusion

< 100%   Impairment 

101-120%  Slightly above

121-150%  Clearly above

> 150%    Significantly above

Pre-tax discount rates used in 2009 impairment testing were the following: 

Pre-tax discount rate

Segment 2009 (2008)
Risk-free 
interest

Average 
equity-%

Revelered 
Beta multiplier

Asset specific 
risks total *

Southern European Minerals 16.1% (17.8%) 4.25% 82.7% 1.40 2.50%

South African Minerals 22.6% - 9.13% 82.7% 1.35 1.50%

House building 11.8% (12.6%) 3.44% 55.8% 0.90 2.50%
 
* total in addition to the WACC applied, including factors like: company size, liquidity of assets, customer concentration risks, stability of cash flows
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Results of the impairment testing done at 31 December 2009

 

The results of the impairment testing were the following: 

Cash generating unit
Goodwill,
 EUR ’000 

pre-testing

Goodwill, 
 EUR ’000 

post-testing

Carrying amount 
 EUR ’000 

pre-testing
Conclusion

Southern European Minerals 64 914 64 914 124 961 Significantly above

South African minerals business 101 957 82 413 157 839 Impairment

House building 25 523 25 523 26 715 Significantly above

Key background and assumptions used in the cash flow forecasts of the impairment testing process are summarised in 

the table below: 

Cash generating unit Sales volume Sales prices Costs
Net working 

capital,  
% of revenue

Southern European Minerals FeCr: 22,000 tn/a  
(capacity about 30,000 tn/a)
lumpy Cr ore: 27,000 
-  30,000 tn/a

Assuming 40% LC FeCR 
and 60% ULC FeCr product 
mix, and based on external 
experts (CRU International 
and Heinz Pariser) price 
forecasts average

Raw material costs changes 
moving in line with sales price 
changes to main extent, Turkish 
plant investment expected to 
decrease chrome ore concentrate 
production costs from mid-2010

about 24%

South African Minerals  
business

metal alloys total:
88,000-102,000 tn/a
(capacity about 110,000 
tn/a)

Based on external experts 
(CRU International and Heinz 
Pariser) charge chrome price 
forecasts average

About 40% increase in electricity 
price assumed to take place in 
2010, and longer term about 
15% annual increase, with infla-
tion from 2012 at 5,5% p,a,

about 11-14%

House building ready-to-move-in houses:
320-360 houses/a

Based on order backlog on 
balance sheet date, thereafter 
inflation-based changes

Inflation assumption about 
2% p.a., personnel expenses 
expected to increase by about 
3% p.a.

about -10%, 
when includ-
ing received 

prepayments

The carrying amount in the adjacent table is equal to the 

sum of: 

+ goodwill 

+ intangible and tangible assets (including purchase price 

allocation entries)

+ net working capital (if positive)

– provisions

– deferred tax liabilities (in relation to purchase price al-

location entries).

Compared to the year-end 2008, the Company’s Board 

somewhat changed in 2009 the way the carrying amount

is determined:

if and when the cash flows used in determining the  »

value in use include the cash outflows related to pro-

visions related to the acquired assets are taken into 

account, then also those provisions are deducted from 

the carrying amount; and

since typically in the purchase allocation process de- »

ferred tax liabilities are recognised on the balance 

sheet, these liabilities are netted from the testable 

assets.
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Sensitivity analysis of the impairment testing

Group has analysed the sensitivity of the impairment test-

ing results by estimating how the essential assumptions 

should change in order for the recoverable value to be 

equal to the corresponding carrying amount. 

During the financial year 2009 impairment loss was recog-

nised, so the recoverable amount is equal to the carrying 

amount after the impairment. In order to illustrate the 

sensitivities, the sensitivity of the testing results of the 

South African minerals business to changes in key param-

eters is presented below:

if the used pre-tax discount rate would have been at  »

least 2.0%-units lower than the used rate no impair-

ment would have recognised;

free cash flow should have been at least 14.9% higher  »

on average than the used forecast for not to recognise 

impairment;

average EBITDA margin should have been at least  »

3.3%-units higher on average than the used forecast 

for not to recognise impairment.

The results of this sensitivity analysis as of 31 December 2009 are shown below:

Segment
Change in pre-tax discount rate 
(% units, compared to the level 

used in testing)

Change in free cash flow (%, on 
average for each year, compared 

to the used estimated values)

Change in segment’s average 
EBITDA margin (% units)

Southern European Minerals business 5.2 %-units -24.6%    -6.6%-units

House building 24.8 %-units -64.9%    -10.2 %-units
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Summary of impairment losses

During the financial years 2009 (2008 in parentheses, 

based on 2009 segment structure) the Group has recorded 

the following net impairment losses and/or reversals of 

earlier impairment in Group income statement, split below 

by segment: 

EUR million

Minerals business -19.1 (-) 

Wood Processing business +2.1 (-20.4)
Non-segment and discontinued 
operations * 

-  (-20.6)

* excluding associated companies

The more detailed split by each of the cash generating 

units is summarised in the table below: 

EUR million 2009 2008

Southern European Minerals 
business

- -

South African Minerals business -19.1
acquired in 

2009
House building - -

Sawmill business +2.1 -18.0

Pallet business - -2.4
Russian Investment Project
(unfinished investment)

- -17.7

Furniture business
discontinued 

in 2008
-2.9 

Total -17.0 -41.0

During the financial years 2009 and 2008 the Group has 

realised the following impairment losses or reversal of ear-

lier impairment by type of asset:

EUR million 2009 2008

Land and buildings - -11.5

Machinery and equipment - -19.5
Reversal of fixed assets’ 
impairment

+2.1 +5.2

Intangible assets - -1.6

Goodwill -19.1 -13.6

Total -17.0 -41.0

The impairment losses and reversals of impairment have 

been recognised in a separate line “impairment losses” in 

the Group income statement, immediately after the de-

preciation and amortisation, and hence it has not affected 

EBITDA, but has affected EBIT and profit lines below EBIT 

as well.

Impairment on other assets during 2009

For balance sheet date 31 December 2009 the value of 

shares in associated companies was written down by 

about EUR 0.9 million (during 2008 an impairment of 

about EUR 0.4 million on associated companies shares 

was recognised) based on one associated company’s de-

teriorated financial situation and market outlook. These 

impairment losses are presented below EBIT in the income 

statement.

C
O

N
S

O
L
ID

A
T

E
D

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

T
A

T
E

M
E

N
T

S



79

at the exchange rate at the time of transaction). In rela-

tion to these deferred payments, 40% of the total number 

of Mogale shares owned by the Group is pledged as col-

lateral in favour of the Mogale vendors.

The sawmill business of Lappipaneli Oy was divested at the 

end of 2009, and the transfer of fixed assets is expected to 

take place in April 2010. These assets are on 31 December 

2009 classified as assets held for sale. As specific guaran-

tees to external funding, these assets have been used for 

asset and real estate pledges, and these pledges will be 

transferred out of the Group when the transfer of those 

assets will be concluded.

Covenants included in the Group’s financing 

agreements

Some of the Group’s debt financing agreements include 

covenants tied to the Group’s or individual Group compa-

nies’ solvency or profitability ratios; or have covenants that 

restrict the payment of the Group companies’ liabilities to 

the parent company; or that require the parent company 

not to divest significant parts of the business operations 

without first consulting the financier.

During the financial year 2009, one of Ruukki Group Plc’s 

loans was in breach of its covenants due to the pallet 

business subsidiary’s senior debt to EBITDA ratio being 

worse than agreed in the loan agreement. By the end of 

the year, the covenant breach was waived by the bank and 

an amendment letter was signed. In conjunction with and 

as a consequence of this, loan margin was increased, and 

moreover, Ruukki Group Plc paid out EUR 0.9 million as 

additional partial loan capital repayment.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Mortgages and guarantees pledged as security

 

On 31 December 2009, the Group companies had given 

business mortgages as collateral for loans and other li-

abilities totalling approximately EUR 17.5 million (EUR 18.5 

million on 31 December 2008). Of the parent company’s 

EUR 4.2 million business mortgages, EUR 1.7 (1.7) mil-

lion had been pledged as security with external financial 

institutions on 31 December 2009. Real estate mortgages 

amounted to approximately EUR 11.8 (13.5) million. The 

Group’s parent company has given a total of EUR 4.0 (5.6) 

million in direct-liability absolute guarantees for the financ-

ing of Group companies. Moreover, the Group companies 

had given cash deposits totalling altogether EUR 2.5 (3.7) 

million as a security for their commitments. In addition, 

a Group company has given a total of EUR 0.6 million as 

a guarantee for equipment and land areas. Machinery fi-

nancing typically involves the acquired machinery to be 

pledged as a guarantee with the debt repayment. With the 

mortgages and guarantees given to the Company’s third 

parties, mainly to Finnish financial institutions, the Group 

companies have received loans that, in turn, have been 

used either for financing acquisition, capital expenditures 

or working capital needs.

In relation to debt financing arrangements of the acquisi-

tion of the pallet business in 2007, all of Oplax Oy’s shares 

are pledged as collateral for a loan, taken by Ruukki Group 

Plc, the nominal value of which stood at EUR 1.5 million 

(2.9) at year-end. When the Group acquired the major-

ity stake in Mogale Alloys (Pty) Ltd, deferred conditional 

and unconditional payments were agreed upon for a total 

nominal amount of ZAR 800 million (about EUR 69 million 

COMMITMENTS AND RISKS

Did you know that…

The sawmill business of  »

Lappipaneli Oy was divested at 

the end of 2009.

The earn-out liabilities on the  »

balance sheet at 31 December 

2009 are dependant upon 

future financial periods’ results, 

so the exact amount of the 

earn-outs will be finalised in 

the future.

At the end of 2009, the Group’s  »

house building business 

acquired a land area with a 

target to develop the land and 

build Design-Talo houses on it.
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The Group’s sawmill subsidiary, Junnikkala Oy, has a 

number of debt agreements where there are financial cov-

enants tied to, e.g., the profitability and capital structure 

of Junnikkala. At the end of the financial year 2009, those 

covenants were not yet breached; however, due to tight 

liquidity, the sawmill subsidiary has during the first quarter 

not been able to make all the repayments of capital to the 

financial institutions, and hence is currently in breach of 

its financing agreements. In order to correct the situation, 

the owners of Junnikkala Oy, including Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy, 

most probably have to put in shareholders’ loans or other 

funding into Junnikkala during the first half of 2010.

There are also some conditions and covenant-type terms 

in the debt facility agreements that Mogale Alloys had 

in place with an external bank; however, these facilities 

were not utilised during the financial year or at year end, 

and at the end of 2009 no breach of these terms were 

acknowledged.

Investment commitments

The irrevocable investment commitments and liabilities 

not paid at the end of the year totalled some EUR 3.1 (3.8) 

million. Of that sum, about EUR 2.9 (-) relates to finalising 

Turkish beneficiation plant investment, EUR 0.1 (-) million 

to South African furnaces and EUR 0.1 (3.8) million to the 

Finnish wood processing businesses.

Moreover, there is about EUR 2.0 million worth of ma-

chinery and equipment delivery commitments  related to 

the sawmill intended originally to be located in Kostroma, 

Russia, and also an estimated EUR 3.7 million assembly 

commitments if and when the sawmill would be later taken 

into production use.

Mogale Alloys has budgeted funds to implement its envi-

ronmental management plan which, for example, requires 

some refurbishing of the existing furnaces. There are also 

some early-stage feasibility studies on potential furnace 

capacity expansion projects; however, the Group has not 

yet committed to conclude those projects. As the Group’s 

target is to become a vertically integrated mine-to-metals 

operator, the Group might have to buy additional minerals 

resources or further processing capacity; however, as yet 

there are no known commitments.

At the end of 2009, the Group’s house building business 

acquired a land area with a target to develop the land and 

build Design-Talo houses on it. If and when the project 

would be developed as preliminarily planned, it will require 

capital outlays. There is also a profit-share agreement in 

place with a third party of any future value added created 

via the area development.

Earn-out and deferred liabilities related to 

acquisitions

Earn-out and deferred liabilities related to acquisitions car-

ried out by the Group have been capitalised on the Group’s 

financial statements, and presented in the consolidated 

balance sheet as short-term or long-term debt based on 

the contractual obligations as to the date of payment. The 

earn-out liabilities on the balance sheet as of 31 December 

2009 are dependant upon future financial periods’ results, 

so the exact amount to be paid as earn-outs will only be 

finalised in the future and based on the results of the 

acquired entities; hence the amounts recognised on the 

balance sheet at year-end are based on estimates. The 

earn-outs, recognised in discounted values to relevant ex-

tent, will be paid partially in cash and, to a major extent, 

in Ruukki Group Plc shares. There are also some deferred 

purchase considerations where the nominal sum is fixed; 

however, payments’ time and terms can vary.

Related to the acquisition of RCS Ltd and Türk Maadin 

Sirketi A.S, Ruukki Group Plc has issued 73,170,731 option 

rights to the seller, Kermas Ltd, based on Extraordinary 

General Meeting’s resolution on 28 October 2008. These 

options can be exercised only on condition that the com-

panies acquired generate positive net results, and are 

based on EUR 2.30 per share exercise price with a divi-

dend adjustment mechanism. Based on estimates at the 

end of 2009, as confirmed by Ruukki Group Plc’s Board 

of Directors, for 2010 – 2013 net profits of the acquired 

entities, and assuming a maximum dividend adjustment 

of the share purchase agreements, altogether 22,774,441 

(31.12.2008: 39,725,720) shares are estimated to be given 

as earn-out payment to the seller. The fair value of these 

shares has been determined to be EUR 1.28 per share 

based on the market price of the share on 28 October 

2008, the date of the Company’s Extraordinary General 

Meeting confirming the acquisition.

The total earn-out to be realised in the future can devi-

ate from the amount estimated should the net results in 

2010 – 2013 of the acquired companies deviate from the 

estimated results; or Ruukki Group Plc’s dividend distri-

bution is not equal to the amount estimated; or Ruukki 
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Mogale Alloys has 
budgeted funds to 

implement its environmental 
management plan.

Group Plc would exercise the put option on Türk Maadin 

Sirketi A.S.’s shares. Since the maximum amount of the 

earn-out is capped at the total amount of option rights 

issued, Ruukki Group Plc’s total earn-out liability cannot 

exceed 73,170,731 shares.

If the combined net profit of RCS Ltd and Türk Maadin 

Sirketi A.S. is negative during 2009 – 2013 (considered on 

annual basis separately for each year) , then the seller is 

obliged to pay back Ruukki Group Plc 50% of the losses in 

cash as a refund of the purchase consideration.

There is no resolution as to the exercise of option rights 

related to Elektrowerk Weisweiler GmbH. Moreover, 

the exercise price of the option rights on that company 

is not fixed in advance; however, the exercise price will 

be based on fair value of Elektrowerk Weisweiler GmbH, 

which will be separately determined in the future based 

on Stuttgarter Verfahren formula, used in certain circum-

stances in determining fair value of business entities. In 

the consolidated balance sheet on 31 December 2009, 

Ruukki Group Plc has assumed that option rights would 

be exercised in 2014. The nominal exercise price has been 

determined by using judgment and a valuation model.

At the end of May 2009, Ruukki South Africa (Pty) Ltd 

acquired an 84.9% stake in Mogale Alloys (Pty) Ltd. The 

purchase consideration is denominated in rand. According 

to the acquisition agreement there is a total of ZAR 800 

million deferred payment, of which ZAR 200 million in un-

conditional and ZAR 600 million is conditional upon licences 

and permits being received from the relevant authorities, 

and this deferred conditional consideration will be paid in 

cash. If and when the exchange rate of ZAR changes that 

changes the EUR value of that liability.

Rental agreements

Liabilities associated with rental and operating lease 

agreements totalled some EUR 5.3 million (3.1 million on 

31.12.2008). Typically, the rental agreements maturity 

varies between three to eight years, and normally there 

is a possibility to continue these agreements after the 

end of original maturity date. For these contacts, their 

price indexing, renewing and other terms differ contract 

by contract. As guarantees for these rental agreements, 

the Group companies have made cash deposits of approxi-

mately EUR 0.1 (0.1) million at year-end.

Other liabilities and commitments

In December 2009, the Group’s Minerals business subsidi-

ary had a liability of about EUR 0.2 million related to the 

employees’ social security payments; and as a guarantee 

of paying this statutory commitment, the subsidiary has 

provided a guarantee of less than EUR 0.1 million and has 

also pledged some real estate.

The Group’s house building products involve quality or 

quantity guarantees to customers, typically consisting of 

a short-term obligation to carry out repairs (one-year) 

and a statutory ten-year guarantee in respect of structural 

safety issues. For the potential short-term one-year repair 

liabilities, the Group has accrued a provision based on past 

realised repair expenses. Up until year-end 2009, a fixed 

percentage of 0.2% of revenue was used; however, at the 

end of 2009, the percentage was increased by the subsidi-

ary’s Board of Directors to 0.4% in order to take into ac-

count the expected repair costs for the houses delivered in 

2009. As far as the longer-term ten-year contingent guar-

antee liability is concerned, the Group has not recognised 

any provision on its balance sheet.
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The following table presents the earn-out liabilities related to the Minerals business acquisition in October 2008 (RCS Ltd, 

Türk Maadin Sirketi A.S. and Elektrowerk Weisweiler GmbH) and based on future profits. The sums in brackets represent 

the corresponding bookkeeping entries at 31 December 2008:

Company
Estimated earn-out and call op-
tion related liability, EUR million

Estimated time of payment Other

RCS Ltd and Türk Maadin Sirketi A.S.
29.2 (50.8) *, of which  
short-term portion 2.9

2010, 2011, 2012, 
2013 and 2014

Earn-out to be paid in Ruukki 
Group Plc shares

Elektrowerk Weisweiler GmbH   8.8 (8.4) ** 2014

Based on assumption that Ruukki 
Group Plc would buy Elektrowerk 
Weisweiler shares in cash by 
exercising its redeem options

Total 38.0 (59.2)

* movement based on revised future profit forecasts and actual 2009 results, being the basis of the earn-out
** movement based on unwinding of interest due to discounting

At the end of December 2009, Ruukki Group terminated its put option granted to Junnikkala Oy’s minority shareholders. 

Moreover, the Group sold Tervolan Saha ja Höyläämö’s shares. Hence, at the end of 2009 in the Wood Processing business, 

the earn-out and deferred purchase consideration liabilities are only related to the acquisition of the 9.9% stake in Pohjolan 

Design-Talo Oy (house building business, increase in stake acquired during 2008), the sums in brackets at 31.12.2008:

EUR million  Earn-out liability Deferred liability Total

Short-term liabilities 0.1 (0.2) 0.9 (0.9)  1.0 (1.1)

Long-term liabilities - (0.0) - (0.9) - (0.9)

Total liabilities 0.1 (0.2) 0.9 (1.8)  1.0 (2.0)

Collaterals given by Ruukki Group Plc

Collaterals for the Company’s own behalf

EUR ‘000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Corporate mortgage 1 682 1 682

Pledged subsidiary shares 7 936 7 936

Other collaterals 0 943

Guarantees for Group companies

EUR ‘000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Payment guarantees for 
subsidiaries

0 7 250

Pledges for subsidiaries’ liabilities 2 500 2 500

The amount of the above payment guarantees is the maximum amount; 
their realisation in full is unlikely in the opinion of the Company’s man-
agement.  If the Russian sawmill project would be continued and the 
equipment be assembled, would that most probably oblige the Group’s 
parent company to give a guarantee to third parties on behalf of its 
subsidiary for the assembly costs, currently estimated to be about EUR 
3.7 million.
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Environmental and rehabilitation liabilities

As the Group has mining and minerals processing opera-

tions, there are certain known and potential environmental 

and rehabilitation liabilities in relation to the business ac-

tivity as detailed below.                        

During 2009, the Group commissioned an external expert 

to assess the Group’s Turkish exploration and exploitation 

areas from the environmental site assessment perspec-

tive. The key target was to identify and quantify to the 

extent possible any potential environmental liabilities 

that may have resulted from existing and previous land-

use or site development activities on and adjacent to 

the sites. Moreover, the aim was to identify any condi-

tions or practices that may represent additional significant  

environmental risks or liabilities under Turkish laws and 

regulations. Based on the analysis at the Group’s Turkish 

sites, there are no observed acid rock drainage or appar-

ent inhibition of vegetative growth on the tailings. The 

reclamation of the open pit and subsidance areas would 

require implementation of a reclamation plan, which may 

involve further backfilling of the underground openings 

via boreholes from the surface and terracing of the slopes 

with heights about 15 to 20 meters. Since the Group is 

planning to start reworking the on-ground tailings dumps, 

some additional preparation work for those areas was rec-

ommended by the expert. Based on the external study, de-

commissioning costs were estimated to be some USD 3.3 

million, using the Group’s Turkish subsidiaries’ expected 

unit rehabilitation costs as the basis, of which about half 

relates to the on-ground tailings dumps. This estimate, 

based on the additional analysis run in 2009, i.e. after 

the acquisition was concluded in October 2008, confirmed 

the EUR 2.0 million liability that the Group recognised in 

conjunction with the purchase price allocation process in 

2008. In relation to EWW smelting operations in Germany, 

the Group has altogether EUR 4.1 million provisions on its 

31 December 2009 balance sheet, of which about EUR 2.9 

million is long-term, to main extent related to environmen-

tal and waste treatment  liabilities.

At the end of May 2009, the Group acquired the majority 

stake in Mogale Alloys (Pty) Ltd. As part of the due dili-

gence process carried out pre-transaction, a third-party 

environmental expert was used to determine the environ-

mental liabilities related to Mogale’s operations. The due 

diligence report gave a range of ZAR 154 - 226 million as 

the nominal total environmental liability including a 10% 

subcharge for any potential contingencies. The liability 

consisted of the following parts: environmental monitor-

ing activities; waste site permission procedures; environ-

mental impact assessment; stormwater and groundwater 

management; slag and dust storage areas;and refurbish-

ing and capital outlays mainly related to smoke hoods and 

electrode columns. At the time the transaction was con-

cluded, the Group capitalised on its balance sheet a total 

nominal liability of ZAR 200 million based on the report 

and as part of the purchase price allocation process. After 

the transaction was concluded, Mogale Alloys submitted 

an environmental management plan to the South African 

authorities. Moreover, post-transaction Mogale Alloys man-

agement and its auditors reanalysed the environmental li-

abilities from the perspective of IAS 37 standard, to which 

extent the obligating event is a result of a past event and 

to which extent they are expected to be settled. Based on 

this  additional analysis, the amount of the liability was 

reduced to about EUR 7.1 million at the end of 2009.

Litigation processes

Rautaruukki Oyj, another listed Finnish company, an-

nounced on 21 December 2009 that they had initiated 

legal proceedings against Ruukki Group Plc concerning 

claims to the Ruukki name. This legal process is still in 

its early stages, and hence its outcome or timing is not 

yet known. Rautaruukki has claimed for: (i) fixed EUR 

5.0 million for damages; and (ii) EUR 12.1 million based 

on royalties Rautaruukki has calculated based on Ruukki 

Group’s 2004 – 2008 actual revenue; and (iii) reasonable 

legal fees. On 31 December 2009, these claims have not 

been recognised on the balance sheet of the Group. Ruukki 

Group Plc and its subsidiaries will defend their position on 

all relevant fronts.

The sawmill business subsidiary Lappipaneli Oy, the busi-

ness assets of which were resolved to be sold at the end of 

2009, has an ongoing legal dispute where Lappipaneli has 

claimed for damages from Sampo Bank. Ruukki Group has 

recognised all the expenses of that process in its financial 

statements excluding the counterparty’s fees. The timing 

and outcome of this legal process is uncertain.

There is also a legal dispute at Mogale Alloys, in relation 

to its earlier acquisition of a 30% stake in Nuco Chrome 

(BOP), which should not have any material effect and 

which is expected to be commercially settled later in 

2010.
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RISKS

The Board of Directors of Ruukki Group Plc has outlined 

the key risks of the Group in the Board of Directors’ 

Report. In the following section, some more information 

is presented: first, on the short-term risk outlook for the 

Group; and second, on the financial and commodity risks 

with the related sensitivity analyses.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES AT THE END OF 
2009

By the acquisition of the chrome ore and ferrochrome busi-

nesses at the end of October 2008 and by the expansion 

into South African minerals sector via Mogale Alloys acqui-

sition in May 2009, the Group has somewhat diversified 

its industry risks and is thus less vulnerable to the wood 

processing industry; however, it has more exposures to 

minerals sector commodity price risks. Although the number 

of geographical locations has increased and therefore de-

pendence on any one location or country is decreased, 

the Group is now exposed to South Africa related risks. 

As a consequence of the recent acquisitions, more intan-

gible assets and less cash were recognised on the Group 

balance sheet at the end of 2009 as compared to 2008. 

Changes in the Group’s business and legal structure have 

increased the absolute and relative importance of foreign 

operations and also foreign exchange rate risks, both di-

rectly and indirectly. Ruukki Group is dependent on the 

competence of the key employees in the acquired busi-

nesses. Based on studies and surveys carried out so far, 

the Group has no knowledge of any environmental risks or 

changes in environmental requirements that relate to its 

businesses in excess of what is disclosed in the financial 

statements. However, the Group might face some addi-

tional environmental liabilities or there might be changes 

in regulations that can lead to additional costs or invest-

ment needs.

Even though the general uncertainty in the global econ-

omy has somewhat alleviated compared to the year-end 

2008, in the commodity and end-customer markets that 

are most important to the Group, such as the stainless 

steel industry, there is still considerable uncertainty in rela-

tion to future demand. Ruukki Group currently has quite 

a strong cash position, but if the availability or terms of 

external financing would be inadequate for longer term, it 

could have a major adverse impact on the implementation 

of the Group’s strategy, on its future growth and on the 

implementation of mergers or acquisitions. Moreover, the 

uncertainty in the capital markets could limit the opportu-

nities for the Group to pursue capital expenditure projects 

within the current businesses, or could adversely affect 

the profitability or return on capital of those projects.

The short-term success of the Group’s Minerals businesses 

is to a large extent dependant on the global demand for 

stainless steel on which ferrochrome is one key raw mate-

rial. During the latter half of 2009, there was a pick-up 

in demand and a trend of sales price increases; however, 

there is general uncertainty as to how the 2010 demand 

will develop. The Group’s Minerals business segment’s 

management expects the demand for the Group’s fer-

roalloys products in general to be higher in 2010 com-

pared to that of 2009; however, the Group has decided to 

credit limit in 
use / loan

maximum 
liability

maximum 
liability

31.12.2009 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Guarantees given to 
financial institutions 
for group companies’ 
financing limits:

Guarantees for equip-
ment financing

909 1 840 2 744

Guarantees given to 
financial institutions 
for group companies’ 
loans:

Bonds 2 200 2 200 2 875

3 109 4 040 5 619

Ruukki Group Plc’s rental and leasing liabilities were on 31 December 
2009 some EUR 0.4 (0.6) million, of which about EUR 0.3 (0.3) million 
will mature in less than one year and the rest in 1-5 years.
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curtail the production of the specialty grade ferrochrome 

during the first quarter, and later if needed, to manage 

the cash flow and inventories. Both producers as well as 

end-users seem to be having quite low inventory levels, 

which can create short-term imbalances between supply 

and demand. The changes in exchange rate, if adverse, 

can have a major negative impact on Group’s profitability, 

in particular in relation to changes in USD/ZAR. Changes 

in the ZAR exchange rate also affect the EUR value of the 

deferred purchase consideration of Mogale Alloys. The 

Group is expecting to finalise its Turkish beneficiation plant 

investment by the second quarter of 2010, and is expect-

ing the utilisation of the on-ground tailings resources to 

significantly reduce production costs. If there would be 

any material delays, unexpected costs or other operational 

friction in the implementation process, there is the risk that 

the financial performance would be worse than expected. 

Since the Minerals segment operations, in particular in the 

smelting processes, require of a considerable amount of 

electricity and power, the availability and price of electricity 

can have a significant effect on the segment profitability. 

In South Africa in particular, there is a substantial risk of 

an increase in the unit price of electricity.

For the Wood Processing segment, the success of the 

house building business is one key driver of cash flows 

and profitability. Therefore, the development of the Finnish 

house building sector in general impacts the financial 

performance. Currently, the Finnish single-family house 

market in general is rebounding from a couple of years 

of declining volumes; however, there is still uncertainty as 

to the length and depth of the recovery. As the Group has 

at the end of 2009 started to diversify the house build-

ing business into larger area development projects, this 

typically ties in cash more than the earlier basic business 

model of the Group would have required. In the sawmill 

business, major short-term risks and uncertainties relate 

to customer demand and the development of market 

prices. Capacity utilisation rate was at a low level in 2009, 

and if this remains unchanged, it can continue to have 

an adverse effect on profitability since losing efficiency 

benefits typically increase average production costs per 

unit. If there are any public sector changes to taxes, laws, 

required safety measures or any other similar issues, 

these can increase the costs of the Group’s wood process-

ing businesses. Also, changes in foreign exchange rates 

can have major impact on the Group’s sawmill business’s 

performance, as sawn timber products are commodities 

produced and traded on global markets with only very 

minor differentiation between competitors.

Since the Group has made and might still carry out merg-

ers and acquisitions, there are a number of implementa-

tion and integration related risks. Further, as the Group 

has during the last two years quickly acquired and estab-

lished operations in a number of foreign jurisdictions, there 

might be some administrative or tax related issues that 

might require attention later or have some implications 

not currently known. There is also uncertainty whether 

the Group will exercise its call or put options in certain of 

the acquisitions, in particular in relation to the minerals 

segment. Consequently, the income statement, balance 

sheet or cash flow statement could change and might not 

correctly reflect the actual situation in retrospect. There is 

also uncertainty what the total purchase consideration is 

for some of the Group’s acquisitions, both related to op-

tions’ exercise prices and also related to earn-out purchase 

components, as they can only be verified when the total 

purchase considerations are finally settled, which to some 

extent takes place only after a few years. The Group is 

also considering some alternative options on how to or-

ganically grow its minerals business.

Currently the Finnish 
single-family house market is 

rebounding.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Management of strategic and operative risks

Ruukki Group has in both 2009 and 2008 operated in vari-

ous businesses, which has diversified the Group’s overall 

business risk as the businesses are not perfectly correlated. 

Moreover, since the Group has geographically expanded, 

the impact of changes in any single market is lower than 

previously. Ruukki Group Plc’s Board is responsible for the 

comprehensive management of strategic risks.

Long-term planning and a flexible business model play 

a key role in managing operative risks. Due to the his-

torically decentralised and heterogenic business structure, 

each business unit’s role in managing operative risks has 

been very important; however, during the latter half of 

2009 the Group has started to implement more centralised 

approaches to management, for example by establishing 

segment level management teams, and to risk and con-

trol issues, for example by hiring in-house and external 

resources for analysing and implementing internal control 

mechanisms.

The success of the Group’s business is also dependant 

upon recruitment and holding on to professional and mo-

tivated personnel. As the Ruukki Group’s operations have 

been growing, the relative importance of any one key em-

ployee has decreased. In order to commit the key employ-

ees at Group, segment or subsidiary level management, 

there are share-based and performance-based incentive 

schemes in place.

The damage and liability risks are covered by insurances 

to a major extent. To a certain extent, the Group has used 

insurances brokers and international insurance experts 

to build insurance packages that are needed to fulfil risk 

management needs.

The internal audit function, whose practical operations 

have been outsourced to an external specialist, is involved 

in ensuring the implementation of risk management activi-

ties and the appropriate follow-up on business processes 

and instructions. During 2009, there has been a change 

in the way the internal audit function is organised: for 

the first half there was an outsourced service solution; 

however, at the end of the year, the Group employed an 

internal resource to organise and develop the function.

Management of financial risks

In its normal operations, the Group is exposed to various 

financial risks. The objective of Group risk management 

is to identify and to a selected extent mitigate the ad-

verse effects of the changes in the financial markets on 

the Group’s results. The main financial risks are foreign 

exchange rate, interest rate, as well as liquidity and credit 

risks.

The general risk management principles are accepted by 

Ruukki Group Plc’s Board of Directors and monitored by 

its audit committee with the management of the busi-

ness segments and of the subsidiaries being responsible 

for the implementation. The Group has not, for the time 

being, had a centralised Group risk management organisa-

tion; however, it decided to start to centralise its treasury 

functions during 2009 in order to centrally manage risks 

and utilise economies of scale. When analysing risks, the 

Group’s financial and operational information is utilised. 

The Group has not used e.g. VaR (Value at Risk) tools for 

risk measurement.

The Group’s operations expose the Group and its business 

units to the following market risks:

(i) foreign exchange rate risk

(ii) interest rate risk

(iii) credit risk

(iv) liquidity risk

(v)  commodity risks

At the end of the 
year the Group employed 
an internal resource to 
organise and develop 

internal audit.
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(i) Foreign exchange rate risk

The Group operates internationally and has, during 2008 

and 2009, diversified its operations out of Finland into, 

e.g. Turkey, Malta and South Africa. The Group thus has 

foreign exchange rate risks to an increasing extent - both 

directly via the outstanding commercial cash flows and 

currency positions, as well as indirectly via the changes in 

competitiveness between various competitors in the rel-

evant product markets. Moreover, a significant portion of 

its acquisition-related liabilities are denominated in foreign 

currency. During 2009 translation differences, when con-

verting foreign subsidiaries’ financial statements into EUR, 

have affected the Group’s balance sheet.

 

As a fundamental principle, the Group companies do 

not hedge the open foreign currency positions by using 

currency derivatives. To the extent possible the Group 

targets to match its cash inflows and outflows as well as 

receivables and liabilities in terms of the currency these 

items are denominated. Hence the Group is exposed to 

currency-derived risks that affect its financial results, bal-

ance sheet and cash flows. At the end of 2009, the Group 

had only one foreign currency derivatives position, with 

approximately EUR 0.3 million of nominal value, to hedge 

its commercial foreign currency denominated cash flows.

As the single most significant change in 2009 in the 

Group’s currency exposure relates to the acquisition of 

Mogale Alloys in May, the changes in the USD/ZAR and 

EUR/ZAR exchange rates thus have a major impact on 

Mogale Alloys’ profitability in EUR. Mogale’s cash inflows 

are denominated in USD, whereas most of the costs are 

denominated in ZAR. Furthermore, Ruukki South Africa 

has about ZAR 0.8 billion deferred liabilities.

In the Southern European minerals business USD, EUR 

and GBP are used in the operations; however, during 

2009, inflows and outflows in those currencies were quite 

closely matched.

In the sawmill business, the relative importance of exports 

is quite high, even though the sale of Lappipaneli’s as-

sets diminished the Group’s exposure to the Japanese yen. 

The sawmill business area’s sales and purchases are now 

more closely than before linked to EUR. The sawmill busi-

ness also has some sales to and purchases from Sweden, 

denominated in SEK, which directly affects the euro cash 

flows, and indirectly the competitiveness towards Swedish 

competitors.

The sawmill business 
area’s sales and purchases are 
now more closely than before 

linked to EUR.
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The following tables present the currency composition of receivables and debt, and changes thereby vis-à-vis the previous 

year-end. At the balance sheet date of 31 December 2009, the major open foreign exchange rate risk was against the ZAR, 

and in particular the deferred payments in relation to Mogale Alloys.

Currency exposure of receivables and liabilities 

31.12.2009 EUR exchange rate

EUR ’000
1.0000

EUR
1.4406

USD
0.8881

GBP
2.1547

TRY
10.6660

ZAR
10.2520

SEK

Cash and cash equivalents (EUR) 50 060 3 325 188 199 2 078 2

Trade receivables (EUR) 15 218 5 806 474 16 4 150 0

Loans and other receivables (EUR) 49 660 1 182 0 61 1 661 0

Trade payables (EUR) -9 978 -1 429 -743 -872 -6 052 -168

Loans and other payables (EUR) -118 542 -5 0 -473 -74 319 -74

Derivatives (EUR) 0 -278 0 0 0 0

Currency position, net (EUR) -13 581 8 601 -81 -1 070 -72 482 -240
Currency position, net (in each 
currency)

-13 581 12 391 -72 -2 306 -773 097 -2 455

Currency exposure of receivables and liabilities

31.12.2008 EUR exchange rate

EUR ’000
1.0000

EUR
1.4721

USD
35.9860

RUB
164.9300

JPY
Others

Cash and cash equivalents (EUR) 43 515 1 450 5 162 281

Trade receivables (EUR) 14 587 1 450 507 162 282

Loans and other receivables (EUR) 221 828 2 782 888 261 13

Trade payables (EUR) -17 961 -1 352 0 0 0

Loans and other payables (EUR) -150 436 -169 -344 0 -29

Derivatives (EUR) 0 -340 0 -10 914 0

Currency position, net (EUR) 111 533 3 821 1 056 -10 328 547
Currency position, net (in each 
currency)

111 533 5 625 37 994 -1 703 441

The EUR-based earn-out payments, to be settled with Company’s shares, in relation to RCS and TMS acquisition, are not taken into account in the 
table above.

The effect on 31 December 2009 balance sheet’s currency 

denominated items by changes in foreign exchange rates 

vis-à-vis the rates used in the Group balance sheet con-

solidation is presented in the next page. To the extent that 

the Group has internally financed foreign subsidiaries with 

foreign currency loans and when these loans have been 

considered as net investments into the subsidiaries, not 

foreseen to be repaid, the corresponding foreign exchange 

rate difference has been recognised as conversion differ-

ence in the Group equity. Due to the high market volatility 

rates, the range of change was kept at +/- 20% applied 

also in 2008.

The Group management’s view is that the currency dis-

tribution at the balance sheet date does not necessarily 

describe the real direct or indirect foreign exchange rate 

risk, since the year-end situation does not fully reflect the 

average situation during the ended or coming financial 

years. Furthermore, should the Group’s geographical focus 

change during the coming years, the foreign exchange 

rate risks can change. Generally, the Group’s foreign ex-

change rate risks increased during 2009 over 2008 and 

are expected to be important also in the future. At the end 

of 2009, the weakening of US dollar and strengthening 

of rand would have the most adverse effect on Group’s 

results and financial position.
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(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk when the Group 

companies take loans or make other financing agreements 

or deposits and investments related to liquidity manage-

ment. Moreover, changes in interest rates can indirectly 

affect the conditions in which the business units operate 

since, for example, the demand for ready-to-move-in 

houses is dependant upon the prevailing interest rate level 

and the customers’ possibilities to get debt financing. In 

addition, the changes in interest rates can influence the 

profitability of investments or the changes can alter the 

fair values of Group assets via the IFRS impairment tests.

To manage interest rate risks, the Group has used both 

fixed and floating rate debt instruments, and when needed 

derivative instruments, such as interest rate swaps. At the 

end of 2009, the Group’s interest-bearing debt was mainly 

based on floating interest rates, and there was a total of 

EUR 0.9 million nominal value of interest rate swaps in 

place where floating interest was effectively converted to 

fixed rates. The Group also aims to match the loan maturi-

ties with the businesses’ needs and to have the maturities 

spread over various periods, whereby the Group’s interest 

rate risks are somewhat diversified. Floating rate financ-

ing is mainly tied to 3 – 12 months Euribor interest rates, 

the changes of which will then influence the Group’s total 

financing cost and cash flows. The Mogale Alloys related 

deferred contingent liability, if and when interest-bearing, 

is directly tied to the South African prime rate as published 

by the Reserve Bank of South Africa.

The short-term interest-bearing receivables of the Group 

are mainly fixed-rate deposits made for predetermined 

periods of varying lengths. The Group’s revenue and op-

erative cash flows are mainly independent of the changes 

in market interest rates. 

Sensitivity analysis of currency denominated net receivables

(‘000) USD GBP TRY ZAR SEK

Group balance sheet on 31.12.2009

Cash in currency 4 789 167 428 22 169 25

Receivables in currency 10 067 421 165 61 979 0

Derivatives in currency -400 0 0 0 0

Payables in currency -2 065 -660 -2 899 -857 245 -2 480
Net receivables  in currency
at 31.12.2009 exchange rates:

12 391 -72 -2 306 -773 097 -2 455

Net receivables in EUR 8 601 -81 -1 070 -72 482 -240

Sensitivity analysis compared with the actual conversion rates

Exchange rate

change in currency value vs. euro USD GBP TRY ZAR SEK

20% strengthening 1.15 0.71 1.72 8.53 8.20

15% strengthening 1.22 0.75 1.83 9.07 8.71

10% strengthening 1.30 0.80 1.94 9.60 9.23

5% strengthening 1.37 0.84 2.05 10.13 9.74

0% no change 1.44 0.89 2.15 10.67 10.25

-5% weakening 1.51 0.93 2.26 11.20 10.76

-10% weakening 1.58 0.98 2.37 11.73 11.28

-15% weakening 1.66 1.02 2.48 12.27 11.79

-20% weakening 1.73 1.07 2.59 12.80 12.30

The effect of the change in currency rates compared with the actual rates

EUR ‘000 change, ceteris paribus

change in currency value vs. euro USD GBP TRY ZAR SEK

20% strengthening 2 150 -20 -268 -18 121 -60

15% strengthening 1 518 -14 -189 -12 791 -42

10% strengthening 956 -9 -119 -8 054 -27

5% strengthening 453 -4 -56 -3 815 -13

0% no change 0 0 0 0 0

-5% weakening -410 4 51 3 452 11

-10% weakening -782 7 97 6 589 22

-15% weakening -1 122 11 140 9 454 31

-20% weakening -1 434 14 178 12 080 40
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The split of interest-bearing debt and receivables, also 

classified into fixed rate and floating rate instruments, was 

the following on the balance sheet dates 31 December 

2009 and 31 December 2008:

EUR ‘000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets (including 
mutual funds)

12 500 221 527

Financial liabilities -1 089 -3 030

Fixed rate instruments, net 11 411 218 497

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets (including 
mutual funds)

3 805 27 708

Financial liabilities -37 068 -33 157

Variable rate instruments, net -33 263 -5 448

Interest bearing net debt -21 852 213 049

The following table presents the rough effect on the 

Group’s income statement by changes in market interest 

rates should the deposits’ and loans’ interest rates change. 

The changes in interest rates have been taken into account 

in the floating rate items. The following sensitivity analysis 

is illustrative in nature and primarily takes into account the 

forthcoming twelve-month period, if the periods’ balance 

sheet structure would be equal to that of 31 December 

2009 and if there would be no changes in exchange rates. 

Therefore, the analysis is primarily applicable to assessing 

the variation in the 2009 financial year’s interest income 

and expenses. Moreover, any potential acquisition or in-

vestment can alter the Group’s capital structure to a major 

extent. Due to the increase in market volatility in 2008, 

the range of change was widened last year to +/- 200 

basis points (from +/-100 basis points); this has also been 

selected as the basis for 2009.

Main assumptions:

interest rates for deposits and loans change simultane- »

ously as market rates change, i.e. both are based on 

market rates, however the interest rate of fixed rate 

deposits and loans remains unchanged

the amount of loans and deposits remains unchanged  »

the whole year (compared with the balance sheet 

31.12.2009)

the interest rates of deposits and loans in differrent cur- »

rencies change simultaneously as market rates change, 

and the changes are parallel, i.e exactly similar in all 

maturities, so there is no change in yield curve shape

all group companies and the amounts of their depos- »

its and loans on 31 December 2009 are constant and 

they are taken into account for full financial year of 12 

months

the change of interest rate for cash and liquidity depos- »

its is taken into account

it should be taken into account that in the reality the  »

changes of the euribor rates for loans and for deposits 

do not materialise and the beginning of the next year, 

therefore most probably the effect would be slightly 

less, even if the interest rate change would take place 

1.1.2010 and be unchanged for all of the year 2010

Group balance sheet 31.12.2009 

Average change in average interest rate for 2010 com-
pared with the interest rates on 31.12.2009 percentage 

points, % p.a. (net change in market rate + any  
potential change in margin)

Change EUR ‘000
interest income

full year

Change EUR ‘000
interest expense

full year

Change EUR ‘000
net effect in profit or loss

full year

-2.00% -76 741 665

-1.50% -57 556 499

-1.00% -38 371 333

-0.50% -19 185 166

0.00% 0 0 0

0.50% 19 -185 -166

1.00% 38 -371 -333

1.50% 57 -556 -499

2.00% 76 -741 -665

In a separate section covering impairment testing, a sensitivity analysis is presented on the changes in impairment tests’ values due to changes in 
interest rates used in the calculations. One component that affects the used weighted average cost of capital is the market interest rate and the 
changes in it. Any changes in the impairment tests’ outcome can change the Group’s financial result and values of assets on the Group balance sheet.

Sensitivity analysis

Effect of changes in interest rate on interest expense and income
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(iii) Credit risk

Credit risk can be realised when the counterparties in 

commercial, financial or other agreements cannot take 

care of their obligations and thus cause financial damage 

to the Group. The Group’s operational policies define the 

creditworthiness requirements for customers and for coun-

terparties in financial and derivative transactions, as well 

as the principles followed when investing liquidity. Related 

to the major sales agreements, the counterparty’s cred-

itworthiness information is checked. Due to the general 

economic turmoil, credit risks in general have increased 

based on available market information from, e.g. Moody’s; 

however, it is expected that the default rates would decline. 

Although the Group has not faced any major losses due to 

this reason to date, depending on the market development 

in the future it could happen. Although the customer base 

is quite well diversified, geographically the house building 

and pallet businesses are concentrated in Finland – both in 

terms of customers and production facilities. The Group’s 

business-to-business operations’ customers quite often 

operate in certain industries, such as the stainless steel 

industry for ferrochrome production and the construction 

industry for sawmills; for this reason, there are some risk 

concentrations at the customer end. In the pallet business, 

although there are only a limited number of customers, 

the Group has, to a large extent, long-term delivery agree-

ments with them.

The Minerals segment’s key customers are major interna-

tional stainless steel companies, or some specialty agents 

selling to the steel sector, with which there are typically long 

business histories. Since the customers represent one sec-

tor of industry, major changes in that industry’s profitability 

could increase the credit risk; furthermore, the payment 

terms of the Minerals business are typically quite short. 

The house building business area gets prepayments from 

its customers in accordance with the completion rate of the 

houses, which clearly diminishes potential credit risks. The 

sawmill business sells predominantly to the domestic and 

foreign construction industry, with some exposure in the 

pulp market as far as sales of wood chips are concerned. 

Changes in demand in these market areas can consider-

ably affect the segment’s profitability if no other customers 

can be found to replace any lost sales.

The Board of Directors of Ruukki Group Plc has determined 

a cash management policy for the Group’s parent company, 

according to which the excess cash reserves are deposited 

for a short-term only and with sound financial institutions 

with which the Group has had business relations. These 

reserves are diversified into a number of counterparties 

so that a single entity can have a maximum of 40% share 

of total deposits. The credit rating of all significant coun-

terparties is analysed from time to time. The exposure to 

foreign currencies at the end of 2008 was very minor, since 

the deposits were almost fully denominated in EUR. 

During the financial year, credit losses booked through 

the profit and loss account were not significant. 
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(iv) Liquidity risk

The Group regularly assesses and monitors the investment 

and working capital needs and financing so that the Group 

has enough liquidity to serve and finance its operations 

and pay back loans. The availability and flexibility of fi-

nancing are targeted to be guaranteed by using multiple 

financial institutions in the financing and financial instru-

ments, and to agree on financial limit arrangements. Cash 

flow forecasts on both incoming and outgoing cash flows 

are taken into account when the Group companies make 

decisions on liquidity management and investments, as 

well as when they plan short-term and long-term financing 

needs.

Even though the Group’s cash reserves declined during 

2009, mainly due to Mogale Alloys acquisition and share 

buy-backs, there are still no major short-term challenges 

to the Group’s liquidity. However, in the sawmill business, 

which is capital-intensive, there might be some needs to 

restructure the financing portfolio. In addition to the debt 

from financial institutions, the Mogale Alloys deferred pur-

chase consideration has to be settled in cash. At the end 

of 2009, the Group had about EUR 7.3 (31.12.2008: 0.0) 

million worth of unused credit facilities in place.

If the liquidity risks would be realised, it would probably 

cause overdue interest expenses and may make coop-

eration with goods and services suppliers more difficult. 

Consequently, the pricing and other terms for input goods 

and services and for financing could be affected.

At the end of 2009, the Group’s cash and short-term deposits at financial institutions were split in the following way:

Financial institution’s/counterparty’s rating Counterparty’s domicile
Ruukki Group’s cash and 
short-term deposits, 31 

December 2009, EUR million

% of cash and interest-
bearing receivables, 31 

December 2009

Aa2 (Moody’s, long-term), multiple banks Finland 39.8 68%

A3 (Moody’s, long-term) Malta 8.9 15%

Baa2 (Moody’s, long-term) Great Britain 4.3 7%

A1 (Moody’s, long-term) Great Britain 1.7 3%

Other/not rated Various 3.7 7%

Total 58.4 100%

The maximum credit risk is equal to the balance sheet value of the receivables as of 31 December, and is split in the 

following way:

EUR million 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Interest-bearing

Cash and cash equivalents 55.9 45.4

Held-to-maturity investments, short-term 2.5 186.5

Receivable from related party 10.1 16.4

Other interest-bearing receivables 6.7 4.4

Interest-bearing, total 75.1 252.7

Non-interest bearing

Trade receivables 25.7 17.0

Current prepayments and accrued income 10.9 16.2

Other short-term receivables 11.5 2.9

Long-term receivables 11.9 0.5

Non-interest-bearing, total 60.0 36.6

Total 135.2 289.3

Of the interest-bearing liabilities as of 31 December 2009 about EUR 2.2 million have been put on an escrow account of a third party authority due 
to claims from Sampo Bank. The Group considers the receivable amount undisputed, and the Sampo Bank requirements relate to other legal dispute 
between Lappipaneli and Sampo Bank.
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The maturity distribution of the Group debt was the following at the balance sheet date:

31.12.2009

EUR ‘000
Carrying 
amount

Contractual  
cash flows

6 months  
or less

6-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years
More than 

 5 years

Financial liabilities

Secured bank loans 23 678 -26 480 -3 458 -4 011 -6 819 -10 686 -1 507

Unsecured bank loans 2 934 -2 934 0 -2 934 0 0 0

Convertible loans 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Finance lease liabilities 783 -933 -280 -257 -253 -143 0

Trade and other payables 133 620 -148 635 -36 903 -16 532 -47 061 -48 136 -3

Bank overdraft 3 817 -3 880 -232 -3 647 0 0 0

Derivatives

Currency derivatives

Outflow 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Inflow 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Interest rate swaps 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 164 831 -182 862 -40 872 -27 381 -54 133 -58 965 -1 510

31.12.2008

EUR ‘000
Carrying 
amount

Contractual  
cash flows

6 months  
or less

6-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years
More than 

 5 years

Financial liabilities

Secured bank loans 27 317 -32 846 -3 882 -4 111 -10 017 -11 387 -3 449

Unsecured bank loans 4 480 -5 308 -797 -716 -1 027 -2 193 -576

Convertible loans 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Finance lease liabilities 6 -6 -6 0 0 0 0

Trade and other payables 113 545 -118 805 -54 733 -900 -19 605 -43 564 -3

Bank overdraft 4 367 -1 906 -1 472 -57 -94 -283 0

Derivatives

Currency derivatives

Outflow -2 527 -3 498 -3 498 0 0 0 0

Inflow 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Interest rate swaps 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 147 187 -162 370 -64 388 -5 784 -30 743 -57 427 -4 028

(v) Commodity risks

The Group is exposed to price risks on various output and 

input products, materials and commodities. Also, securing 

the availability of raw materials without any major discon-

tinuation is essential to the industrial processes.

The price risks on input materials and commodities are 

managed by pricing policies so that changes in input ma-

terials and commodities could be moved into sales prices. 

This, however, is not always possible or there might be 

delays due to contractual or competitive reasons.

 

The Group’s units that have industrial production op-

erations are exposed to the availability, quality and price 

fluctuations in raw materials and commodities. To dimin-

ish these risks, the Group’s business units try to enter 

into long-term agreements with known counterparties; 

however, in certain industries like the Minerals business, 

this is not possible due to the tradition and practice of 

the business. For the most part, as it is not possible or 

economically feasible to hedge commodity price risks in 

the Group’s business sectors with derivative contracts, the 

Group did not have any commodity derivative contracts in 

place as of 31 December 2009.

The effect of changes in the sales price of special grade 

ferrochrome, produced by the Group’s Southern European 

minerals business, to the Group’s EBITDA is illustrated 

in the table next page, assuming that the EUR/USD rate 

would be constant. Since the products are effectively 

priced in USD, the exchange rate changes could have a 

major effect on the Group’s EBITDA in EUR. Full capacity 

for simulation purposes is set at 30,000 tn/a. In ferro-

chrome production, a number of raw materials are used, 

including chrome ore concentrate and ferrosilicochrome. 

Electricity usage is also substantial, and hence changes in 
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electricity prices have a significant effect on profitability; 

typically, the electricity price does not correlate perfectly 

with changes in commodity prices. However, in practice, 

the purchase prices of the main raw materials typically 

change to the same direction as the sales prices, even 

though the correlation is not perfect and the timing might 

differ. Therefore, the net effect on the Group’s EBITDA 

most probably would be lower than shown below.

 

The South African ferroalloys smelting business of Mogale 

Alloys, acquired into the Group in 2009, can change its 

product mix quite rapidly and flexibly. Therefore, only 

rough estimates on its sensitivity to commodity price 

changes can be given. In general, the full production ca-

pacity is about 110,000 metric tn/a of various metal alloys. 

Assuming that all of the Mogale capacity would be used 

to charge chrome production only, which is only a simpli-

fication, and using the year-end 2009 sales price indica-

tions for charge chrome, the table below can be used as 

a rough proxy of the sales price sensitivities. It also shall 

be taken into account that both changes in exchange rate, 

both USD and ZAR, and changes in electricity prices can 

substantially affect the profitability in addition to changes 

in market prices.

 

 

Southern European minerals business

Change in full year EBITDA (EUR ‘000)

EUR ‘000
Change in sales price compared 
to January 8th, 2010, price

30,000 tn/a
full capacity

22,500 tn/a
75% capacity

15,000 tn/a
50% capacity

7,500 tn/a
25% capacity

2.19 20% 11 730 8 798 5 865 2 933

2.10 15% 8 798 6 598 4 399 2 199

2.01 10% 5 865 4 399 2 933 1 466

1.92 5% 2 933 2 199 1 466 733

USD/lb Cr 1.83 0% 0 0 0 0

1.73 -5% -2 933 -2 199 -1 466 -733

1.64 -10% -5 865 -4 399 -2 933 -1 466

1.55 -15% -8 798 -6 598 -4 399 -2 199

1.46 -20% -11 730 -8 798 -5 865 -2 933

South African minerals business

Change in full year EBITDA (EUR ‘000)

EUR ‘000
Change in sales price compared 
to January 8th, 2010, price

100,000 tn/a
full capacity

75,000 tn/a
75% capacity

50,000 tn/a
50% capacity

25,000 tn/a
25% capacity

1.14 20% 14 538 10 904 7 269 3 635

1.09 15% 10 904 8 178 5 452 2 726

1.05 10% 7 269 5 452 3 635 1 817

1.00 5% 3 635 2 726 1 817 909

USD/lb Cr 0.95 0% 0 0 0 0

0.90 -5% -3 635 -2 726 -1 817 -909

0.86 -10% -7 269 -5 452 -3 635 -1 817

0.81 -15% -10 904 -8 178 -5 452 -2 726

0.76 -20% -14 538 -10 904 -7 269 -3 635

Sensitivity analysis

Effect of changes in ferrochrome sales prices to Group EBITDA

Main assumptions, Southern European minerals business:

Sales price is equal to the 8 January 2010 average price  »

(quote in Metal Bulletin) 

Ferrochrome 0.10% C, average 68-70% Cr major  »

European destinations $/lb Cr

Average price was 1.825 USD/lb Cr »

Average chrome content of 70% assumed  »

USD/EUR rate on 31.12.2009 fixed at 1.4406 (Bank of  »

Finland)

Full capacity is assumed to be 30,000 tn / year »

Main assumptions, South African minerals business:

Mogale assumed to utlise all of its capacity, with about  »

1 month maintenance break, for charge chrome FeCr 

production only

Sales price is equal to the 8 January 2010 average price  »

(quote in Metal Bulletin)

Ferro-chrome 6-8% C basis 60% Cr, max 1,5% Si »

Average price was 0.95 USD/lb Cr »

Average chrome content of 50% assumed »

USD/EUR rate on 31.12.2009 fixed at 1.4406 (Bank of  »

Finland)

Full capacity is assumed to be 100,000 tn / year »
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The effect of changes in the sawmill business sales prices 

of end-products and purchase prices of logs are illustrated 

in the following table under various capacity utilisation 

rates. It should be taken into account that side-products 

(like chips) are not included, and that since the Group’s 

sawmills sell their products to some extent to the Group’s 

house building and pallet businesses, the net effect of 

consolidated Group results should typically be somewhat 

different from the presented figures. Logs present roughly 

two thirds of production costs and thus have a substantial 

effect to the EBITDA margin. As far as the capacity utilisa-

tion rate is concerned, it must also be taken into account 

that if the capacity utilization rate would be lowered, it 

typically would increase the cost per output unit, since 

fixed costs would be stable at least for the short-term; 

however, this would normally decrease the capital tied 

up in working capital. Also, the product mix can change, 

which is not taken into account in the table.

Main assumptions:

Sales price is equal to December 2009 average pine and  »

spruce export price from Finnish Customs statistics/

Woodnotes

Full capacity of the sawmills assumed to be 300,000 m » 3 

of sawn timber products / year

Purchase price of logs is based on Metla December  »

2009 statistics (average price of spruce and pine, 

Finland average)

Log yield (input-output) is assumed to be 2.34 times  »

the output value

Mix of raw material assumed to be 50% spruce and  »

50% pine

Effect of the chip sales price and prices of other sawmill  »

side-products excluded

Effect of the exchange rates excluded, direct and  »

indirect

Changes in volumes having linear effect on revenue and  »

costs, no economies of scale, linear interdependencies

Not taken into account the effect on the input costs of  »

the Group’s house building and pallet businesses

Sensitivity analysis

Effect of changes in sawn timber sales prices and log purchase prices to Group EBITDA

Change in full year EBITDA (EUR ‘000)

EUR ‘000
Change in sales price compared 
to Dec 2009 average price

300,000 m3/a
full capacity

225,000 m3/a
75% capacity

150,000 m3/a
50% capacity

75,000 m3/a
25% capacity

216.00 20% 10 800 8 100 5 400 2 700

207.00 15% 8 100 6 075 4 050 2 025

198.00 10% 5 400 4 050 2 700 1 350

189.00 5% 2 700 2 025 1 350 675

EUR/m3 180.00 0% 0 0 0 0

171.00 -5% -2 700 -2 025 -1 350 -675

162.00 -10% -5 400 -4 050 -2 700 -1 350

153.00 -15% -8 100 -6 075 -4 050 -2 025

144.00 -20% -10 800 -8 100 -5 400 -2 700

Change in full year EBITDA (EUR ‘000)

EUR ‘000
Change in sales price compared 
to Dec 2009 average price

300,000 m3/a
full capacity

225,000 m3/a
75% capacity

150,000 m3/a
50% capacity

75,000 m3/a
25% capacity

57.36 20% -6 711 -5 033 -3 356 -1 678

54.97 15% -5 033 -3 775 -2 517 -1 258

52.58 10% -3 356 -2 517 -1 678 -839

50.19 5% -1 678 -1 258 -839 -419

EUR/m3 47.80 0% 0 0 0 0

45.41 -5% 1 678 1 258 839 419

43.02 -10% 3 356 2 517 1 678 839

40.63 -15% 5 033 3 775 2 517 1 258

38.24 -20% 6 711 5 033 3 356 1 678
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* Ruukki Group Plc holds a put option on the shares of Türk Maadin 
Sirketi A.S. to sell the shares at any time until 28 October 2010 at their 
purchase price.

** Elektrowerk Weisweiler GmbH is consolidated into Ruukki Group in 
accordance with SIC-12 principles as described in accounting policies 
of consolidated financial statements. Ruukki Group Plc also has a call 
option from 1 January 2014 to 31 March 2014 to acquire all the shares 
of Elektrowerk Weisweiler GmbH.

*** Ruukki Group has a call option to carry out transactions after 
which Ruukki Group would have all shares of Junnikkala Oy. The vest-
ing period of the option begins in spring 2011 and ends in spring 2013. 
Ruukki Group controls about 51.02% of the shares and 51.06% of the 
voting rights of Junnikkala Oy.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

GROUP STRUCTURE 31.12.2009

Subsidiary name and domicile
Group ownership and share of votes 

(%)

Ruukki Group Plc direct ownership and 

share of votes (%)

Minerals business

Southern European minerals business

Ruukki Holdings Ltd, Valletta, Malta 100.00 99.99

RCS Ltd, Valletta, Malta 100.00 0.00

Türk Maadin Sirketi A.S., Istanbul, Turkey   98.74 * 98.74

TH Ören Madencilik TAO, Istanbul, Turkey 73.08 0.00

Metal ve Maden ic ve Dis Pazarlama Tic Ltd, Sti, Istanbul, Turkey 97.76 0.00

Elektrowerk Weisweiler GmbH, Eschweiler-Weisweiler, Germany      0.00 **     0.00

Ruukki Suisse SA, Switzerland 100.00 100.00

South African minerals business

Ruukki South Africa (Pty) Ltd, South Africa 100.00    0.00

Dezzo Trading 184 (Pty) Ltd, South Africa 100.00    0.00

PGR17 Investments (Pty) Ltd, South Africa 100.00    0.00

PGR3 (Pty) Ltd, South Africa 63.00    0.00

Mogale Alloys (Pty) Ltd, South Africa 84.90    0.00

Wood Processing business

House building business 

Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy, Oulunsalo 100.00 100.00

Nivaelement Oy, Nivala 100.00    0.00

RG Design-Talotekniikka Oy, Ii 70.10    0.00

Kirkkonummen Kiinteistösijoitus Oy, Helsinki 100.00    0.00

Storms Villa Oy, Kirkkonummi 100.00    0.00

Storms Gård Oy, Kirkkonummi 100.00    0.00

Sawmill business

Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy, Espoo 100.00 100.00

Ruukki Wood Oy, Espoo 100.00 0.00

Ruukki Invest Oy, Espoo 100.00 0.00

Utawood Oy, Utajärvi 96.70 0.00

Lappipaneli Oy, Kuusamo 100.00 0.00

Junnikkala Oy, Kalajoki   51.02 *** 0.00

Pallet business

Oplax, Oulu 100.00 100.00

Other group companies

Alumni Oy, Espoo 100.00 100.00

Balansor Oy, Espoo 99.99 99.99

Hirviset Group Oy, Espoo 100.00 100.00

Rekylator Oy, Helsinki 100.00 100.00C
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ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Associated company’s name and domicile
Group ownership and share of votes 

(%)

Ruukki Group Plc direct ownership 

and share of votes (%)

Minerals business

PGR Manganese (Pty) Ltd, South Africa * 49.00    0.00

Special Super Alloys SSA Inc., United States 20.00    0.00

Other (excluding passive companies)

Incap Furniture Oy ** 24.06 12.45

ILP-Group Ltd Oy 33.44 33.44

Widian Oy 39.64 39.64

Stellatum Oy 34.00 34.00

Arc Technology Oy 37.40 37.40

Valtimo Components Oyj *** 24.90 24.90

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Ruukki Group Plc defines the related party consisting of:

companies or entities having common control or con- »

siderable voting power in Ruukki Group

subsidiaries »

associates »

Ruukki Group Plc’s and the above mentioned entities’  »

top management

Ruukki Group’s management, its significant shareholders 

and Group Companies’ management might, as private 

individuals or through companies or entities directly or 

indirectly controlled by them, or with other parties having 

considerable control or voting power, have transactions 

classified as related party transactions with any companies 

belonging to Ruukki Group. Their close family members 

might also, as private individuals or through companies or 

entities directly or indirectly controlled by them, or with 

other parties having considerable control or voting power, 

have transactions classified as related party transactions 

with any companies belonging to Ruukki Group. These 

individuals or entities might also have had existing agree-

ments or business operations with Ruukki Group com-

panies prior to the date that Ruukki Group has obtained 

control in the entities.

IAS 24 standard defines top management as those com-

pany employees who have direct or indirect power, author-

ity and responsibility to affect company operations plan-

ning, management and control functions. This definition 

includes Board members and company top management 

team.

* A holding company that is founded in relation to Mogale Alloys (Pty) Ltd acquisition and which owns 10% of Mogale shares.
** Incap Furniture Oy is in corporate restructuring process
*** Valtimo Components Oyj is in corporate restructuring process, ownership can increase to 39.23% if the shares sold earlier, held as pledge, are 
not to be paid to Ruukki Group in cash 

The Group’s South African subsidiary Mogale Alloys owns a 30 percent interest in Nuco Chrome Bophuthatswana (Pty) Ltd, 

but there are certain outstanding legal disputes around the ownership. Moreover, South African subsidiary of the Group 

PGR3 Investments (Pty) Ltd has a 30 percent ownership interest in Leswikeng Minerals UG2 (Pty) Ltd.

C
O

N
S

O
L
ID

A
T

E
D

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

T
A

T
E

M
E

N
T

S



98

As some of the Company’s Board members have also had 

executive management roles both the Board fees and 

the salaries in relation to the executive role have been 

presented above. Of the aforementioned items, accruals 

based and unpaid salaries and fees totalled about EUR 

265,000 on 31.12.2009, which was mainly related to bo-

nus accruals for the Company’s CEO and for a subsidiary’s 

CEO (about EUR 44,000 on 31.12.2008).

In addition to the above mentioned salaries, Alwyn Smit 

has altogether 2,900,000 Ruukki Group Plc option rights, 

based on which a total of EUR 637,000 has been recog-

nised in Group accounting as option expenses for the 2009 

income statement (EUR 55,000 in 2008). Moreover, in 

October 2009 Thomas Hoyer was granted Ruukki Group 

Plc shares with a total value of EUR 100,000 that has been 

recognised as expense in the 2009 income statement in 

addition to the sums presented above.

A total options expense of EUR 354,000 was recognised in 

2009 (2008: EUR 339,000) for the Group’s previous Deputy 

CEO Kivimaa (Deputy CEO, Wood processing business until 

end of third quarter) and Deputy CEO Havia. The ex-CEO 

Vikkula had, in addition to the above mentioned and based 

on his CEO contract, a synthetic option arrangement and 

300,000 free shares received as incentive. Based on this 

arrangement  a total of EUR 484,000 was recorded accord-

ing to IFRS 2 standard as expenses in the 2008 income 

statement even though no synthetic option cash flows 

were eventually realised.

Related party transaction with persons belonging to group board and management
Finnish accounting legislation, KPA 2:8 § 4 mom disclosure requirement

2009 2008

EUR ‘000 Salaries Fees Salaries Fees

Borman Thomas, Board member 11.7.2008 - 2.8.2008 0

Havia Jukka, Deputy CEO 12.9.2008 onwards 243 48

Haapanen Mikko, Board member 26.4.2006 - 31.3.2008 2

Hoyer Thomas, Board member 7.10.2008 onwards 150 60 14

Hukkanen Esa, Board member 11.7.2008 - 7.5.2009 * 32 20 79 28

Kankaala Markku, Board member 30.6.2003 onwards 60 47

Kivimaa Antti, CEO's deputy 1.9.2007 - 12.9.2008;

Deputy CEO 12.9.2008 - 30.9.2009 ** 123 161

Koncar Danko, Board member 31.3.2008 - 11.7.2008 17

Lainema Matti, Board member 26.4.2006 onwards; Chairman 1.9.2007 - 11.7.2008 28

Manojlovic Jelena, Board member 11.7.2008 onwards, Chairperson from 17.6.2009 75 28

McConnachie Terence, Board member 7.10.2008 onwards 60 14
Mäkelä Kai, Board member 10.2.2000 onwards, Deputy Chairman  
26.4.2006 - 31.3.2008

2

Pelkonen Arno, Board member 20.4.2007 - 24.1.2008 1

Poranen Timo, Board member 20.4.2007 - 11.7.2008 33

Ryzhkov Konstantin, Board member 31.3.2008 - 11.7.2008 17

Smit Alwyn, Board member 31.3.2008 onwards, Chairman 11.7.2008 - 17.6.2009

Group CEO 12.9.2008 onwards 458 75 120 96

Vikkula Matti, Board member 7.6.2005 onwards, Chairman 6.4.2006 - 31.8.2007

Group CEO 1.9.2007 - 31.7.2008 1 237

Vilppula Ahti, Board member 7.6.2005 - 11.7.2008 12

Total 1 005 350 1 645 338

* salaries up until 30.4.2009 
** salaries up until 30.9.2009

C
O

N
S

O
L
ID

A
T

E
D

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

T
A

T
E

M
E

N
T

S



99

The main terms of the CEO agreement signed with Alwyn 

Smit on 11 September 2008, valid at the end of December 

2009, are the following:

 

a fixed monthly gross salary of EUR 30,000 »

the bonus salary is based on targets set by the Board  »

in advance and annually capped at 24 months’ gross 

salary

the bonus salary for the financial year 2009 perform- »

ance has been tied to four indicators as defined by the 

Board in the summer 2009 (the relative importance 

of each indicator presented in brackets): 1) realised 

EBITDA of the current businesses (60%); 2) Ruukki 

Group Plc’s share price performance (25%); 3) com-

pletion of unfinished acquisition processes (10%); 4) 

other factors (5%)

based on the EGM resolution in October 2008, Smit  »

has altogether 2,900,000 option rights from the I/2008 

option scheme; if the CEO resigns on his initiative the 

Company has the unilateral right to cancel the options 

Smit does not have any extra pensions and pension  »

age benefits

the Company is obliged to arrange Smit life, travel and  »

occupational health insurances 

five weeks annual vacation  »

non-competition is valid six months after the CEO  »

agreement has been terminated 

in case the employer terminates the agreement, six  »

months notice period and the notice period pay is ap-

plied; if the CEO terminates the agreement the notice 

period is three months

Based on their membership in the Ruukki Group Plc Board, 

the Board members received a total of EUR 350,000 as 

Board membership fees during 2009 (EUR 323,000 in 

2008). In addition, Board members received fees on other 

bases to a total of EUR 0 (2008: 15,000).

For group companies’ Managing Directors and Board mem-

bers a total of EUR 1,600,000 has been paid as salaries 

and Board membership fees in 2009 (EUR 1,110,000 in 

2008). In addition, as additional pension insurance pay-

ments a total of EUR 7,600 has been paid to these persons 

(EUR 26,000).

EUR ’000 2009 2008

Short-term remuneration 1 355 2 813

Pensions (TyeL) 237 329

Total 1 592 3 142

The information above includes IFRS 2 based options expenses and 
other similar share-based expenses a total of EUR 991,000 in 2009 
(EUR 878,000 in 2008). The 2008 figures also include ex-CEO Matti 
Vikkula’s non-recurring resignation costs.

Management remuneration, including the individu-

als detailed above as well as other Ruukki Group Plc 

management:

Management remuneration
IAS 24.16 disclosure

Paid/accrued earn-outs
On the period on which results the earn-outs are based

EUR ‘000 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Jelena Manojlovic, chairperson of Ruukki Group 
Plc's Board of Directors

 via Danko Koncar (Kermas Limited) 2 933 4 801 5 841 7 134 8 407

Segment management and their related parties,

total 197 62

Other Ruukki Group employees and their

related parties, total 358 181

Total 555 3 175 4 801 5 841 7 134 8 407 0
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THE PARENT COMPANIES OF THE BUSINESS 
AREAS WERE THE FOLLOWING ON 31.12.2009

Minerals business

Ruukki Holdings Ltd; 

Southern European minerals business *

Ruukki South Africa (Pty) Ltd:  

South African minerals business

Wood Processing business

Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy; house building 

Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy; sawmill business

Oplax Oy; pallet business

*Ruukki Group Plc directly holds the shares in the Turkish subsidiary

For certain Ruukki Group’s acquisitions, future earn-out 

structures, based on the future profitability of target com-

panies, have been typical. These earn-out liabilities have 

been settled either by cash or by Ruukki Group’s own 

shares. Within these annual accounts, there is a separate 

section where earn-out structures are written out in more 

detail. All future related conditional earn-out payments 

have been estimated, and the estimated amounts have 

been recognised on the balance sheet as liabilities.

Certain Ruukki Group Plc’s Board members and group 

companies’ management team members, or their related 

parties, are and/or have been either directly or through 

entities controlled by them counterparties in acquisi-

tions where there are earn-out structures to be settled 

either in cash or in Ruukki Group’s shares. Of the unset-

tled earn-out liabilities, as estimated and recognised on 

31 December 2009, with related parties altogether EUR 

29.1 million will be settled in Ruukki Group Plc’s shares 

(estimate on 31 December 2008 was EUR 50.8 million) 

and the rest in cash.

OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS IN OR 
AFTER 2009

Earn-out and deferred purchase consideration pay-

ments to related parties

As part of Mogale Alloys acquisition deferred and condi-

tional purchase consideration tranches were agreed upon,

totalling about 40% of the total rand denominated cash 

outflows. Based on that, Ruukki Group’s subsidiary Ruukki

South Africa paid a total of about EUR 0.7 million to related 

parties in 2009. At the end of 2009 the parties however 

had different opinions as to if all the conditions are met, 

so no additional payments have been made after the EUR 

0.7 million payment.

Ruukki Group Plc paid about EUR 0.2 million in cash as 

earn-out payments to the ex-CEO of the house building 

business parent company in 2009 and in addition an EUR 

0.9 million fixed deferred purchase consideration.

Ruukki Group’s sawmill business area’s parent company, 

Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy, paid about EUR 0.2 million in cash at the 

end of December as earn-out payments to the sellers of 

Tervolan Saha ja Höyläämö Oy.

Dividend payout to related parties

The Group’s parent company paid a total of EUR 4.5 mil-

lion in capital redemption to related parties, based on the 

dividend payout decision by the Annual General Meeting 

held on 7 May 2009. Furthermore, the Group’s subsidiar-

ies have paid about EUR 0.1 million as dividends to the 

related parties who are minority shareholders of those 

companies.

Loans to related parties

Ruukki Group Plc had on 31 December 2009 an interest-

bearing, long-term receivable, with no collateral backing, 

from the company’s ex-CEO for an outstanding amount of 

about EUR 0.9 million, including capital and accrued inter-

est. During 2009, a total of EUR 0.5 million of this loan 

was repaid to the Company.

Group’s sawmill business area subsidiary had on 31 

December 2009 about EUR 0.5 million dividend distribu-

tion liability to its minority shareholders.

Subsidiary of Group’s Minerals business segment has given 

a retention loan to one member of the subsidiary manage-

ment. At the end of 2009 the balance of the nominal loan 

capital stood at about EUR 0.1 million. 

Elektrowerk Weisweiler GmbH, of which Ruukki Group 

owns no shares but which has been consolidated into the 

Group based on SIC-12 interpretation, had on 31 December 

2009 a EUR 10.0 million receivable (EUR 15.0 million) from 

Kermas Ltd, the parent company of Elektrowerk Weisweiler 

which, in turn, is a major shareholder in Ruukki Group Plc. 
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The accrued interest on 31 December 2009 on this loan 

totalled EUR 0.1 million.

Consultancy and other fees to entities controlled by 

related parties

Ruukki Group paid a total of about EUR 0.4 million in 2009 

as consultancy fees and other expenses to companies con-

trolled by individuals being related parties of the Group.

Transactions with associated companies

Relating to the preparations of Ruukki Group’s Russian 

sawmill project, the Group’s subsidiary has temporarily 

used (since summer 2008) warehousing services partially 

provided by an associated company minority-owned by 

Ruukki Group Plc. The Group’s subsidiary has paid alto-

gether about EUR 0.5 million for these services during the 

financial year 2009.

The Group’s sawmills sold sawn timber to an associated 

company for a total value of EUR 0.3 million during 2009.

Other related party transactions

In 2009, the Group’s Minerals business subsidiary bought 

chromite concentrate from a related party for a value of 

EUR 0.3 million.

In February 2010, the Group’s Turkish subsidiary acquired 

99% of shares in another Turkish company, Intermetal, 

from the subsidiary’s Managing Director for a cash consid-

eration of about EUR 0.3 million.

During 2009, the Group’s house building business sold 

single-family houses to the employees for a total value of 

about EUR 1.1 million including VAT. 

The Group’s house building subsidiary sold electro-techni-

cal work to a controlled corporation of its minority share-

holder for a total value of EUR 0.1 million.

The Group’s sawmill business subsidiary acquired an office 

building from a related party for a total value of EUR 0.2 million. 

Ruukki Group’s sawmill business’ parent company, Ruukki 

Yhtiöt Oy, sold its 91.42% stake in Tervolan Saha ja 

Höyläämö Oy (‘TSH’) to TSH as part of TSH’s directed ac-

quisition of TSH’s own shares. The effective date for the 

transfer of the shares to TSH was 31 December 2009. In 

conjunction with the deal, the call option agreement with 

TSH minority shareholders was dissolved. The considera-

tion for the shares totalled approximately EUR 4.1 million 

and was paid in cash in December. TSH also distributed a 

dividend of about EUR 3.7 million to Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy. 

During December 2009, Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy terminated the 

put options it had written in relation to the Junnikkala 

acquisition after which it only has the call option left in 

accordance with the original transaction agreements. 

During 2009, the Group’s Minerals business subsidiary pur-

chased raw materials from Leswikeng UG2 Minerals (Pty) 

Ltd, for a total value of about EUR 0.4 million.   

Kermas Ltd, a company being a related party to the Group, 

committed itself in October to grant Ruukki South Africa 

(Pty) Ltd, a subsidiary of Ruukki Group, a pledge in rela-

tion to the environmental liabilities of Mogale Alloys (Pty) 

Ltd. This pledge will be given in Ruukki Group Plc shares, 

so that Kermas Ltd pledges shares for an amount corre-

sponding to 5% of Ruukki Group Plc’s shares outstand-

ing. However, this has not yet been implemented on 31 

December 2009.

Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy sold 
its 91.42% stake in Tervolan 

Saha ja Höyläämö.
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OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 2008

Purchase of RCS Ltd and Türk Maadin Sirketi A.S. 

Based on the 28 October 2008 resolutions by the 

Extraordinary General Meeting, Ruukki Group Plc paid 

Kermas Ltd EUR 80 million in cash as purchase considera-

tion for the acquisition of the chrome ore and ferrochrome 

businesses. In addition, Ruukki Group Plc granted Kermas 

Ltd a total of 73,170,731 option rights related to potential 

future earn-out consideration, whose payment is condi-

tional upon the future financial performance of the acquisi-

tion targets for the five financial years 2009 - 2013. Earn-

out is paid to Kermas Ltd in Ruukki Group Plc’s shares, if 

the combined net result of the acquired RCS Ltd and Türk 

Maadin Sirketi A.S. is positive. In case the combined net 

result is negative, Kermas Ltd returns Ruukki Group Plc’s 

payment in cash. The amount of earn-out, and also the 

payback, is 50% of the net result, and it is calculated an-

nually. In conjunction with the transaction, Ruukki Group 

Plc and Kermas Ltd have also entered into a management 

agreement, which is valid until 31 December 2013, and 

under which Kermas Ltd provides its know-how and assist-

ance in relation to the business operations of the acquired 

companies.

Kermas Ltd is a major shareholder in Ruukki Group Plc and 

also acquired, as part of the previously described transac-

tion, at the end of 2008, in its own name 15,000,000 Ruukki 

Group Plc’s shares with a five-year lock-up commitment.

Other acquisitions and divestments with related 

parties

During the third quarter, Ruukki Group Plc acquired 9.9% 

of the shares in Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy, parent com-

pany of Ruukki Group’s house building business, from its 

Managing Director Kimmo Kurkela. The cash consideration 

agreed upon totalled approximately EUR 6.1 million, of 

which EUR 4.2 million was paid to Mr. Kurkela during the 

financial year 2008.

Ruukki Group sold, during the third quarter, about 80.6% 

of Group’s subsidiary Selka-line Oy to its Managing 

Director.

Financing arrangements

During the first quarter, the Group’s parent company made 

a EUR 10.0 million short-term deposit so that the coun-

terparty in the transaction was a company controlled by a 

related party. The capital and accrued interest of EUR 0.1 

million were fully paid back during the first quarter.

Option rights related to sawmill segment’s 

acquisition

In January, Ruukki Group’s sawmill business’s subsidi-

ary, Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy, acquired a 51% majority stake in 

Junnikkala Oy. As a part of the arrangement, a sharehold-

ers’ agreement was signed according to which, Ruukki 

Yhtiöt Oy has call options and Junnikkala Oy’s minority 

stakeholders have put options regarding the remaining 

49% minority ownership. As collateral for these options, 

Junnikkala Oy’s minority stakeholders have pledged the 

shares in question. 

Earn-out payments to related parties

Ruukki Group’s sawmill business’s parent company, Ruukki 

Yhtiöt Oy, paid about EUR 0.4 million in cash as earn-out 

payments to the sellers of Tervolan Saha ja Höyläämö Oy.

Dividend payout to related parties

The Group’s parent company has paid a total of EUR 1.3 

million in dividends to related parties based on the divi-

dend payout decision by the Annual General Meeting on 

31 March 2008. Furthermore, the group companies have 

paid about EUR 1.1 million dividends to the related parties 

that are minority shareholders of those companies.

Loans to related parties

Ruukki Group Plc had on 31 December 2008 an interest-

bearing, long-term receivable with no collateral backing, 

from the company’s ex-CEO for an outstanding amount of 

EUR 1.4 million, including capital and accrued interest.

A subsidiary of the Group had a short-term receivable 

amounting to EUR 0.8 million from a company controlled 

by a related party of Ruukki Group Plc.

Elektrowerk Weisweiler GmbH, of which Ruukki Group 

owns no shares but which has been consolidated into 
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the Group based on SIC-12 interpretation, had on 31 

December 2008 a EUR 15 million receivable from Kermas 

Ltd that is the parent company of Elektrowerk Weisweiler 

and that is a major shareholder in Ruukki Group Plc. The 

accrued interest on 31 December 2008 on this loan to-

talled EUR 0.3 million.

Consultancy and other fees to entities controlled by 

related parties

Ruukki Group Plc paid a total of about EUR 0.2 million in 

2008 as consultancy fees and other expenses to compa-

nies controlled by individuals being related parties of the 

Group.

Transactions with associated companies

Relating to the preparations of Ruukki Group’s Russian 

sawmill project, the Group’s subsidiary temporarily used, 

starting in the summer of 2008, transportation and ware-

housing services partially provided by an associated com-

pany minority-owned by Ruukki Group Plc. The Group’s 

subsidiary paid altogether some EUR 0.4 million for these 

services during 2008.

Other related party transactions

A sawmill business area’s company purchased timber raw 

material for about EUR 0.3 million during 2008 from a 

company controlled by persons belonging to the related 

party of that company.

During 2008, a subsidiary of the house building business 

area sold services to companies controlled or managed by 

the management of the subsidiary for a total value of close 

to EUR 0.3 million; it also, to minor extent, bought some 

services from those companies.

The Group’s Russian subsidiary paid about EUR 0.2 million 

as rent for its premises to a related party during 2008.

During 2008, the Group’s house building business made 

an agreement to deliver 31 wooden holiday houses to a 

company controlled by related parties. The total value of 

this delivery including value added tax was about EUR 

4.3 million. Related to this transaction, the Group’s house 

building business had approximately an EUR 0.9 million 

receivable on 31.12.2008. The Group subsidiary had, 

however, received a real security from the customer as 

collateral for receivables.
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OTHER NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

G1. Revenue 

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Continuing operations    

Sale of goods 190 753 153 849

Rendering of services 1 739 2 058

Construction contracts 867 2 758
193 359 158 665

Discontinued operations

Sale of goods 0 78 506

Rendering of services 0 10 190

0 88 696

Total 193 359 247 361

Construction contracts above relate to the Group’s house building busi-
ness, where there were deliveries of leisure home, and that projects’ 
revenue was recognised based on the stage of completion of those 
projects. The services revenue comes mainly from house building 
business’s HVAC and electrical services sales as well as from services 
attached to the deliveries of wooden pallets.
 

G2. Other operating income

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Gain on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment

217 294

Gain on disposal of investments 840 841

Government grants 3 6

Insurance compensations 2 1 785

Other 6 526 722

Total 7 587 3 648
 
The 2009 other operating income includes a total of an EUR 5.3 million 
non-recurring item based on termination of put option arrangement 
in relation to Junnikkala Oy sawmill and about EUR 0.8 million gain in 
relation to the sale of Lappipaneli Oy’s sawmill business.

G3. Employee benefits

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Salaries and wages -22 177 -29 841

Share-based payments -991 -395
Pensions, defined contribution 
plans

-3 253 -5 117

Pensions, defined benefit plans -806 0

Other employee related costs -1 003 -2 006

Total -28 230 -37 358

Average personnel during the accounting period

2009 2008

Wood Processing business 295 306

House building 88 113

Sawmills business 158 151

Pallets 49 42

Minerals business 517 69

Group Management 9 8

Other operations 3 35

Discontinued operations 0 495

Total 824 913

Personnel at the end of the accounting period

2009 2008

Wood Processing business 253 301

House building 91 99

Sawmills business 116 150

Pallets 46 42

Minerals business 629 404

Group Management 9 8

Other operations 2 8

Discontinued operations 0 0

Total 893 721

Defined benefit pension plans

The majority of the Group’s pension plans are defined contribution plans 
for which total expense of EUR 2.9 million has been recognised in the 
income statement for 2009. In addition, the Group’s German subsidiary 
has defined benefit plans. The obligations relating to those plans have 
been defined by actuarial calculations. The pension scheme is arranged 
by recognising a provision in the balance sheet. The pension plan in 
question has been transferred into the Group in consequence of a busi-
ness combination carried out on 31 October 2008. The present value of 
the obligation less fair value of plan assets totalled EUR 11.0 million on 
31 December 2009 (EUR 11.1 million on 31 December 2008). The Group 
has considered that the value on 31 December also corresponds with 
the amount of net obligation at the balance sheet date. The Group does 
not possess the assets of the pension plans.

Retirement benefit obligation

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Present value of funded obligation 13 740 13 082

Fair value of plan assets 3 035 1 966

10 705 11 116

Unrecognised actuarial gains (losses) 330 0

Net liability 11 035 11 116

Movements in defined benefit obligation

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Defined benefit obligations at 1.1. 13 082 0

Benefits paid by the plan -573

Current service costs 198
Interest expense 748
Business combinations 13 082

Actuarial (gains) losses 285

Closing balance 31.12. 13 740 13 082
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Historical information

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Present value of defined benefit 
obligation

-13 740 -13 082

Fair value of plan assets 3 035 1 966

Deficit in the plan -10 705 -11 116

Experience adjustments arising 
on plan liabilities

-110

Experience adjustments arising 
on plan assets

-79

 

Provision for retirement pay liability in Turkey

In accordance with the existing social legislation in Turkey, the Turkish 
subsidiary of the Group is required to make lump-sum payments to 
employees whose employment is terminated due to retirement or for 
reasons other than resignation or misconduct. The computation of the 
liability was based upon the retirement pay ceiling announced by the 
Government. As of 31 December 2009, employee severance indemnity 
of about EUR 0.5 million (TRy 1.1 million) is recognised in the financial 
statements in accordance with IAS 19. The key actuarial assumptions 
used at 31 December 2009, were the following: interest rate 11%, ex-
pected rates of salary/limit increases 4.8%.

G4. Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 

 

Depreciation / amortisation by asset category

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Intangible assets    

Trademarks -141 -141

Clientele -15 029 -5 249

Technology -2 432 -186
Other intangible assets -310 -243

Total -17 911 -5 818

Property, plant and equipment    

Buildings and constructions -1 621 -1 859

Machinery and equipment -5 868 -6 034

Other tangible assets -1 559 -456

Total -9 048 -8 349

Impairment by asset category

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Buildings and constructions 0 -1 888

Machinery and equipment 0 -24 012

Goodwill -19 079 -13 526

Clientele 0 -1 567
Other intangible assets 0 -41
Total -19 079 -41 034

Reversal of impairmet losses by asset category

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Machinery and equipment 2 059 0

Total 2 059 0

 
In December 2009, goodwill in relation to Mogale Alloys was impaired 
by EUR 19.1 million. Due to the sale of Lappipaneli Oy’s assets at the 
end of the year, a EUR 2.1 million impairment recognised in 2008 on 
tangible assets was reversed in December 2009. In addition, below EBIT 
in the income statement there are additional impairment on the shares 
of associates (in 2009 altogether EUR 0.9 million) and write-downs of 
financial assets in relation to the Russian projects (in 2009 altogether 
EUR 1.5 million).

Of the 2008 impairment losses altogether EUR 17.7 million are related 
to changes in the Russian investment project preparations. As a result 
of the general economic situation and changes in financial markets, the 
sawmill business area recognised EUR 20.4 million impairment and cor-
respondingly the furniture business, which was not consolidated into the 
Group at the balance sheet date, recognised impairment losses amount-
ing to EUR 2.9 million.  In addition, the value of loan receivables of 
associated companies was written down by about EUR 0.1 million. 
 
The impairment losses recognised have been to major extent caused 
by changes in the actual and forecasted demand as well as sales and 
purchase prices of the key customer markets of the Group’s business 
areas. In particular the financial crisis has from the latter half of 2008 
adversely contributed to that. Most of the Group’s business areas op-
erate in commodity markets, whose volatility has been high over the 
last years. Moreover, the Russian wood processing investments, being 
part of the Group’s earlier strategy, have been affected by changed 
circumstances.
 

Movements in defined benefit obligation

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Fair value of the plan assets at 1.1. 2 660

Expected return on plan assets 140

Benefits paid by the plan -58
Business combinations 1 966
Actuarial gains (losses) -79

Contributions paid into the plan 372

Closing balance 31.12. 3 035 1 966

The funded pension plan has been financed through insurance 
company and therefore asset specification is not available.

Expense recognised in profit or loss

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Current service cost 198

Interest cost 748

Expected return on plan assets -140

806

Actual return on plan assets was EUR 46 thousand in 2009.

Principal actuarial assumptions 

2009 2008

Discount rate 5.75% 5.85%

Expected retirement age 65 65

Expected return on plan assets 5% 5%

Expected rate of salary increase 3% 3%

Inflation 2.25% 2.25%

Moreover, mortality expectancy in accordance with the German 
“Richttafeln 2005 G” has been applied in valuations. The expected pen-
sion increases are in line with German pension legislation. The Group 
expects that in financial year 2010 expense for defined benefit plan of 
EUR 0.4 million will be recognised in the income statement.
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G5. Other operating expenses 

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Loss on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment

0 -106

Research and development 
expenditure

0 -5

Rental costs -1 416 -3 788

External services -1 786 -3 785
Other -17 409 -20 008
Total -20 611 -27 691

During 2009, a total of about EUR 1.9 million of London listing related 
expenses were recognised. Moreover, a total of EUR 2.1 million expenses 
were booked based on the intended acquisition of Sylvania Resources. 
Based on other Minerals business related projects about EUR 0.3 million 
were recognised.

G6. Finance income and expense

Finance income

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Interest income on available-for-
sale financial assets

0 2

Dividend income on available-
for-sale financial assets

4 3

Interest income on held-to-
maturity investments

1 123 13 500

Interest income on loans and 
trade receivables

1 419 1 363

Net foreign exchange gains 1 959 1 983

Gain on disposal of available-for-
sale financial assets

0 93

Gain on disposal of financial 
assets at fair value through profit 
or loss

0 -161

Other finance income 1 366 0

Total 5 871 16 783

Finance expense 

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Interest expense on financial 
liabilities measured at amortised 
cost

-1 930 -2 903

Impairment losses on receivables 
relating to discontinued opera-
tions in Russia

-1 483 0

Impairment losses on available-
for-sale financial assets

0 -300

Impairment losses on trade 
receivables

0 -42

Net foreign exchange losses -4 707 -5 594
Net change in fair value of 
financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

0 -2 527

Other finance expenses -1 186 -1 592

Total -9 306 -12 958

Net finance income/expense -3 435 3 824

G7. Income taxes

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Income tax for the period -703 -3 585

Income tax for previous years -1 764 -228

Deferred taxes 8 076 4 985

Total 5 609 1 171

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Profit before taxes -28 336 -33 858

Income tax calculated at 
income tax rate

7 367 8 803

Tax exempt income 206 5 027
Difference between domestic 
and foreign tax rates

577 1 052

Malta tax refund 7 486 0

Income tax for previous years -1 764 -228

Income from associates 29 148

Impairment losses -4 425 -10 669
Tax losses not recognised as 
deferred tax assets

-3 278 -5 046

Non-tax deductible expenses -589 -311
Previously unrecognised tax 
losses now recognised

0 2 396

Total adjustments -1 758 -7 632

Income tax recognised 5 609 1 171
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G8. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit attributable to 
shareholders of the parent company by weighted average number of 
shares during the financial year. 

Share options have a dilution effect if the exercise price is lower than 
share price. The diluted number of shares is the number of shares, 
which will be issued free of charge when share options are exercised, 
because with the funds received from exercising options, the company 
is not able to issue the same number of shares at fair value. The fair 
value of shares is based on average share price of the period.

In financial year 2009 the basic earnings per share of the company was 
negative, thus the diluted earnings per share is not presented, while 
it would be better than the basic (undiluted) earnings per share. The 
calculation method is though described above.

2009 2008

Total
Continuing 

operations

Discontinued 

operations
Total

Profit attributable to equity holders of parent company (EUR '000) -19 744 -40 066 8 680 -31 386

Weighted average number of shares, basic (1 000) 250 175 290 034 290 034 290 034

Basic earnings per share (EUR) total -0.08 -0.14 0.03 -0.11

2009 2008

Total
Continuing 

operations

Discontinued 

operations
Total

Profit attributable to equity holders of parent company (EUR ‘000) -19 744 -40 066 8 680 -31 386

Weighted average number of shares, basic (1 000) 250 175 290 034 290 034 290 034

Effect of share options on issue (1 000) 45 281 13 857 13 857 13 857

Weighted average number of shares, diluted (1 000) 295 456 303 891 303 891 303 891

Diluted earnings per share (EUR) total -0.08 -0.14 0.03 -0.11
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G9. Property, plant and equipment

EUR ‘000
Land and water 

property
Buildings and 
constructions

Machinery and 
equipment

Other tangible 
assets

Total

Balance at 1.1.2009 1 841 23 627 79 753 12 791 118 012

Additions 3 1 343 11 063 475 12 883

Acquisitions of subsidiaries 0 1 819 20 891 221 22 931

Disposals of subsidiaries -100 -3 933 -3 024 -100 -7 156

Disposals 0 -451 -4 491 -174 -5 116

Transfer to assets held for sale -527 -3 510 -10 486 -931 -15 454

Effect of movements in exhange rates 0 -79 1 512 9 1 442

Balance at 31.12.2009 1 217 18 816 95 217 12 290 127 541

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 
1.1.2009

0 -5 847 -41 630 -902 -48 378

Depreciation 0 -1 621 -5 868 -1 559 -9 048

Reversal of impairment 0 0 2 059 0 2 059

Disposals of subsidiaries 0 2 061 2 949 55 5 065

Disposals 0 0 117 0 117

Transfer to assets held for sale 0 426 2 605 256 3287

Effect of movements in exhange rates 0 76 -32 -29 14

Accumulated depreciation and impair-
ment at 31.12.2009

0 -4 905 -39 800 -2 180 -46 885

Carrying amount at 1.1.2009 1 841 17 780 38 123 11 889 69 633

Carrying amount at 31.12.2009 1 217 13 911 55 417 10 110 80 655

Balance at 1.1.2008 669 18 635 28 653 1 394 49 351

Additions 0 2 489 35 607 308 38 404

Acquisitions of subsidiaries 1 284 12 088 17 353 11 300 42 024

Disposals of subsidiaries -42 -9 586 -940 -131 -10 699

Disposals -70 0 -920 -78 -1 068

Balance at 31.12.2008 1 841 23 627 79 753 12 791 118 012

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 
1.1.2008

0 -2 100 -11 584 -446 -14 130

Depreciation 0 -1 859 -6 034 -456 -8 349

Impairment 0 -1 888 -24 012 0 -25 899

Accumulated depreciation and impair-
ment at 31.12.2008

0 -5 847 -41 630 -902 -48 378

Carrying amount at 1.1.2008 669 16 534 17 069 948 35 221

Carrying amount at 31.12.2008 1 841 17 780 38 123 11 889 69 633

Machinery and equipment include the prepayments paid of them.

In the property there are assets purchased through 

finance leases as follows: 

EUR ‘000
Machinery and 

equipment
Buildings Total

31.12.2009

Balance 427 0 427
Accumulated 
depreciation

-131 0 -131

Carrying amount 296 0 296

31.12.2008

Balance 84 0 84
Accumulated 
depreciation

-78 0 -78

Carrying amount 6 0 6
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G10. Intangible assets G11. Investments in associates

EUR ‘000 Goodwill
Intangible assets 

identified acc. to IFRS3
Other intangible assets Total

Balance at 1.1.2009 101 808 81 101 2 520 185 429

Additions 307 0 620 928

Acquisitions of subsidiaries 116 526 44 663 64 161 253

Disposals of subsidiaries -684 -1 222 -146 -2 052

Changes in earn-out liabilities -21 638 0 0 -21 638

Transfer to assets held for sale 0 0 -101 -101
Effect of movements in exchange rates 9 963 3 766 0 13 729

Balance at 31.12.2009 206 280 128 308 2 959 337 547

Accumulated amortisation and impairment at 
1.1.2009

-14 559 -10 500 -985 -26 044

Amortisation 0 -17 601 -310 -17 911

Impairment -19 079 0 0 -19 079

Disposals of subsidiaries 684 1 222 0 1 907

Effect of movements in exchange rates -475 -28 -2 -505

Accumulated amortisation and impair-
ment at 31.12.2009

-33 430 -26 907 -1 297 -61 633

Carrying amount at 1.1.2009 87 248 70 601 1 536 159 385

Carrying amount at 31.12.2009 172 850 101 401 1 662 275 914

Balance at 1.1.2008 35 915 7 922 2 034 45 871

Additions 5 918 0 835 6 753

Disposals -241 -320 -214 -775

Acquisitions of subsidiaries 67 340 74 051 562 141 953

Disposals of subsidiaries -7 125 -552 -696 -8 373
Balance at 31.12.2008 101 808 81 101 2 520 185 429

Accumulated amortisation and impairment at
1.1.2008

-1 033 -3 357 -701 -5 091

Amortisation 0 -5 576 -243 -5 818

Impairment -13 526 -1 567 -41 -15 135

Accumulated amortisation and impair-
ment at 31.12.2008

-14 559 -10 500 -985 -26 044

Carrying amount at 1.1.2008 34 882 4 565 1 333 40 780

Carrying amount at 31.12.2008 87 248 70 601 1 536 159 385

The Group decided in conjunction with the 2009 financial statements to 
change the way it presents share of associated profits, sales gains and 
losses related to associates, and impairment on associates’ shares and 
receivables, to the extent they relate to associated companies owned by 
the Group’s parent company and not belonging to business segments. 
Hence, from 2009 onwards these non-core items are presented in finance 
items below EBIT, when previously they have been presented above 
EBIT in various lines. The rationale behind the change in the way of pre-
senting these items is that these associated companies are not material 
and that they are classified as non-core assets. The income statement 
related items of associated companies of minerals and wood process-
ing segments are presented within the segments and above the EBIT. 

Movements in 2009

EUR ‘000

1.1.2009 1 770

Additions

Special Super Alloys SSA Inc 63

Leswikeng UG2 Minerals (Pty) Ltd 67

Disposals

Cybersoft Oy -362

Share of profit 111

Dividends -213

Impairment -928

31.12.2009 507
 
The impairment losses recognised in 2009 relate to ILP-Group Ltd Oy, 
and were caused by adverse changes in the company’s target markets 
development and financial situation. 

Movements in 2008

EUR ‘000

1.1.2008 1 702

Disposals

Orienteq Capital -5
Share of profit 571
Dividends -98

Impairment -400

31.12.2008 1 770
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EUR ‘000 Domicile Balance sheet date Assets Liabilities Revenue Profit / loss Ownership (%)

2009

Arc Technology Oy Helsinki 31.12.2009 904 661 2 055 -33 37.4

ILP-Group Ltd Oy Helsinki 31.12.2009 5 677 2 638 13 707 127 33.4

Incap Furniture Oy * Oulu 30.9.2009 9 264 15 487 21 559 -1 832 24.1

Loopm Oy Helsinki inactive 28.4

PGR Manganese (Pty) Ltd ** South Africa holding company 49.0

Rivest Oy Helsinki 31.12.2008 16 15 52 -8 40.0
Special Super Alloys SSA Inc United States 31.12.2009 288 159 157 -181 20.0
Sportslink Group Oy Helsinki inactive 25.0

Stellatum Oy Helsinki 31.12.2009 386 293 1 300 -15 34.0

Valtimo Components Oyj *** Valtimo 31.12.2008 2 119 3 114 2 178 -497 24.9

Widian Oy Espoo 31.12.2009 589 808 733 4 39.6

19 243 23 173 41 742 -2 435

2008

Arc Technology Oy Helsinki 31.12.2008 976 643 1 979 77 37.4
Cybersoft Oy Ab Tampere 31.10.2008 514 147 1 137 81 37.5

ILP-Group Ltd Oy Helsinki 31.12.2008 6 765 3 518 20 884 1 101 33.4

Incap Furniture Oy Oulu 31.12.2008 22 244 30 266 78 506 -9 005 48.3

Loopm Oy Helsinki inactive 28.4

Rivest Oy Helsinki 31.12.2008 16 15 52 -8 40.0

Sportslink Group Oy Helsinki inactive 25.0
Stellatum Oy Helsinki 30.11.2008 347 320 1 120 -12 34.0
Valtimo Components Oyj Valtimo 31.12.2008 2 119 3 114 2 178 -497 24.9

Widian Oy Espoo 31.12.2008 733 956 623 2 39.6

33 713 38 979 106 479 -8 260

* Incap Furniture Oy is in corporate restructuring process
** Company founded in relation to Mogale acquisition that owns Mogale shares
*** Valtimo Components Oyj is in corporate restructuring process, ownership can increase to 39.23% if the shares sold earlier, held as pledge, are not to be paid to Ruukki in cash

The balance sheet date of certain associates differs from the Group’s balance sheet date, since all of the associated companies’ financial statements were not available when the Group’s financial statements have been prepared. 
Certain associates are also inactive. All subordinated loans are included in the associated companies’ liabilities.

Other investments

Company name Ownership (%)

Leswikeng UG2 Minerals (Pty) Ltd 18.9 Considered as an other investment, while the Group's effective stake is 18.9%

Selka-line Oy 19.4 A former subsidiary of the Group that operates in the metal contract furniture and furniture component business

Finnish Wood Research Oy 16.7
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31.12.2009

EUR ‘000 Assets available-for-sale Assets held-to-maturity
Loans and other 

receivables
Assets at fair value 

through profit or loss
Liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss

Liabilities measured at 
amortised cost

Carrying amounts by 
balance sheet items

Non-current financial assets

Non-current interest-bearing receivables 281 669 14 525 15 475

Trade and other receivables 585 585

Other financial assets 163 163

Current financial assets

Current interest-bearing receivables 2 500 2 765 5 265
Trade and other receivables * 24 686 24 686

Other financial assets 314 314

Cash and cash equivalents 55 852 55 852

Carrying amount of financial assets 444 3 169 98 413 314 102 339

Fair value of financial assets 444 3 169 98 413 314 102 339

Non-current financial liabilities

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 75 506 75 506

Other non-current liabilities 26 226 26 226

Current financial liabilities

Current interest-bearing liabilities 39 008 39 008

Trade and other payables * 23 757 23 757

Carrying amount of financial liabilities 164 497 164 497

Fair value of financial liabilities 164 497 164 497

* non-financial assets or liabilities not included in the figure

G12. Financial assets
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31.12.2008

EUR ‘000 Assets available-for-sale Assets held-to-maturity
Loans and other 

receivables
Assets at fair value 

through profit or loss
Liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss

Liabilities measured at 
amortised cost

Carrying amounts by 
balance sheet items

Non-current financial assets

Non-current interest-bearing receivables 957 19 066 20 024

Trade and other receivables 403 403

Other financial assets 125   125

Current financial assets

Current interest-bearing receivables 186 485 845 187 329
Trade and other receivables * 18 032 18 032

Other financial assets 133 133

Cash and cash equivalents 45 413 45 413

Carrying amount of financial assets 125 187 442 83 759 133 271 459

Fair value of financial assets 125 187 442 83 759 133 271 459

Non-current financial liabilities

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 41 778 41 778

Other non-current liabilities 52 237 52 237

Current financial liabilities

Current interest-bearing liabilities 13 286 13 286

Trade and other payables * 20 800 20 800

Derivatives 2 527 2 527

Carrying amount of financial liabilities 2 527 128 101 130 628

Fair value of financial liabilities 2 527 128 101 130 628

* non-financial assets or liabilities not included in the figure
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G13. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Movements in deferred taxes in 2009 

EUR ‘000 31.12.2008
Exchange rate 

differences

Recognised 
in P&L or 

deferred taxes 
from fair value 

adjustments

Recognised in 
equity

Business com-
binations and 
divestment of 

subsidiaries

31.12.2009

Deferred tax assets:

Unrealised expenses 1 437 -10 -495 932

Non-tax deductible depreciation 150 46 -196

Pension liabilities 1 088 -16 1 072

Translation difference

Group eliminations 139 120 259

Other items
Total 2 815 -10 -346 0 -196 2 264

Deferred tax liabilities:

Assets at fair value in acquisitions 28 753 748 -7 050 14 829 37 280

Translation difference 3 325 3 325
Accumulated difference between actual and tax 
deductible depreciation

1 678 -860 -129 689

Financial assets and investments at fair value 65 17 82

Other items 484 200 -529 2 418 2 573

Total 30 979 948 -8 422 3 325 17 118 43 949

Movements in deferred taxes in 2008

EUR ‘000 31.12.2007
Exchange rate 

differences

Recognised 
in P&L or 

deferred taxes 
from fair value 

adjustments

Recognised in 
equity

Business com-
binations and 
divestment of 

subsidiaries

31.12.2008

Deferred tax assets:

Unrealised expenses 379 1 058 1 437

Non-tax deductible depreciation 130 20 150

Pension liabilities 0 1 088 1 088

Translation difference 379 0 -379

Group eliminations 180 -9 -32 139

Other items 67 -30 -37
Total 1 136 0 2 127 -449 0 2 815

Deferred tax liabilities:

Assets at fair value in acquisitions 1 968 26 785 28 753
Accumulated difference between actual and tax 
deductible depreciation

1 442 988 -752 1 678

Financial assets and investments at fair value 142 -77 65

Other items 342 142 484

Total 3 894 0 27 838 -752 0 30 979

Fair value hierarchy

31.12.2009
Carrying amounts at the end of 

the reporting period

EUR ‘000 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets at fair value

Derivatives  

Other financial assets 314

Total

Available-for-sale financial 
assets

Other financial assets 444

Financial liabilities at fair value

Derivatives

Total
 

EUR ‘000 Level 3

Level 3 reconciliation

Acquisition cost at 1.1.2009 423

Additions 320

Disposals 0

Acquisition cost at 31.12.2009 743

Accumulated impairment losses at 1.1.2009 -299

Accumulated impairment losses at 31.12.2009 -299

Carrying amount at 31.12.2009 444

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include CO2 derivatives, 
whose fair value has been determined based on Nordpool closing price. 
Available for sale financial assets consists of non-listed equities that have 
been revalued at cost because their fair value cannot be estimated reliably. 

Non-current receivables

EUR ‘000
2009 

Carrying amount
2008 

Carrying amount

Loan receivables 10 954 16 380

Other receivables 15 176 3 089

Total 26 130 19 469

Balance sheet values of receivables closely correspond to the monetary 
value of maximum credit risk excluding the fair value of received guar-
antees in the potential case where the counterparties cannot fulfil their 
commitments. There is no significant credit risk concentration related 
to receivables.
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G14. Inventories 

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Goods and supplies 14 670 8 296

Unfinished products 9 760 8 311

Unfinished construction projects 2 610 0

Finished products 28 777 22 690
Prepayments 134 1 121
Total 55 951 40 419

At the end of 2009, the Group’s house building business area acquired 
land areas, which were recognised into inventory and shown as unfin-
ished construction projects. At the end of 2008, based on declining log 
prices, the Group booked the raw material inventories of sawmills to net 
realisable value, which had a total effect of EUR -0.5 million.
 

G15. Trade receivables and other current 

receivables

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Trade receivables 25 664 16 988

Loan receivables 21 432

Interest-bearing receivables 2 765 845
Prepaid expenses and accrued 
income

10 926 16 156

Other receivables 9 907 2 250

Total 49 283 36 672
 
Prepaid expenses and accruals mainly relate to rental contracts, person-
nel expenses and accrued interest for loans. Balance sheet values of 
receivables closely correspond to the monetary value of maximum credit 
risk, excluding the fair value of received guarantees, in the potential 
case where the counterparties cannot fulfil their commitments. There is 
no significant credit risk concentration related to receivables.

The aging of trade receivables at the balance sheet date

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Not past due 9 524 10 139

Past due 0-30 days 1 648 4 597

Past due 31-60 days 9 041 1 374

Past due 61-90 days 4 616 473

Past due more than 90 days 834 405

Impairment 0 0

Trade receivables total 25 664 16 988

Construction contracts

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Contracts in progress at the balance 
sheet date
Construction costs plus recognised 
profits

0 2 758

Progress billings 0 -1 787

Net 0 972

Gross receivables for constuction 
contracts

0 183

G16. Cash and cash equivalents 

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Cash and bank balances 55 852 45 413

Pledged deposits: 80 1 118

 

Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Cash and bank balances 55 852 45 413
Short-term money market in-
vestments (deposit certificates)

0 0

Total 55 852 45 413
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G17. Derivative agreements

Forward contracts, contract values

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Foreign exchange forward 
contracts

0 14 759

Foreign exchange option 
contracts

278 0

Interest rate swaps 950 0

Other derivatives 0 1 030

 

Forward contracts, fair value

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Foreign exchange forward 
contracts

0 -2 527

Foreign exchange option 
contracts

-1 0

Interest rate swaps -14 0

Other derivatives 0 893

In order to hedge some of its exports related foreign exchange risks, 
the Group’s sawmill subsidiary entered at the end of December 2009 
into a EUR/USD currency option agreement where the fair value and 
market value were practically equal. The nominal amount of the position 
is USD 0.4 million, and there are two options: one USD put option and 
one USD call option. The call option has a knock-in feature, which was 
after the year end activated based on EUR/USD exchange rate develop-
ment. The maturity of these options is less than 3 months at the end of 
2009. The same subsidiary also has EUR 0.9 nominal value of interest 
rate swaps, whose fair value impact on 31 December 2009 was about 
EUR 14 thousand.

The maturity of foreign exchange rate and other derivatives was less 
than 6 months at the balance sheet date 31.12.2008.

G18. Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale

On the balance sheet date 2009 Ruukki Group presented the assets and related liabilities related to Lappipaneli’s asset sales, to the extent the assets 

are transferred after the year-end 2009, on the Group balance sheet as assets and liabilities classified as held for sale.

On the balance sheet date for 31 December 2008 Ruukki Group did not have any assets classified as held for sale.

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Non-current assets classified as held for sale

Goodwill 0 0

Other intangible assets 101 0

Property, plant and equipment 12 612 0

Other non-current assets 1 0

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 12 714 0

Current assets classified as held for sale 0 0

Assets classified as held for sale 12 714 0

Liabilities associated with assets held for sale

Trade payables 3 183 0

Other current liabilities 3 096 0

Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 6 280 0
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G19. Share capital

The equity reserves are described below:

Share premium reserve

Related to the old Finnish Companies Act, the Company 

has share premium reserve in relation to old share is-

sues, where the premium in excess of the par value of the 

shares subscribed has been recognised in share premium 

reserve.

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net 

change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets 

until the investments are derecognised or impaired.

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve comprises fair value allocation to 

the previously acquired share of Oplax in an acquisition 

achieved in stages.   

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency 

differences arising from the translation of financial state-

ments of foreign operations.

Paid-up unrestricted equity reserve

Paid-up unrestricted equity reserve comprises other equity 

investments and subscription price of shares to the extent 

that it is not recognised in share capital based on a specific 

decision.

Treasury shares

The Annual General Meeting held on 31 March 2008 au-

thorised the company’s Board of Directors to acquire a 

maximum of 10,000,000 own shares and to transfer the 

acquired shares. This authorisation was valid until 31 

March 2009.  Based on the authorisation, the Board de-

cided to acquire the maximum amount of own shares with 

the funds from the company’s unrestricted shareholders’ 

equity. The acquisition of the shares began on 5 November 

2008, and the maximum amount 10,000,000 shares had 

been bought on 27 November 2008. The shares were ac-

quired according to the section 5 of the Rules of NASDAQ 

OMX Helsinki related to the acquisition of company’s own 

shares and otherwise according to the rules related to ac-

quisition of company’s own shares.

The Extraordinary General Meeting held on 28 October 

2008 authorised the company’s Board to acquire a maxi-

mum of 19,000,000 own shares and to transfer the ac-

quired shares. The authorisation was valid until 28 October 

2010. Based on the authorisation, the Board decided to 

start a trading plan, and the share buy-backs were started 

on 29 December 2008. A total of 19,000,000 own shares 

were acquired in accordance with the trading plan and 

the amount was reached on 30 January 2009. The shares 

were acquired according to the section 5 of the Rules of 

NASDAQ OMX Helsinki related to the acquisition of com-

pany’s own shares and otherwise according to the rules 

related to acquisition of company’s own shares.

Therefore, at the end of January 2009 the company held 

altogether 29,000,000 treasury shares, which was equiva-

lent to approximately 9.999% of all the registered shares. 

On 3 February 2009 the Company’s Board of Directors 

decided to cancel all the shares it held, altogether 

29,000,000 shares. The cancellation was registered on 17 

February 2009. After that the registered number of shares 

was 261,034,022.

The Extraordinary General Meeting held on 24 February 

2009 authorised the Company’s Board of Directors to ac-

quire a maximum of 26,000,000 own shares and to trans-

fer the acquired shares. This authorisation is valid until 

Number of registered 
shares

Number of shares  
on issue

Share capital, EUR '000

31.12.2007 290 034 022 290 034 022 23 642

Acquisitions of treasury shares 0 -10 685 000 23 642

31.12.2008 290 034 022 279 349 022 23 642

Acquisitions and cancellations of treasury shares -29 000 000 -40 102 917 23 642

31.12.2009 261 034 022 239 246 105 23 642
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24 February 2010. Based on the authorisation, share buy-

backs were started on 5 March 2009. The shares were ac-

quired according to the section 5 of the Rules of NASDAQ 

OMX Helsinki related to the acquisition of company’s own 

shares and otherwise according to the rules related to ac-

quisition of company’s own shares. 

Based on the authorisation, Ruukki Group Plc’s Board 

of Directors decided on 6 October 2009 to grant 52,083 

shares, held by Ruukki Group Plc as treasury shares, to 

Thomas Hoyer as part of his incentive package as the 

Managing Director of Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy, the parent com-

pany of the Group’s Wood Processing assets.  On 31 

December 2009 the company had in its possession alto-

gether 21,787,917 own shares, which is equal to about 

8.35% of the total amount of registered shares. 

Ruukki Group Plc’s Board of Directors decided on 19 

January 2010 to cancel altogether 13,052,022 own shares 

held by the Company, which totals about 5% of the reg-

istered number of shares. The cancellation did not affect 

the Company’s share capital. After the cancellation the 

Company will hold 8,735,895 own shares. The registered 

number of shares was 247,982,000 after the cancellation, 

which became valid after it was registered at the Trade 

Register on 2 February 2010. 

The company’s subsidiaries do not hold any of Ruukki 

Group Plc’s shares.

Share Issue Authorisations given to the Board of 

Directors

The Extraordinary General Meeting held on 24 February 

2009 decided to authorise the Board of Directors to decide 

on share issue and on the issuing of stock options and 

other special rights that entitle to shares. The authorisa-

tion replaces the authorisation given by the Annual General 

Meeting on 31 March 2008. By virtue of the authorisation 

shares could be emitted in one or more tranches in total 

a maximum of 100,000,000 new shares or shares owned 

by the Company. This equates approximately 38.3 per 

cent of the Company’s registered number of shares on 

31 December 2009. This authorisation was valid until 24 

February 2010.

Other option rights

The Extraordinary General Meeting held on 28 October 

2008 decided on issuing a maximum total of 73,170,731 

option rights to Kermas Limited related to additional earn-

out purchase consideration of a acquisition. The option 

rights entitle the recipients to subscribe for a maximum 

total of 73,170,731 new shares or shares that are in the 

possession of the Company. The subscription period for 

the shares occurs annually within 30 business days after 

the approval of the additional earn-out purchase consid-

eration and matures on December 31, 2014. The share 

subscription price per share is EUR 2.26 (with dividend 

and capital redemption adjustment). The whole paid sub-

scription price shall be entered in the paid-up unrestricted 

equity fund. The number of shares in the Company can be 

increased by a maximum of 73,170,731 new shares as a 

result of share subscriptions.

Share Price Development

Ruukki Group Plc’s shares (RUG1V) are listed on NASDAQ 

OMX Helsinki in which the shares of the Company are traded 

in the mid cap segment, in the industrials sector since 1 

July 2007. During the financial year, the price of Ruukki 

Group’s share varied between EUR 1.04 (2008: 1.02) and 

EUR 2.68 (2.99). A total of 328,119,128 (434,714,427) 

Ruukki Group shares were traded in the financial year, 

representing 125.7% (149.9%) of all the shares registered 

at the end of the financial year. The closing price of the 

Company’s share on 31 December was EUR 2.14 (1.15). 

The market capitalisation of the Group’s entire capital 

stock 261,034,022 (290,034,022) shares at the closing 

price on 31 December was EUR 558.6 million (335.5). 

Shareholders

On 31 December 2009, the company had a total of 

3,874 shareholders (4,136 shareholders on 31.12.2008), 

of which 9 were nominee-registered. The registered 

number of shares on 31 December 2009 was 261,034,022 

(290,034,022).
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Largest shareholders on 31 December 2009

Shareholder Shares %

Kermas Limited 70 766 500 27.1

Atkey Limited 50 281 401 19.3
Nordea Bank Finland Plc 
nominee-registered

33 459 371 12.8

Hanwa Company Limited 30 000 000 11.5

Ruukki Group Plc 21 787 917 8.3

Hino Resources Co. Ltd 10 610 405 4.1

Djakov Aida nominee-registered 9 952 500 3.8

Kankaala Markku 8 525 728 3.3
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken 
nominee-registered

6 960 503 2.7

Hukkanen Esa 5 010 100 1.9

Total 247 354 425 94.8

Other Shareholders 13 679 597 5.2

Total shares registered 261 034 022 100.0

Ruukki Group Plc’s board members and CEO owned in to-

tal 82,168,811 Ruukki Group Plc shares on 31 December 

2009 (113,675,890 on 31.12.2008) when including shares 

and forward contracts owned either directly, through per-

sons closely associated with them or through controlled 

companies. This corresponds to approximately 31.5% of 

all outstanding shares that were registered to the Trade 

Register on 31 December 2009. On 31 December 2008 the 

total number of registered shares was 290,034,022 and 

the Board and CEO’s ownership corresponded to 39.2% of 

the total number of registered shares.

Shareholders by category

Shares  Number of shareholders % share of shareholders Number of shares held % of shares held

1-100 688 17.76 44 155 0.02

101-1.000 2 215 57.18 1 149 405 0.44

1.001-10.000 877 22.64 2 693 646 1.03

10.001-100.000 73 1.88 1 587 990 0.61

100.001-1.000.000 9 0.23 2 798 401 1.07

1.000.001-10.000.000 6 0.16 35 854 831 13.74

in excess of 10.000.000 6 0.16 216 905 594 83.10

Total 3 874 100.00 261 034 022 100.00

of which nominee-registered 9 51 078 016 19.57

On common account 0 0.00 

Total outstanding 261 034 022 100.00

Shareholders by shareholder type on 31 December 2009

% of share capital

Finnish shareholders 32.18%

of which:

Companies and business enterprises 8.57%

Banking and insurance companies 16.12%

Non-profit organisations 0.00%

Households 7.48%

Foreign shareholders 67.82%

Shares on common account 0.00%

Total 100.00%

of which nominee-registered 19.57%
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The company has option schemes I/2005 and I/2008. In 

order to increase the level of commitment and motivation 

of key persons, option rights of option scheme I/2005 are, 

deviating from shareholders’ pre-emptive rights, granted 

to Ruukki Group Plc’s CEO and management and other key 

employees, and furthermore as decided by the Board to 

the board members, management or employees of group 

subsidiaries, and potentially for persons having other 

contractual relationships with the Group. Option scheme 

I/2008 is granted to the company’s CEO.

The Annual General Meeting, held on 7 May 2009, de-

cided in accordance with the Board’s proposal to amend 

the terms of option schemes I/2005 and I/2008. The 

terms of the option plan I/2005 were amended so that 

the subscription price of the shares will be fixed based 

on the capital repayments respectively as the fixing made 

to the subscription price based on dividend according to 

the old terms. The terms of the option plan I/2008 were 

amended so that the subscription price of the shares will 

be fixed based on the payments of dividend as well as 

capital repayments. 

The company’s I/2005 option scheme entitles option hold-

ers to subscribe for a maximum of 2,700,000 shares in 

the company. The share subscription period is 1 July 2007 

through 30 June 2015 for various options denoted with 

different letters, and the subscription price range is EUR 

0.36 – 0.86 (with dividend and capital redemption adjust-

ment).  As a result of subscriptions made with the I/2005 

options, Ruukki Group Plc’s share capital may be increased 

by a maximum of EUR 459,000.00 and the number of 

shares by a maximum of 2,700,000 new shares.

The company’s I/2008 option scheme entitles option 

holder to subscribe for a maximum of 2,900,000 shares 

in the company for subscription price EUR 2.26 per share 

(with dividend and capital redemption adjustment). The 

share subscription period for 1,450,000 stock options 

commences on October 1, 2009 and for 1,450,000 stock 

options on October 1, 2010. The subscription period ma-

tures on December 31, 2015. The number of Ruukki Group 

Plc shares can be increased by a maximum of 2,900,000 

shares as a result of the subscriptions made with the 

I/2008 option rights.

Of the option scheme I/2005, options on A, B, C, D and 

E series have been issued to Ruukki Group’s management 

totalling 1,075,000 option rights and of the option scheme 

I/2008 altogether 2,900,000 options. All options that have 

been granted after 7 November 2002 and that have not 

been vested prior to 1 January 2005 have been treated 

according to the principles set forth in IFRS 2 Share-based 

Payments standard.  Share options will be expired if not 

redeemed as agreed in the terms of options. Options are 

forfeited if the option holder leaves the company prior to 

the effective date of the options. 

The Group applies the Black & Scholes model to option ar-

rangements that include employment terms. The expected 

volatility has been determined by calculating the historical 

volatility of the Company’s share price and adjusting it ac-

cording to generally available factors that are expected to 

affect historical volatility. Historical volatility was calculated 

on the basis of changes in the Company’s share price.

Changes in share options issued and in weighted average 

exercise prices:
Weighted average exercise 

price (with dividend and capi-
tal redemption adjustment)  

EUR/share

Number of 
options 

At the beginning of 2008 0.46 675 000

Granted new options 2.14 3 125 000

Exercised options 0.00 0

Forfeited options 0.00 0

At the end of 2008 1.85 3 800 000
Exercisable at the end 
of 2008

0.41 450 000

At the beginning of 2009 1.85 3 800 000
Granted new options 0.76 175 000
Exercised options 0.00 0
Forfeited options 0.00 0
At the end of 2009 1.80 3 975 000
Exercisable at the end 
of 2009

1.69 2 125 000

No share options were exercised during the financial year 2009.

The exercise prices of existing share options and their 

years of forfeiting are presented below: 

Year of forfeiting
Exercise price 

(EUR)
Number of  

shares

2010 0.45 225 000

2011 0.56 225 000

2012 0.66 225 000

2013 0.76 225 000

2014 0.86 175 000

2015 2.26 2 900 000

The exercise price above represents the original contractual exercise 
price adjusted by dividends and capital redemptions before AGM 2010.

G20. Share-based payments
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The main terms of the option arrangements are detailed in the table below:

Shares
Share options, granted 

to CEO in 2008
Share options, granted 

to CEO in 2008
Share options, granted 
to employees in 2009

Share options, granted 
to employees in 2008

Share options, granted 
to employees in 2007

Share options, granted 
to employees in 2006

Share options, granted 
to employees in 2005

Nature of the plan Share options issued Share options issued Share options issued Share options issued Share options issued Share options issued Share options issued

Grant date 28.10.2008 28.10.2008 6.8.2009 28.10.2008 17.10.2007 14.8.2006 14 Dec 2005

Number of options 1.450.000 1.450.000 175.000 225.000 225.000 225.000 225.000

Options series I/2008 I/2008 E (I/2005) D (I/2005) C (1/2005) B (I/2005) A (I/2005)

Exercise period
1.10.2010 - 
31.12.2015

1.10.2009 - 
31.12.2015

1.7.2011- 
30.6.2014

1.7.2010- 
30.6.2013

1.7.2009 -  
30.6.2012

1.7.2008 -  
30.6.2011

1.7.2007 -  
30.6.2010

Dividend adjustment yes yes yes yes yes yes yes
Exercise price  
(with dividend and capital redemption adjustment)

2.26 2.26 0.76 0.66 0.56 0.46 0.36

Share price at grant date 1.26 1.26 1.75 1.26 2.86 0.69 0.63
Option life 5.3 5.3 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0

Conditions
Employment until the 

vesting date
Employment until the 

vesting date
Employment until the 

vesting date
Employment until the 

vesting date
Employment until the 

vesting date
Employment until the 

vesting date
Employment until the 

vesting date

Execution In shares In shares In shares In shares In shares In shares In shares

Expected volatility 66% 66% 46% 66% 44% 89% 130%

Expected option life at grant date (years) 5 years 5 years 4.9 years 4.7 years 4.7 years 4.9 years 4.5 years

Risk free rate, Euribor 12 months 4.33% 4.33% 3.66% 4.33% 4.10% 3.65% 2,79%

Expected dividend yield 3.17% 3.17% 0.00% 3.17% 1.40% 2.2% 0,00%

Expected personnel reductions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Fair value at grant date 0.33 0.33 1.20 0.77 2.17 0.53 0.54

Valuation model Black & Scholes Black & Scholes Black & Scholes Black & Scholes Black & Scholes Black & Scholes Black & Scholes
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G21. Interest-bearing debt 

EUR ‘000
2009 

Balance sheet 
values

2008 
Balance sheet 

values

Non-current    

Bank loans 17 249 19 769
Subordinated loans (liability 
component for convertibles)

5 5

Equipment financing 452 3 321

Finance lease liabilities 247 0

Purchase price liabilities 57 552 18 683

Total 75 506 41 778

Current    
Bank loans and equipment 
financing

13 274 13 069

Finance lease liabilities 536 6

Purchase price liabilities 25 083 194

Other interest bearing liabilities 114 18

Total 39 008 13 286
 
Mogale Alloys acquisition in May 2009 is the main cause in the increase 
of interest-bearing debt. Even though these deferred payment liabilities 
are not interest-bearing based on the Group’s interpretation, those li-
abilities have been classified into interest-bearing debt, since the liability 
will become partially or fully interest-bearing at the latest from the date 
when Mogale receives the environmental permits and licences agreed in 
conjunction with the acquisition.

The Group has at the end of 2009 changed the way it presents acqui-
sition-related contingent or deferred receivables and liabilities so that 
those receivables and liabilities have been reclassified as interest-bear-
ing to the extent they will be settled in cash  even though the Group 
would have contractual obligations at the end of the year to pay interest 
on those loans. This reclassification has not had any major impact on 
the balance sheet structure when compared to year-end 2008. When 
compared to earlier unaudited interim reports 2009 (Q2 and Q3), and 
to financial statements review published in February 2010, the Mogale 
Alloys related liabilities (totalling about EUR 73.9 million at the year-end 
2009) have earlier been presented in non-interest bearing liabilities but 
transferred on 31 December 2009 to the interest-bearing class.

Finance lease liabilities

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Finance lease liabilities,  
minimum lease payments

   

No later than 1 year 577 6

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 273 0

850 6

Finance lease liabilities, present value  
of minimum lease payments
No later than 1 year 536 6

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 247 0

783 6

Future finance charges 67 0

Total minimum lease payments 850 6

G22. Trade payables and other liabilities

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Non-current    

Purchase price liabilities 0 843

Purchase price liabilities (paid as shares) 26 219 50 849

Liabilities from defined benefit plans 11 035 11 116

Other liabilities 8 545

Total non-current 37 261 63 352

Current

Purchase price liabilities 900 1 135

Purchase price liabilities (paid as shares) 2 933 0

Trade payables 19 242 19 313

Prepayments 13 480 13 215

Accrued expenses and deferred income 7 179 6 727

Income tax liability 15 104 6 917

Other liabilities 2 042 4 566

Total current 60 880 51 875
 
The main reason for the movement in 2009 in the non-current non-
interest bearing liabilities was caused by the change in the estimate 
of the earn-out liability for RCS and TMS acquisitions carried out in 
October 2008. Material items included into accrued expenses are related 
to personnel expenses and interests. Received prepayments are mainly 
advance payments made by clients of house building business area. 

G23. Provisions

EUR ‘000
Environmental 

and other 
provisions

Warranty 
provisions

Total

Balance at 1.1.2009 5 202 92 5 294

Additions 1 013 36 1 049

Acquisitions of subsidiaries 9 882 0 7 650

Reductions -157 0 -157

Unwinding of discount 462 0 462

Translation difference -6 0 -6

Balance at 31.12.2009 14 164 128 14 292
 

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Long-term provisions 12 602 4 815

Short-term provisions 1 690 479

Total 14 292 5 294

The long-term provisions in the balance sheet relate mainly to environ-
ment and restoration provisions of the Minerals business and also to 
some degree to future personnel expenses. Environment and restora-
tion provisions are based on an estimate of the future commitments.  
The house building segment gives a quality guarantee of one year for 
its products.  Short-term liabilities for repair have been recorded as 
expenses in the profit and loss account and as provisions in the bal-
ance sheet.  Defects discovered during the warranty period are repaired 
by the company or the product is replaced with equal product. The 
provision is based on expected number of defective products based on 
previous experience. Provisions are expected to be used within the next 
year. 
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Financial assets 31.12.2009

In addition to the operative result and the cash flow gen-

erated from it the following factors described below have 

most significantly affected the change in the amount of 

the Group’s financial assets at the balance sheet date 2009 

year-on-year: 

Actions that have decreased financial assets:

Acquisition of own shares  »

Investment project in Turkey »

Acquisition of Mogale Alloys (Pty) Ltd  in May 2009 »

Ruukki Group Plc’s capital redemption in May 2009 »

The intended acquisition of Sylvania Resources Ltd »

The intended listing on London Stock Exchange, prepa- »

ration starter during fourth quarter 

Actions that have increased financial assets:

Disposal of Tervolan Saha ja Höyläämö Oy in December  »

2009

At the balance sheet date 31 December 2009 the cash and 

cash equivalents were invested mainly to interest-bearing 

euro-denominated bank accounts. At the balance sheet 

date 31 December 2008 the Group had invested significant 

part of its liquid funds in short-term euro-denominated 

fixed-term deposits. As a result of the acquisitions made, 

the amount of foreign-currency-denominated financial as-

sets has increased.  

On 31 December 2009, the Group’s financial assets com-

prise of the euro- and foreign-currency-denominated de-

posits and pledged deposits as follows:

Euro-denominated fixed-term deposits for EUR 2.5  »

At the same time with preparing the financials statements 

for financial year 2008, the Board of Directors of Ruukki 

Group Plc has redefined the principles concerning man-

agement of capital as follows:

(1) the Group has conservative approach to managing 

Group’s debt/equity ratio; and

(2) return on capital employed will be optimised in all busi-

nesses; and 

(3) cash flow generation is emphasised in all operations; and 

(4) cash reserves and financing capacity are supervised and 

administered in a centralised and conservative manner. 

At the balance sheet date 31 December 2009, group’s eq-

uity ratio stood at 52.0% (2008: 64.8%).

During the latter half of 2009 the Group established seg-

ment level management teams for both its Minerals busi-

ness and Wood Processing business. In conjunction with 

the reorganization, the Group’s Board of Directors also set 

a long-term target capital structures for its segments:

Minerals  50% equity, 50% debt

Wood  35% equity, 65% debt

During the previous year the Group decided on principles 

as to how to manage its capital and cash flows, and those 

fundamental principles will be followed in the future as 

well. Therefore, even though there have been some eas-

ing in the global financial markets compared the previous 

year-end, the Group has a conservative way of managing 

its capital structure and tries to optimise its businesses’ 

cash generation. One key target, in addition to profit-

ability, is return on capital employed. Furthermore, during 

2009 the Group started processes where treasury opera-

tions will be run more centrally than historically, and this 

development will be continued in 2010.

million (31.12.2008: 200.4). The annualised average 

interest rate is 0.7% p.a (3.1%). The maturity of the 

deposit is less than 1 month

Interest-bearing deposits pledged, when not taking into  »

account the pledges for rented premises, the group 

companies have given for altogether EUR 2.5 million 

(31.12.2008: 3.4)

At the balance sheet date 31 December 2009, the 

amount of foreign-currency-denominated cash and cash 

equivalents is on its Euro-value about EUR 5.8 million 

(31.12.2008: 4.5 million). Euro-denominated cash and 

cash equivalents totalled EUR 50.1 million (24.5). The 

company has interest-bearing receivables from its previ-

ous or current related parties for approximately EUR 11.0 

million, of which EUR 10.0 million relates to a German 

company that is consolidated into the Group, but in which 

Ruukki Group’s ownership stake is zero.

 

Interest-bearing debt 31.12.2009

Floating rate loans from financial institutions totalling  »

EUR 37.1 million (33.2). Fixed rate loans altogether 

EUR 1.1 million (3.0).

The interest rates of the loans are to major extent tied to  »

euribor rates. The weighted average interest rate at the 

balance sheet date 31 December 2009 was, based on 

market interest rates at that date, about 2.9% (4.4%) 

when the impact of interest rate swaps have been 

taken account. The average interest rate margin for 

floating rate notes was 2.3%  p.a (1.1%) (over the 

reference rates of the loans). The range of the annu-

alised interest rates was 1.0 (1.9)% p.a. – 5.0 (7.4)% 

p.a. The loans will mature in years 2010 – 2018. The 

loans include about EUR 3.1 million liabilities classified 

as held for sale in the Group balance sheet. 

G24. Summary on financial assets and loan arrangements G25. Management of capital
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Ruukki Group’s Board reviews and monitors the adequacy 

of capital in all of its operations, and uses both internal 

and external measures to manage cash flows. In its min-

erals processing operations, if and when needed, also 

production slowdowns or stoppages are applied for short-

term cash optimization. The Group’s creditworthiness and 

capital structure can also have either direct effects, on 

e.g. cost of capital, and indirect effects, for example via 

its effects on suppliers or customers. There are also debt 

financing arrangements with covenants tied to the Group’s 

or subsidiaries’ capital structure, and therefore, any ad-

verse changes in the balance sheet structure can affect 

financing costs or expedite the payback of loan capital.

The global financial and economic crisis has created quite 

considerable volatility in demand and prices in the markets 

the Group operates. Hence flexibility in financing arrange-

ments and sources of capital is important, and the Group 

has during 2009 tried to decrease the level of total debt in 

its businesses to the extent possible. The Group has also 

sold some non-core assets, both to generate cash and to 

some extent to decrease the capital intensive subsidiaries’ 

relative importance. Since in 2009 there were low output 

volumes and capacity utilisation rates, if the markets re-

cover and volumes increase that will most probably tie up 

cash in working capital. The Group is also considering op-

erational partnership or joint venture options to diversify 

risks and potential sources of funding.

The actual balance sheet structure at the year-end was the following 

(M=Minerals business, W=Wood Processing business, G=Consolidated Group): 

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

EUR ‘000 M W G M W G

Equity -27 277 -18 478 268 144 -6 783 -22 408 348 943

Minority Interest 12 338 5 540 17 878 6 517 1 251 7 768

(1) Total Equity -14 939 -12 937 286 022 -266 -21 157 356 710

Balance Sheet Total   390 005 83 623 563 198 57 943 85 675 563 275

Prepayments received 0 13 425 13 480 0 13 215 13 215

(2) Adjusted Balance Sheet        390 005 70 198 549 717 57 943 72 459 550 060
(3) Equity ratio 
= (1) / (2)    

-3.8% -18.4% 52.0% -0.5% -29.2% 64.8%
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EUR ‘000 Note 1.1.-31.12.2009 1.1.-31.12.2008

Revenue P1 324 1 123

Other operating income P2 787 13 190

Materials and services

Goods, materials and supplies

Purchases during the period 0   -100

Goods, materials and supplies total 0 -100

Materials and services total    0 -100

Personnel expenses

Salaries and wages -1 774 -2 262

Social security expenses

Pension expenses -161 -422

Other social security expenses -129 -173

Social security expenses total -290 -595

Personnel expenses total -2 064 -2 858

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment P3

Depreciation and amortisation according to plan - 51 - 66

Impairment of non-current assets 0   - 40

Impairment of non-current investments -8 732 -6 877

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment total -8 783 -6 983

Other operating expenses -6 600 -4 103

Operating profit (loss) -16 335 269

Financial income and expenses P4

Dividends from subsidiaries 4 250 8 402

Dividends from associates 137  98

Other financial income

From group companies 12 357 6 285

From others 2 829 10 976

Interests and other financial expenses

To others -223 -1 651

Financial income and expenses total 19 351 24 110

Profit (loss) before extraordinary items 3 016 24 379

Extraordinary items P5

Extraordinary expenses -1 835 -7 000

Extraordinary items total -1 835 -7 000

Profit before taxes 1 181 17 379

Income taxes P6

Income taxes - 512 -737

Net profit  669 16 642

INCOME STATEMENT (FAS)
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EUR ‘000 Note 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Intangible assets P7

Intangible rights  73  60

Total intangible assets  73  60

Property, plant and equipment P7

Machinery and equipment  35  66

Other tangible assets   2   2

Total property, plant and equipment  38  69

Investments P8

Shares in group companies 45 926 178 427

Shares in associated companies 795 1 277

Receivables from group companies 1 663 0   

Total investments 48 383 179 704

Total non-current assets 48 494 179 832

Current assets

Non-current receivables P9

Receivables from group companies 289 318 93 254

Other interest-bearing receivables  840 1 380

Other non interest-bearing receivables 1 398 2 686

Total non-current receivables 291 557 97 320

Current receivables P9    

Trade receivables 0 6

Receivables from group companies 2 438 729

Other interest-bearing receivables 1 276 1 026

Other non interest-bearing receivables 1 611 1 441

Prepaid expenses and accrued income  831 475

Total current receivables 6 156 3 677

Financial assets

Other financial assets 2 500 157 624

Total financial assets 2 500 157 624

Cash and cash equivalents 20 644 27 771

Total current assets 320 857 286 392

Total assets 369 351 466 224

EUR ‘000 Note 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES P10

Shareholders' equity

Share capital 23 642 23 642

Share premium reserve 25 223 25 223

Paid-up unrestricted equity reserve 264 975 332 644

Retained earnings 17 664 1 022

Profit for the period  669 16 642

Total shareholders' equity 332 173 399 173

Liabilities P11

Non-current liabilities

Loans from financial institutions 545 2 725

Loans from associated companies   5   5

Deferred purchase consideration liabilities    0 900

Earn-out purchase consideration liabilities 26 219 50 893

Total non-current liabilities 26 769 54 523

Current liabilities

Loans from financial institutions 1 280 1 280

Liabilities to group companies 2 795 7 000

Accounts payable 1 007 922

Accounts payable to group companies  29   0 

Deferred purchase consideration liabilities  900 900

Earn-out purchase consideration liabilities 2 996 200

Other liabilities  47 1 613

Accrued expenses and deferred income 1 355 614

Total current liabilities 10 410 12 528

Total liabilities 37 178 67 051

Total equity and liabilities 369 351 466 224

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (FAS)
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  (FAS)

EUR ‘000 1.1.-31.12.2009 1.1.-31.12.2008

Operating activities

Profit for the period  669 16 642

Adjustments:

Depreciation and amortisation  51  66

Capital gains and losses from investments -787 -13 175

Impairment 8 732 6 917
Financial revenue and expense excluding 
impairment

-19 351 -24 110

Group contributions 1 835 7 000

Income taxes  512 737

Other adjustments  0 -21

Cash flow before change in working capital -8 339 -5 944

Change in working capital:

Change in current trade receivables -462 3 470
Change in current non-interest-bearing 
receivables

 531 6 915

Operating cash flow before financing items 
and taxes

-8 271 4 441

Interests received  12   8

Interests paid and other financing items -8 -59
Income taxes paid -2 013 1 227

Cash flow used in operating activities -10 279 5 617

Investing activities
Capital expenditure on tangible and intangible 
assets

-32 -30

Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates -3 656 -89 188

Payments for earn-out liabilities -197 0   
Disposals of subsidiaries, associates and 
other investments 

1 314 10 043

Dividends received 4 387 8 500

Cash flow used in investing activities 1 816 -70 676

EUR ‘000 1.1.-31.12.2009 1.1.-31.12.2008

Financing activities

Acquisition of own shares -57 714 -12 273

Repayments of non-current borrowings -900 0

Repayments of current borrowings -1 280 -1 280

Non-current loans to group companies -112 520 -157 147
Repayments of non-current loans given to 
group companies

29 694 116 947

Repayments of non-current loan receivables 540 4 279

Short-term deposits 156 067 -55 144

Investments in money market mutual funds 0 173 562

Dividends paid 0 -11 600

Capital redemption -10 055 0

Group contributions paid -7 000 0
Interests received and income from money 
market investments

4 901 11 351

Interests paid -395 -4 249

Cash flow from financing activities 1 337 64 447

Change in cash and cash equivalents -7 126 -613

Cash at the beginning of the period 27 771 28 384

Cash at the end of the period 20 644 27 771

Change in cash and cash equivalents -7 126 -613
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF PARENT COMPANy (FAS) 

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 

Scope of financial statements and accounting 

principles

The parent company has prepared its separate finan-

cial statements in accordance with Finnish Accounting 

Standards. Consolidated financial statements have been 

prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards. Consolidated financial statements are 

presented separately as a part of these financial statements. 

Information on holdings in subsidiaries and associated 

companies and information on their consolidation is pre-

sented in notes to the financial statements. 

Valuation principles and methods

Investments in associated companies and debt instruments 

are valued at acquisition cost, less eventual impairment. 

Dividends received from group companies and associates 

have been recorded as financial income.

The balance sheet value of property, plant and equipment 

is stated at acquisition cost, less accumulated depreciation. 

Other assets have been stated in the balance sheet at the 

lower of acquisition cost or their likely realizable value. 

Debt items are valued at acquisition cost. Loan receivables 

from subsidiaries and group companies have been valued 

at acquisition cost.

Depreciation methods

 

Acquisition costs of property, plant and equipment are depre-

ciated over their useful lives according to plan. Depreciation 

plans have been defined based on practice and experience. 

Asset    Depreciation period/method 
 
Intangible rights  5 years straight line 
IT equipment  2 years straight line 
Other machinery and  
equipment  5 years straight line 

Vehicles   6 years straight line

Translations of foreign currency items

Balance sheet items denominated in foreign currency are 

translated into functional currency using the exchange 

rates of the balance sheet date. Income statement items 

are translated applying the exchange rates prevailing at 

the date of the transaction.

Comparability of the reported financial year and 

the previous year

Financial year reported and previous year have both been 

calendar years and are thus comparable.

The Company has been actively restructuring its business, 

which may require various ownership and financial arrange-

ments, which may have significant non-recurring or recur-

ring effects on the Company’s income statement, balance 

sheet and financial position, which makes comparison of 

financial statements and estimating future more difficult. 

As an example, during 2009 the Company has resctruc-

tured the group structure in relation to the Maltese miner-

als subsidiary acquired in October 2008, and transferred 

that company under a new subsidiary. As a consequence 

of this, the value of subsidiary shares on the Company’s 

balance sheet has declined, but on the other hand the re-

ceivables from subsidiaries have increased to same extent. 

Moreover, during 2009 the Group’s South African subsidi-

ary made a significant minerals sector acquisition, which 

was financed by a loan granted by the Company. Hence, 

the amount of liquid funds has decreased considerably.

At the end of 2009, the Company has revised the estimated 

amount of its earn-out liabilities based on revised future 

profit forecasts of the acquired subsidiaries, which has in 

particular had an effect on the estimated total purchase 

consideration liability of the 2008 minerals sector acquisi-

tion. Based on this, at the end of 2009 the Company had 

a total of EUR 30.1 million (31.12.2008: EUR 52.9 million) 

purchase consideration liabilities, including the related 

stamp duties on its balance sheet, in relation to the ac-

quisition made in 2008. Of these liabilities about EUR 29.2 

million are to be settled with the Company’s shares and 

about EUR 0.9 million in cash. 

On the balance sheet as per 31 December 2009, the pur-

chase consideration liabilities have been presented in sep-

arate line items so that, the short-term liabilities include 

those items whose payments are estimated to take place 

during the next financial year (also including the issuance 

and granting of shares).

The parent company 
has prepared its separate 

financial statements in accord-
ance with Finnish Accounting 

Standards.
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From the end of 2008 the Company has acquired a consid-

erable amount of its own shares, and later also cancelled 

these shares, which has affected the paid-up unrestricted 

equity fund, and decreased the Company’ cash and also 

impacted the amount of shares outstanding.

During 2009, the Company recognised impairment losses 

on holdings in associates and in relation to receivables 

from a subsidiary carrying out the Russian wood process-

ing projects. In 2008, the Company did recognise signifi-

cant one-off impairment losses on holdings in subsidiar-

ies and associates, mainly related to furniture business.

Impairment is presented in income statement above 

operating profit. 

Summary of key acquisitions and divest-

ments carried out in 2009

Group companies:

Acquisition of shares in Mogale Alloys Limited   »

(0% g 84.9%) 5/2009 via Ruukki South 

Africa

Transfer of RCS Limited shares under Ruukki  »

Holdings Limited

Associated companies:

Disposal of Cybersoft Oy (37.5%  » g  0%) 

11/2009

 

The changes in earn-out liabilities, based on either changes in estimated future profits or payments made in 2009, are 

presented below: 

EUR million Fixed considerations Based on 2009 results Based on 2010 or later results

31.12.2009 0.9 3.0 26.2

31.12.2008 1.8 5.3 45.8

Change -0.9 -2.3 -19.6

Reason paid in 2009
actual result 2009  

(vs. earlier estimate)
revised profit forecasts
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NOTES TO INCOME STATEMENT

P1. Revenue

 

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

By business line:    

Wood components 0 114

Services 318 360

Other revenue   6 648

Total 324 1 123

By geography:

Finland 280 1 008

EU countries  39    0

Other countries   5 114

Total 324 1 123
 

P2. Other operating income

 

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Gain on disposal of subsidiary 
shares

 7 13 173

Gain on disposal of associated 
companies shares

 780   2

Rental income  0  14

Total  787 13 190

P3. Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

Depreciation and amortisation according to plan

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Intangible rights - 20 - 26

Machinery and equipment - 31 - 40

Total - 51 - 66

Impairment on intangible assets

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Intangible rights  0  - 40

Total    0 - 40
 

Impairment on investments

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Impairment on holdings in 
subsidiaries 0 -4 528
Impairment on loans to group 
companies -8 337 -2 699
Reversal of impairment from 
loans to group companies  0  400
Impairment on holdings in 
associates -394  0  
Impairment on loan receivables 
from associates

 
  0 - 50

Total -8 732 -6 877
 
Impairment has been presented in the income statement above operat-
ing profit.

P4. Financial income and expense

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Dividends from group companies 4 250 8 402

Dividends from associated companies 137  98

Gain on disposal of subsidiary shares    0    0

Other financial income

From group companies 12 357 6 285

From others 2 829 10 976

Other financial expense

To others -223 -1 651

Total 19 351 24 110

P5. Extraordinary items

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Group contributions, given -1 835 -7 000

Total -1 835 -7 000

P6. Income taxes

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Profit for the period  669 16 642

Adjustments for tax calculation 3 757 -14 393

Taxable income 4 426 2 249

Tax advances paid -1 946 -735
Tax deferral based on taxable 
income

 796 150

Income tax of the period -1 151 -585

Taxes of previous years
Returned taxes from previous 
year

639    0

Additional taxes from previous 
years

   
0 -152

Net income taxes - 512 -737

Tax receivable in relation to 
period’s income tax 31.12.

 796  150
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NOTES TO ASSETS

P7. Property, plant and equipment

Intangible rights

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Acquisition cost 1.1. 168 154

Additions  34  14

Acquisition cost 31.12. 202 168

Accumulated depreciation 1.1. 109  42

Depreciation for the period  20  26

Impairment for the period    0  40

Accumulated depreciation 31.12. 129 109

Book value 31.12.  73  60
 

Machinery and equipment

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Acquisition cost 1.1. 224 208

Additions   0  16

Acquisition cost 31.12. 224 224

Accumulated depreciation 1.1. 157 118

Depreciation for the period  31  40

Accumulated depreciation 31.12. 188 157

Book value 31.12.  35  66

Other tangible assets

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Book value 1.1.   2   2

Book value 31.12.   2   2

P8. Investments

 

EUR ‘000
Shares in group 

companies
Shares in associ-
ated companies

Receivables from 
group companies

Receivables from  
associated 
companies

Other  
receivables

Total

Acquisition cost 1.1.2009 182 677 9 016 3 266 169  80 195 209

Additions 3 737    10 000    13 737

Disposals -136 238 - 88    -136 326

Acquisition cost 31.12.2009 50 176 8 928 13 266 169  80 72 620
Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment 1.1.2009

-4 250 -7 739 -3 266 -169 - 80 -15 504

Impairment -394 -8 337    -8 732
Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment 31.12.2009

-4 250 -8 133 -11 603 -169 - 80 -24 236

Book value 31.12.2009 45 926 795 1 663    0   0 48 383
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Holdings in other companies

Subsidiaries

Name and domicile of the subsidiary Group ownership 31.12.2009
Parent company’s direct  

ownership 31.12.2009 (%)
Consolidated into the Group Accounting period

Changes in parent
company’s holding in 2009

Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy, Espoo 100.00 100.00 1.7.2003 1.1.-31.12.2009

Ruukki Wood Oy, Espoo 100.00 0.00 1.7.2003 1.1.-31.12.2009

Ruukki Invest Oy, Espoo 100.00 0.00 1.7.2003 1.1.-31.12.2009

Ruukki Harvest Oy, Espoo 100.00 0.00 17.10.2007 1.1.-31.12.2009

Ruukki Sawmill Oy, Espoo 100.00 0.00 17.10.2007 1.1.-31.12.2009

Utawood Oy, Utajärvi 100.00 0.00 1.7.2003 1.1.-31.12.2009

Lappipaneli Oy, Kuusamo 10000 0.00 31.12.2003 1.1.-31.12.2009

Junnikkala Oy, Kalajoki 51.00 0.00 31.1.2008 1.1.-31.12.2009

Oplax Oy, Oulu 100.00 100.00 15.2.2007 1.1.-31.12.2009

Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy, Oulunsalo 100.00 100.00 1.1.2004 1.1.-31.12.2009

Nivaelement Oy, Nivala 100.00 0.00 1.12.2006 1.1.-31.12.2009

RG Design-Talotekniikka Oy, Ii 70.10 0.00 1.7.2007 1.1.-31.12.2009

Kirkkonummen Kiinteistösijoitus Oy, Helsinki 100.00 0.00 9.12.2009 1.1.-31.12.2009 Ownership 0%  100%

Storms Villa Oy, Kirkkonummi 100.00 0.00 9.12.2009 1.1.-31.12.2009 Ownership 0%  100%

Storms Gård Oy, Kirkkonummi 100.00 0.00 9.12.2009 1.1.-31.12.2009 Ownership 0%  100%

Ruukki Holdings Limited, Malta 100.00 99.99 15.12.2008 1.1.-31.12.2009

Ruukki South Africa (Pty) Ltd, South Africa 100.00 0.00 19.3.2009 1.1.-31.12.2009 Ownership 0%  100%

Dezzo Trading 184 (Pty) Ltd, South Africa 100.00 0.00 25.5.2009 1.4.2008 - 30.9.2009 Ownership 0%  100%

PGR 17 Investments (Pty) Ltd, South Africa 100.00 0.00 25.5.2009 1.4.2008 - 30.9.2009 Ownership 0%  100%

PGR 3 (Pty) Ltd, South Africa 63.00 0.00 25.5.2009 1.4.2008 - 30.9.2009 Ownership 0%  63.0%

Mogale Alloys (Pty) Ltd, South Africa 84.90 0.00 25.5.2009 1.4.2008 - 30.9.2009 Ownership 0%  84.9%

RCS Limited, Malta 100.00 0.00 31.10.2008 1.1.-31.12.2009

Türk Maadin Sirketi A.S., Turkey 98.74 98.74 31.10.2008 1.1.-31.12.2009

TH Ören Madencilik TAO, Turkey 73.08 0.00 31.10.2008 1.1.-31.12.2009

Metal ve Maden ic ve Dis Pazarlama Tic Ltd, Sti, Turkey 97.76 0.00 31.10.2008 1.1.-31.12.2009

Ruukki Suisse SA, Switzerland 100.00 100.00 30.3.2009 1.4.-31.12.2009 Established in 2009

Balansor Oy, Espoo 99.99 99.99 1.11.2003 1.1.-31.12.2009

Rekylator Oy , Helsinki 100.00 100.00 1.7.2003 1.1.-31.12.2009

Hirviset Group Oy, Espoo 100.00 100.00 1.5.2006 1.1.-31.12.2009

Alumni Oy, Espoo 100.00 100.00 1.8.2003 1.1.-31.12.2009
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Associated companies

EUR ‘000
Company's  

ownership (%)
Book value, 

parent company
Closing date/ 

Information date
Equity * Net profit

Stellatum Oy, Helsinki 34.00 238 31.12.2009 93 -15

Valtimo Components Oyj,  
Valtimo **

24.90 0 31.12.2008 -996 -497

Arc Technology Oy, Helsinki 37.40 312 31.12.2009 243 -33

Widian Oy, Espoo 39.64 20 31.12.2009 -219 4

ILP-Group Ltd Oy, Helsinki 33.44 226 31.12.2009 2 830 127

Incap Furniture Oy, Oulu ** 12.45 0
30.9.2009 

 (9 months)
-6 223 -1 832

Rivest Oy, Kärkölä 40.00 0 31.12.2008 1 -8

LoopM Oy, Helsinki 28.43 0

Sportslink Group Oy, Helsinki 25.00 0

Total 795
 
* Equity excluding subordinated loans.
** Incap Furniture Oy and Valtimo Components Oyj are in formal corporate restructuring.

P9. Receivables

Receivables from group companies

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Non-current

Trade receivables   0  61

Loan and other receivables 280 676 92 618

Interest receivables 8 642    0
Prepayments and accrued 
income

  
 0 575

Total 289 318 93 254

Current

Trade receivables 173  45

Interest receivables 2 265    0
Prepayments and accrued 
income

   
0 684

Total 2 438 729

Other interest-bearing receivables

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Non-current

Loan receivables 840 1 380

Total 840 1 380

Current

Rental deposits  74  83

Other collaterals   0 943

VAT receivable 1 202 0

Total 1 276 1 026
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Other non-interest bearing receivables 

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Non-current
Purchase price receivables from 
disposal of group companies

1 398 2 686

Total 1 398 2 686

Current

VAT receivable 0 682
Receivable from disposal of 
group company shares

1 461 759

Receivable from disposal of 
associated company shares

 150 0

Total 1 611 1 441

Prepaid expenses and accrued income

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Deferred tax assets  796 150

Accrued interest income  28 265
Other prepaid expenses and 
accrued income

 7  60

Total  831 475

P10. Shareholders’ equity

Share capital

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Share capital 1.1. 23 642 23 642

Share capital 31.12. 23 642 23 642
 

Share premium reserve

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Share premium reserve 1.1. 25 223 25 223
Share premium reserve  
31.12.

25 223 25 223

Paid-up unrestricted equity reserve

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Paid-up unrestricted equity 
reserve 1.1.

332 644 345 309

Capital redemption to the 
shareholders on (18.5.2009)

-10 055    

Issuance of own shares 
(14.10.2009)

100    

Acquisition of own shares -57 714 -12 665
Paid-up unrestricted equity 
reserve 31.12.

264 975 332 644

Retained earnings 

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Retained earnings 1.1. 1 022 2 133
Profit for the previous financial 
year

16 642 10 490

Dividend pay-out    0 -11 601

Retained earnings 31.12. 17 664 1 022

Profit for the financial year  669 16 642

Total shareholders’ equity 332 173 399 173

Distributable funds

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Retained earnings 1.1. 17 664 12 623

Dividends    0 -11 601

Profit for the financial year  669 16 642

Retained earnings 31.12. 18 333 17 664
Paid-up unrestricted equity 
reserve

264 975 332 644

Distributable funds 31.12. 283 308 350 308

NOTES TO EQUITy AND LIABILITIES
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P11. Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Non-current interest bearing 
debt
Loans from financial institutions 545 2 725

Total 545 2 725
 

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Non-current non-interest 
bearing debt
Loans from associated 
companies

5   5

Deferred purchase consideration 
liabilities

   
0 900

Earn-out purchase consideration 
liabilities

26 219 50 893

Total 26 224 51 798

Current liabilities

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Current interest bearing debt

Loans from financial institutions 1 280 1 280

Total 1 280 1 280

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Current non-interest bearing debt

Accounts payable 1 007 922

Payables to group companies  29    0
Group contribution payable to 
group companies

1 835 7 000

Other debt  47 1 613

Other debt to group companies  960   0 
Deferred purchase consideration 
liabilities, Pohjolan Design-Talo 
acquisition

 900 900

Earn-out purchase consideration 
liabilities, Pohjolan Design-Talo 
acquisition

 63 200

Earn-out purchase consideration 
liabilities, RCS + TMS acquisition

2 933    0

Accrued expenses and deferred 
income

1 355 614

Total 9 130 11 248

 

Option rights 

 

The Company’s option schemes are presented in the notes 

to the consolidated financial statements. The Company 

has two option schemes: I/2005 (maximum 2,700,000 

shares) and I/2008 (maximum 2,900,000 shares, all op-

tions granted to the Group CEO). Moreover, the Company 

has granted altogether 73,170,731 share options to 

Kermas Limited in relation to the acquisition of RCS Ltd 

and Turk Maadin Sirketi in October 2008; the exercise of 

these options is tied to the acquired companies profits in 

2009 - 2013.

Pledges and contingent liabilities 

 

The Company’s pledges and contingent liabilities are 

presented in the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements. 

 

Earn-out liabilities related to share purchase agree-

ments 

 

The earn-out liabilities relating to the acquisitions carried 

out in financial year 2008 are recognised based on actual 

and forecasted results of the target companies’ profits into 

the acquisition cost of the shares and into liabilities as 

well. 

 

Pension liabilities 

 

The Company is committed to arrange its CEO a pension 

insurance the cost level of which matches the insurance 

coverage of the Finnish TyEL pension system. Otherwise 

the Company’s pension liabilities are directly in accordance 

with the statutory TyEL-system. 

 

Related party loans 

 

The Company has granted previous CEO and shareholder 

Matti Vikkula a loan of EUR 1,380,000 as a part of his 

incentive scheme. The interest is 12 months euribor. Loan 

period ends on 30 September 2012.  Vikkula has the right 

to retire the loan or repay a part of it before the agreed 

due date. The loan has no guarantees. On 31 December 

2009 the loan balance outstanding totalled EUR 840,000.
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Breach of financing covenants 

 

During financial year 2009 the Company’s loans breached 

its covenants due to a subsidiary’s financial performance. 

In consequence, the Company made an additional one-off 

repayment of loan to the bank for a total of EUR 0.9 mil-

lion in December, after which the loan covenants have not 

breached. In addition to the extra capital repayment, for 

the remaining loan capital the interest margin increased. 

 

Additional information on personnel 

Personnel, annual average (all employees)

2009 2008

Employees 9 8

Management remuneration

EUR ´000 2009 2008

Chief Executive Officers 990 1 333

Board members 350 331

From 1 July 2009 onwards the Chief Executive Officer 

has been employed by a subsidiary of the Company. The 

fixed monthly gross salary has been set at EUR 30,000. 

Moreover, the CEO is entitled to an annual bonus if the 

pre-set criteria are met. The maximum amount of the 

bonus is equal to 24 months salary. This bonus has been 

accrued on the Company’s 31.12.2009 accounts based on 

the estimate confirmed by the Board of Directors.

INFORMATION ON SHARES AND 
SHAREHOLDERS

Changes in the number of shares and share capital 

during or after 2009 

 

On 31 December 2008, the registered number of Ruukki 

Group Plc shares was 290,034,022. In January 2009 the 

Company continued the share buy-back program started 

in December 2008, based on shareholders’ meeting au-

thorisation to the Board. On 17 February, based on the 

Board resolution, altogether 29,000,000 treasury shares 

held by the company, equalling 9.99% of all shares, were 

cancelled. After that the registered number of shares was 

261,034,022.

 

In addition, Ruukki’s Board of Directors has a valid authori-

sation given by the Extraordinary General Meeting on 24 

February 2009 to acquire a maximum of 26,000,000 own 

shares and to transfer the acquired shares. The authorisa-

tion is valid until 24 February 2010. Based on the authori-

sation, share buy-backs were started on 5 March 2009. By 

the end of December 2009 altogether 21,840,000 treasury 

shares were acquired based on this authorisation, which 

is equal to about 8.37% of the total amount of registered 

shares. 

 

Based on the authorisation given by the Extraordinary 

General Meeting of shareholders, Ruukki Group Plc’s Board 

of Directors decided in October to grant 52,083 shares, 

held by Ruukki Group Plc as treasury shares, to Thomas 

Hoyer as part of his incentive package as the Managing 

Director of Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy.

Based on the above mentioned share buy-back program, 

the Company has acquired altogether 21,845,000 own 

shares. The Company’s Board decided to cancel 13,052,022 

own shares held by the Company which became valid on 

2 February 2010. The registered number of shares is now 

247,982,000. After the cancellation, the Company holds 

8,740,895 own shares, which is equal to about 3.52% of 

the total amount of registered shares. 

 

More information on shares, share capital and sharehold-

ers have been presented in the notes to the consolidated 

financial statements. 

 

Information obligated to a group company: 

 

The Company is the Group parent company: 

Ruukki Group Plc, domicile Espoo 

(address: Keilasatama 5, 02150 Espoo)

P
A

R
E

N
T

 C
O

M
P
A

N
Y

’S
 F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L 

S
T
A
T

E
M

E
N

T
S 



136

OTHER NOTES

Ruukki Group Plc’s Board members and CEO owned in 

total 82,168,811 (31.12.2008: 113,675,890) Ruukki Group 

Plc shares on 31.12.2009 when including both shares and 

forward contracts owned either directly, through persons 

closely associated with them or controlled companies. This 

corresponds to approximately 31.5% of all outstanding 

shares that were registered to the Trade Register on 31 

December 2009. 

On 31 December 2008 the total number of registered 

shares was 290,034,022 and the Board and CEO’s owner-

ship corresponded to 39.2% of the total number of regis-

tered shares.

Board members’ and CEO’s ownership 

Shares Forward contracts
Total shares  

+ share forwards
Options

31.12.2009

Board + CEO

Alwyn Smit (CEO and member of the Board) 2 800 000 0 2 800 000 2 900 000

Thomas Hoyer * 52 083 0 52 083 0

Markku Kankaala 8 550 228 0 8 550 228 0

Jelena Manojlovic (Chairman of the Board) ** 70 766 500 0 70 766 500 73 170 731

Terence McConnachie 0 0 0 0

Board + CEO total 82 168 811 0 82 168 811 76 070 731

All shares outstanding 261 034 022 261 034 022

Proportion of all shares 31.5% 29.1%
 
* Thomas Hoyer was granted 52,083 Ruukki Group Plc shares in October 2009, as announced on 7 October 2009, in conjunction with his appointment 
as the CEO of the Wood Processing business.
 
** These option rights have been issued to Kermas Limited, a controlled corporation of Jelena Manojlovic’s spouse, related to additional earn-out 
purchase consideration of the acquisition carried out in October 2008. The option rights have been issued without consideration and they will entitle 
the recipients to subscribe for a maximum total of 73,170,731 shares in Ruukki Group Plc. These options can be exercised only on condition that 
the companies acquired generate positive net results for 2009-2013, and are based on EUR 2.30 per share exercise price with dividend adjustment 
mechanism (on 31.12.2009 EUR 2.26 per share).

Auditors’ fees

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

KPMG Oy Ab

Audit 129  75

Other services  86  73

Total 215 148
 

EUR ‘000 2009 2008

Ernst & Young Oy

Audit  88 -

Other services 217 -

Total 305 -

In addition to the expenses presented above, the Company has in 2009 
paid its auditors EUR 53,292.00 acquisition-related expenses, activated 
on the balance sheet as part of the purchase consideration. Moreover, in 
relation to the targeted transactions not concluded during 2009, an ad-
ditional EUR 130,293.99 has been recognised on the Company’s income 
statement in relation to Ernst & Young Oy. Finally, for other Ernst & 
Young country organisations than Ernst & Young Oy, the Company has 
in 2009 paid and accrued expenses altogether EUR 1,558,348.39 for the 
London listing process started at the end of 2009.

Board’s proposition of dividend payout 

 

The Company’s Board of Directors has decided to propose 

to the Annual General Meeting, which will be later con-

vened separately, that a capital redemption of EUR 0.04 

per share would be distributed out of the paid-up unre-

stricted equity reserve i.e. in total EUR 9,919,280.00, and 

no dividend payout is proposed.
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SIGNATURES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Espoo, 25 February 2010 

 

Jelena Manojlovic

Chairman of the Board

Markku Kankaala

Member of the Board

Alwyn Smit

Member of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

 

 

 

Thomas Hoyer

Member of the Board

 

Terence McConnachie 

Member of the Board

Tomi Englund

Authorised Public Accountant

Ernst & Young Oy

THE AUDITORS’ NOTE 

Our auditors’ report on Ruukki Group Plc’s 2009 financial statements and on Board report has 

been issued today. 

Espoo, 31 March 2010
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AUDITOR’S REPORT

Translation

To the Annual General Meeting of Ruukki Group Plc 

We have audited the accounting records, the financial 

statements, the report of the Board of Directors, and 

the administration of Ruukki Group Pic for the financial 

period 1.1.2009 - 31.12.2009. The financial statements 

comprise the consolidated balance sheet, statement of 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, 

cash flow statement and notes to the consolidated finan-

cial statements, as well as the parent company’s balance 

sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and notes 

to the financial statements.

The responsibility of the Board of Directors and 

the Managing Director

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are re-

sponsible for the preparation of the financial statements 

and the report of the Board of Directors and for the fair 

presentation of the consolidated financial statements 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, as well as for 

the fair presentation of the financial statements and the 

report of the Board of Directors in accordance with laws 

and regulations governing the preparation of the financial 

statements and the report of the Board of Directors in 

Finland. The Board of Directors is responsible for the ap-

propriate arrangement of the control of the company’s 

accounts and finances, and the Managing Director shall 

see to it that the accounts of the company are in compli-

ance with the law and that its financial affairs have been 

arranged in a reliable manner.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to perform an audit in accordance 

with good auditing practice in Finland, and to express an 

opinion on the parent company’s financial statements, on 

the consolidated financial statements and on the report of 

the Board of Directors based on our audit. Good auditing 

practice requires that we comply with ethical requirements 

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable as-

surance whether the financial statements and the report 

of the Board of Directors are free from material misstate-

ment and whether the members of the Board of Directors 

of the parent company and the Managing Director have 

complied with the Limited Liability Companies Act.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the finan-

cial statements and the report of the Board of Directors. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judg-

ment, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements or of the report 

of the Board of Directors, whether due to fraud or error. 

In making those risk assessments, the auditor consid-

ers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 

and fair presentation of the financial statements and the 

report of the Board of Directors in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. 

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 

of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the financial state-

ments and the report of the Board of Directors.

The audit was performed in accordance with good audit-

ing practice in Finland. We believe that the audit evidence 

we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion on the consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give 

a true and fair view of the financial position, financial 

performance, and cash flows of the group in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

as adopted by the EU.

Opinion on the company’s financial statements 

and the report of the Board of Directors

In our opinion, the financial statements and the report 

of the Board of Directors give a true and fair view of 

both the consolidated and the parent company’s financial 

performance and financial position in accordance with 

the laws and regulations governing the preparation of 

the financial statements and the report of the Board of 

Directors in Finland. The information in the report of the 

Board of Directors is consistent with the information in 

the financial statements.

Espoo, March 31, 2010

Ernst & Young Oy

Authorized Public Accountant Firm

Tomi Englund, Authorized Public Accountant
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

This Corporate Governance Statement reflects 

the situation in 2009, but takes into account rel-

evant developments thereafter until 26 February 

2010 when the Company published its Financial 

Statements Review 2009.

Since Ruukki Group has over the past years undergone a 

number of significant structural changes, there are certain 

transition processes ongoing, which can affect the status 

and implementation of the Group’s corporate governance 

related issues in the future.

Ruukki Group Plc (also the ‘Company’) is the parent com-

pany of a Group whose subsidiaries operate in various 

countries and industries with emphasis on the profitable 

processing of natural resources, in particular certain min-

erals and coniferous wood. Currently, the Group has two 

separate reporting segments, both of which have their 

own management teams, aiming to utilise the synergies 

between the subsidiaries. The simplified Group structure 

is presented below.

During 2009, the Group continued implementing the 

strategy decided in 2008. The Group’s Minerals segment 

expanded into South Africa and at the same time diversi-

fied the ferroalloys product range into charge chrome, 

silico manganese and nickel-chromium-iron alloy. The 

Wood business restructuring alternatives in relation to 

the wood processing assets were evaluated and Wood  

segment changed its focus to increase the relative impor-

tance of house building by disposing of some non-core 

sawmill assets not suitable to the Group strategy.

At the end of 2009, the Group announced that it is car-

rying out preparations to list Ruukki Group Plc shares on 

the London Stock Exchange’s Main Market during the first 

half of 2010.

The address of the Company is: Keilasatama 5, FI-02150 

Espoo, Finland.

REVIEW OF THE GROUP STRUCTURE

LISTED PARENT COMPANY

REPORTING SEGMENTS

SUBSIDIARIES

Ruukki Group Plc

Minerals
business

Wood Processing
business

Special Grade
Ferrochrome
Southern Europe

Ferro Alloys
South Africa

House building
Finland

Pallet business
Finland

Sawmill business
Finland
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APPLICABLE REGULATIONS

Ruukki Group Plc is a Finnish public limited company 

complying with the Finnish legislation as well as all the 

relevant foreign legislation in its operations. In addition 

to the Finnish Companies Act, Securities Markets Act 

and other regulations governing Finnish public limited 

companies, Ruukki Group complies with the Articles of 

Association, the Finnish Corporate Governance Code, the 

insider guidelines and harmonised disclosure rules issued 

by NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Stock Exchange.

The Board of the Securities Market Association in Finland 

approved the current Finnish Corporate Governance Code 

in October 2008. In addition, NASDAQ OMX Helsinki’s 

Board has adopted the Corporate Governance Code as 

a part of the Exchange self-regulation. The Corporate 

Governance Code can be found on the Securities Market 

Association’s website at: www.cgfinland.fi.

Currently, the Company departs from or only partially 

complies with the following Finnish Corporate Gov-

ernance Code recommendations:

the Company does not have a nomination or a re- »

muneration committee (recommendations 11 and 

28-33);

the majority of the Board members are not independ- »

ent of the Company, and only one of the independent 

members is independent of the significant sharehold-

ers of the Company (recommendation 14); and

the Audit Committee has less than three members,  »

and the independence criteria of the Audit Committee 

members are not fully met (recommendations 25 and 

26).

Since the Group has foreign subsidiaries, the local laws 

and regulations are also taken into account, including but 

not limited to local accounting and tax legislation and 

exchange controls.

If the shares of the Company will be listed on the London 

Stock Exchange’s Main Market, for which preparations 

are currently ongoing, it will affect the relevant rules 

and regulations applicable to the Company. Hence, as an 

example, the Company may in the future be obliged to 

follow the Combined Code on Corporate Governance and 

other listing rules of the London market.
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Governance structure

General meeting

Ruukki Group Plc’s highest decision-making body is the 

General Meeting. The Finnish Companies Act stipulates 

that the Annual General Meeting (AGM) must be held 

within six months after the end of the financial year, 

which in practice is equal to the calendar year. The AGM 

shall address the issues assigned to it in accordance 

with the Company’s Articles of Association and with any 

other proposals submitted to the AGM. An Extraordinary 

General Meeting (EGM) is convened, if necessary, to deal 

with a specific proposal made to the meeting. An EGM 

must be held if shareholders with a minimum total hold-

ing of 10% of the Company’s shares require, in writing, 

that a meeting be held to resolving a certain issue.

The most significant items on the AGM’s agenda include:

deciding on the number of members on the Board and  »

their remuneration and electing the members;

GOVERNANCE BODIES AND THE GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

electing the auditor or auditors and deciding on their  »

remuneration;

deciding on the adoption of the financial statements; »

deciding on confirmation of the financial year profit,  »

on dividend distribution or other distribution, such as 

capital redemption;

amending the Articles of Association; and »

deciding on a share issue or authorising the Board to  »

launch a share issue.

Ruukki Group Plc will publish a notice of a General Meeting 

in one of the national newspapers in Finland, determined 

by the Board of Directors, no earlier than two months 

and no later than twenty-one days prior to the meeting. 

In the last few years, the notice has been published in 

Helsingin Sanomat or Kauppalehti. The notice outlines 

the items to be dealt with in the General Meeting. The 

notice of a General Meeting and the proposals by the 

Board will also be published as a stock exchange release. 

The material to be presented at a General Meeting will 

be made avail-able to the shareholders at the Company’s 

headquarters in Espoo as well as on the Company web-

site. Copies of the material are delivered to shareholders 

on request. The minutes of a General Meeting will be 

available for shareholders’ inspection on the Company 

website within two weeks of the meeting. In addition, the 

Company publishes the decisions of the General Meeting 

in a stock exchange release without undue delay.

The General Meetings are organised in a manner that 

permits shareholders to exercise their ownership rights 

effectively. A shareholder wishing to exercise his/her 

ownership rights shall register for the General Meeting 

in a manner stated in the notice of the meeting. All the 

shareholders who have been registered in the Company’s 

shareholder register (maintained by Euroclear Finland Oy) 

ten days prior to the meeting, have the right to attend a 

General Meeting should they have given a proper notice 

to attend the meeting. The temporary registration to the 

shareholder register of the holders of nominee-registered 

shares wishing to attend a meeting needs to be valid no 

later than ten days prior to the meeting. A shareholder 

may attend a General Meeting in person or appoint a 

proxy to represent him/her. 

 

Decisions made by a General Meeting are usually based 

on a majority vote. However, decisions on several matters 

under the Companies Act, such as an alteration of the 

Articles of Association or a decision on a directed share 

issue, require a qualified majority represented by shares 

and the votes conferred by the shares at the Meeting.

The Company’s CEO, all Board members and auditors 

aim to be present at the General Meetings. In addition, 

persons proposed for the first time as director shall be 

present at the General Meeting that decides on the elec-

tion, unless there is a cogent reason for the absence.

General Meeting of Shareholders

Board of Directors

Group Executive
Committee

Internal | External
Audit

Operative Management within the Group

Audit Committee
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Tasks and responsibilities

The Board of Directors is responsible for the Company’s 

administration and the proper organisation of the busi-

ness operations. The Board steers and monitors the 

management of the Company abiding with Finnish 

legislation and, in particular, the Companies Act. The 

tasks and responsibilities of the Board are specified in 

the Finnish Companies Act and in the Company’s Articles 

of Association. The Board’s general duty is to direct the 

Company’s activities in a way that the operations generate 

profit and yield the maximum added value for the capital 

invested in the longterm. The Board’s operations are based 

on a writ-ten charter and established courses of action. 

To fulfil its tasks, the Board:

decides on the business strategy of the Group;  »

oversees the implementation of the strategy;  »

decides on the capital structure of the Group;  »

makes decisions on significant investments, divest- »

ments, credits and collaterals, guarantees and other 

commitments; 

handles and approves the interim reports, admin- »

istration reports, financial statements and future 

forecasts; 

decides on the organizational structure of the Group;  »

appoints the CEO of the parent company and deter- »

mines the compensation of the CEO; 

nominates the members of the Board in the significant  »

subsidiaries; 

makes proposals to the General Meeting of sharehold- »

ers and summons the General Meeting;

decides on the general directives of the Group; and »

takes care of the duties of nomination and remunera- »

tion committees, as the Group has so far not estab-

lished those committees.

The essential contents of the Board’s written charter 

are:

the Board convenes on preconfirmed dates with the  »

objective to hold a meeting about once a month, and 

when any issues require, more often, e.g. via confer-

ence calls; 

the issues to be dealt with by the Board are presented  »

by the Chairman, the CEO or some other person who 

has taken part in the preparation of the issues; 

the Board always aims to make unanimous decisions;  »

minutes are taken of the meetings;  »

the Board prepares a yearly plan for its operation;  »

if possible, all the Board members and persons pro- »

posed for the Board participate in the Annual General 

Meeting; 

the Board acts carefully in the interest of the Company  »

and all of its shareholders.

The Board monitors that all the communications and 

other requirements stipulated by the rules of the relevant 

stock exchanges and financial supervision authorities 

are fulfilled. Furthermore, the Board regularly conducts 

self-assessment. The Company has specified targets for 

the development of its administrative functions and proc-

esses, and continues to implement the already initiated 

development processes.

The Board decides on acquisitions and disposals of sub-

sidiaries and associates. For this reason, a Board member 

cannot generally be a direct or an indirect owner of a 

subsidiary or an associated company of Ruukki Group.

Board committees

The Board established an Audit Committee in May 2007 

and has confirmed the duties of the Committee in a writ-

ten charter. The principal aim of the Audit Committee is 

to give the Board critical and independent advice on the 

Group’s financial reporting and audit process, and to keep 

under review the Group’s compliance with the relevant 

rules and regulations with specific reference to internal 

controls and risk management systems.

 

The key responsibilities of the Audit Committee relate 

to:

internal control and risk management  »

financial reporting »

external auditing »

internal auditing »

The Board has not established any other committee, such 

as nomination or remuneration committee.

Board members

According to the Articles of Association, the Board com-

prises of three to nine members. The Annual General 

Meeting elects the Board members for a term that ends 

at the end of the AGM following their appointment. The 

Board elects a chairperson from among its members who 

calls the meetings. The composition of the Board must 

meet the requirements set by the Company’s size, market 

position, and line of business.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE BOARD MEMBERS

From left to right:

Terence McConnachie, Esa Hukkanen*, Jelena Manojlovic, 

Alwyn Smit, Thomas Hoyer, Markku Kankaala 

* Board member until 7 May 2009

Jelena Manojlovic
Chairperson of the Board, Chairperson of the Audit Committee
Ph.D. (Medicine), Clin. D. (Psychology), MA (Psychotherapy), born 1950

Jelena Manojlovic is currently organisational consultant and 

a university lecturer. She has 35 years’ experience from dif-

ferent positions working with people, teams and organisa-

tions internationally and in UK hospitals and universities. 

She has been the Chairperson since 16 June 2009 and prior 

to that a member of the Board from 11 July 2008. She has 

recently resigned her other directorships in order to devote 

more time to her role in Ruukki. Manojlovic is independent 

of the Company, but via his husband’s controlled entities, 

she is dependent on a major shareholder of the Company.

Thomas Hoyer
Member of the Audit Committee until October 2009 
M.Sc. (Econ.), born 1974

Thomas Hoyer has been the CEO of Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy 

as of 1 October 2009. He is also the Chairperson of the 

Board of Helsinki Capital Partners Oy. He was the CFO at 

Aldata Solution Oyj during 2003-2009 and before that he 

worked in different investment banks, e.g. Invision Asset 

Management AG and Bank am Bellevue AG. He has been a 

member of the Board since 7 October 2008. He has been 

the CEO of the Group’s wood processing segment from 1 

October 2009, and he also serves at the Board of Group’s 

wood processing companies, based on which he is not in-

dependent of the Company. However, he is independent of 

the Company’s main shareholders.

Markku Kankaala
Member of the Audit Committee 
B.Sc. (Eng.), born 1963

Markku Kankaala worked as a branch director in Ruukki 

Group Plc until 31 August 2006. Previously, he worked for 

ten years as an entrepreneur in the wood products indus-

try and before that in different positions in Ahlström and 

Rautaruukki. He was also the CEO of Ruukki Group Plc in 

2003–2004. He has been a member of the Board since 30 

June 2003. Kankaala also acts as a Board member of some 

of Group’s wood processing subsidiaries. From 1 January 

2010, Kankaala is considered independent of the Company 

and of its major shareholders.

Terence McConnachie
High school degree, born 1955

Terence McConnachie is currently CEO at Sylvania 

Resources Limited, Welprop Mining Services and SA 

Chrome and Alloys Limited as well as a major shareholder 

and CEO in Alumicor Ltd. He has 25 years’ experience in 

the mining industry and is the founder of South African 

Chrome & Alloys Ltd, which is listed on the Johannesburg 

stock exchange. He has been a member of the Board since 

7 October 2008. He is independent of the Company and of 

its major shareholders.

Alwyn Smit
B.Comm.Hon., LLB, born 1961

Alwyn Smit is the Chief Executive Officer of Ruukki Group 

Plc. He has some twenty years’ international experience 

in banking and finance. He is also founder and ex-CEO of 

Decillion Limited, an investment bank boutique listed on 

Johannesburg stock exchange. He has been a member of 

the Board since 31 March 2008 and was Chairperson from 

11 July 2008 to 16 June 2009. He is not independent of 

the Company and not independent of the major sharehold-

ers either due to his past role as a consultant in Kermas 

Limited.
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The Board appoints the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), 

who is responsible for the day-to-day management of the 

Company in accordance with the instructions issued by 

the Board. It is the responsibility of the Group CEO to lead 

and steer the Group and act as the spokesperson for the 

Group both internally and externally. The CEO manages, 

develops, guides and supervises the group activities. In 

these duties, the CEO is assisted by the Group Executive 

Committee and the Group headquarter’s personnel. The 

CEO reports to the Board of Directors and is responsible 

for preparing presentations and documentation for the 

Board. The focus of the CEO role lies in major strategic 

efforts, where his/her involvement and commitment is 

essential, whether concerning acquisitions, capitalisation, 

listing or other special projects.

  

The role of the CEO includes the following general 

duties:

providing leadership to the Group, determining its  »

priorities and the ways to operate; 

preparing and developing the Group strategy for the  »

Board’s approval;

implementing the Group strategy and monitoring the  »

development of results, including:

planning and managing the organization structure,  »

capital structure, investments, mergers and ac-qui-

sitions, demergers, credits, guarantees and other 

substantial commitments for the Board’s approval

organising the Group finance, bookkeeping and  »

internal control matters

coordinating communications to the outside media »

planning nominations of the subsidiaries` Board  »

members in the significant subsidiaries for the Group 

Board’s approval.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND MANAGEMENT EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

With respect to the Company’s operational management, 

the CEO is assisted by the Management Executive Com-

mittee, an advisory body set up by the Board of Directors. 

The Management Executive Committee has neither auth-

ority, based on laws or the Articles of Association, nor any 

independent decision-making rights. Decisions on mat-

ters discussed by the Executive Committee shall be taken 

by the CEO or an Executive Committee member respon-

sible for the matter in question, unless the decision on 

the matter belongs to the Company’s or any subsidiary’s 

Board of Directors.

Historically, the Group has been founded on the principle 

of decentralised management, with operative decisions 

localised at the individual subsidiary or business level. 

However, the Group has recently moved towards a more 

centralised management structure.

In line with the Group’s overall strategy, the Group has 

created two separate senior management operations: 

one for its minerals processing business and the other for 

wood processing businesses.

The Annual General Meeting resolves the compensation 

of the Board.

The remuneration of the CEO is decided by the Board. 

The time needed to carry out the duties, the state of the 

Company and general practices are taken into account in 

remuneration. The conditions of the CEO’s employment 

are determined in a written contract, which is approved 

by the Board. 

The remuneration of the other senior management is 

confirmed by the Board.

The Company has the following incentive schemes:

Option scheme I/2008, which entitles the CEO, Alwyn  »

Smit, to subscribe for a maximum of 2,900,000 new 

shares in the Company with a fixed exercise price of 

EUR 2.30 per share with dividend and capital redemp-

tion adjustment factor (hence, the current effective 

exercise price, before 2010 AGM, is EUR 2.26 per 

share).

Option scheme I/2005, which entitles the option hold- »

ers to subscribe for a maximum of 2,700,000 new 

shares in the Company. The exercise prices of the 

option scheme vary between EUR 0.50 – EUR 1.00 

per share, with dividend and capital redemption ad-

justment factors (hence, the current effective exercise 

price, before 2010 AGM, is between EUR 0.36 – EUR 

0.86 per share).

The option schemes are described in more detail on the 

company website at: 

www.ruukkigroup.fi/In_English/Investors/Share/

Other_share_information/Compensation.iw3.

REMUNERATION PRINCIPLES

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 G

O
V

E
R

N
A

N
C

E
C

O
R

P
O

R
A

T
E

 G
O

V
E

R
N

A
N

C
E



145

INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL CONTROL

The Board of Directors is responsible for organising and 

maintaining adequate and effective internal control per-

formed by the senior and executive management as well 

as all other personnel within the Group, and as assisted 

by third-party experts when relevant. Internal control 

refers to aspects involved in management and activities 

aimed at:

achieving set targets;  »

using resources in an efficient and economical way,  »

and safeguarding assets; 

managing risks sufficiently;  »

getting reliable and accurate financial and operational  »

information without undue delays;   

complying with external and internal laws and regula- »

tions; and

securing systems and key operations, as well as en- »

suring business continuity.

 

The system of internal control provides reasonable rather 

than absolute assurance that the Group’s business ob-

jectives will be achieved within the risk tolerance levels 

defined by the Board.

The Board of Directors decides on the Group’s manage-

ment system and the corporate and organisational struc-

ture required by each business unit with a view to provid-

ing solid foundations for effective internal control. Internal 

control and risk management related to financial report-

ing at the Group level are performed in a coordinated way 

by a function independent of the business areas. Each 

subsidiary’s executive management is responsible for the 

implementation of internal control and risk management 

to the agreed Group principles and guidelines.

Major commitments or transactions are subject to Group-

level decision-making procedures and incorporate limits 

of authority in exercising implementation power. The seg-

regation of duties is targeted in all areas considered sig-

nificant, and any conflicts of interest are avoided where 

possible. In order to ensure that all shareholders’ rights 

are taken into account, subsidiaries must report any re-

lated party transaction in excess of EUR 10,000 to the 

Company’s Board; further, any related party transaction 

exceeding EUR 100,000 has to be accepted by the Board 

of Ruukki Group Plc.

The Board of Directors of the Company decides on the 

goals and organisation of risk management. The purpose 

of risk management is to identify the threats and op-

portunities affecting strategy implementation and to help 

achieve the targets set in the strategy by ensuring that 

risks are proportional to the riskbearing capacity.

The business segments, and the Group’s subsidiaries 

within the segments, are primarily responsible for their 

risktaking, financial performance and compliance with the 

principles of internal control and risk management poli-

cies. The business units have the right to take risk man-

agement decisions within the approved decision-making 

authorisations.

Basically market price risks and foreign exchange rate 

risks are not hedged via derivative contracts, but to the 

extent possible cash flows shall be matched, in terms 

of currency-denominated inflows and outflows, to miti-

gate the effect of changes in the underlying prices and 

exchange rates. To major extent, hazard risks typically 

related to tangible assets and/or business discontinuation 

risks are covered by insurance policies.
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Internal audit

The internal audit function assists the Board of Directors 

and other management in improving, supervising and as-

suring operations by carrying out audits independently 

and objectively. It shall evaluate and improve the effec-

tiveness of risk management, control, and governance 

processes by assessing, for example, the performance 

level efficiency, the sufficiency of internal control and su-

pervision, as well as compliance with laws, official regula-

tions and internal instructions. The Board of Directors has 

confirmed guidelines for the organisation and operating 

principles governing internal audits.

From 2007 until the first half of 2009, the internal audit 

function was outsourced. However, at the end of 2009, 

the Company’s Board decided to set up an internal audit 

function by recruiting internal resources, a process that 

is currently ongoing. The internal audit function reports 

to the Audit Committee and also informs the operational 

management of its findings.

Internal audit shall prepare a report on each audit and 

deliver it to the Audit Committee and the CEO. These 

reports may contain recommendations aimed at improve-

ments. In addition, internal audit shall monitor the imple-

mentation of recommended improvements.

External audit

According to the Articles of Association, the Company 

shall have one ordinary auditor and one deputy auditor. 

Should an audit firm authorised by the Central Chamber 

of Commerce be elected as the ordinary auditor, no 

deputy auditor needs to be elected. The term of office 

of the auditor ends at the end of the first Annual General 

Meeting following the election.

 

The auditors are tasked with auditing the accounting, 

financial statements and corporate governance of the 

Company and the consolidated Group in order to obtain 

assurance that the Company and its administrative bod-

ies operate in compliance with applicable laws; and that 

the financial statements have been prepared in accord-

ance with the rules and regulations in force, giving a 

true and fair view of the Company’s and the consolidated 

Group’s results of operations and financial position to 

its shareholders and other interested parties. The au-

ditors shall present the Auditors’ Report to the Annual 

General Meeting, expressing their opinion of the content 

of the financial statements and profit distribution. Based 

on their observations, they shall also draw up an audit 

memoranda delivered to the Board of Directors and the 

Group management. Whenever necessary, the auditors 

shall also issue oral reports to the aforementioned per-

sons and bodies.

The Board of Directors prepares, if and when needed, a 

tender offer for the statutory external audit, forming also 

the basis for the proposal by the Board to the sharehold-

ers’ meeting.
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The Company complies with the Guidelines for Insiders 

issued by the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Stock Exchange.

Public insider register

The Company’s permanent public insiders comprise the 

Board members, the CEO, the Deputy CEO/CFO as well 

as the auditors. All permanent public insiders and the 

statutory information about them, their related parties 

and the entities controlled by them or in which they ex-

ercise influence, have been entered into the Company’s 

public insider register which is published on the Company 

website. Ruukki Group imposes a restriction on trading 

for insiders, which forbids trading with the Company’s 

INSIDER ADMINISTRATION

shares for fourteen days before the publication of finan-

cial reports. Compliance with the insider regulations is 

monitored by taking samples at certain intervals of trad-

ing by insiders in the Company’s shares.

Company-specific insider register

In addition to the public insider register, Ruukki Group 

Plc holds a company-specific insider register of persons 

who regularly receive information that can have mate-

rial impact on the value of the Company’s security. These 

persons include all Ruukki Group Plc employees (exclud-

ing those belonging to the public insider register), the 

boards and managing directors of the Group’s significant 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE RELATED KEY EVENTS IN 2009  

General Meetings

An Extraordinary General Meeting was held on 24 

February 2009 in Espoo and the Annual General Meeting 

was held on 7 May 2009 in Espoo. General meeting reso-

lutions can be found at: www.ruukkigroup.fi/In_English/

Investors/General_meetings.iw3.

Board of Directors

The Annual General Meeting elected five members, one fe-

male and four male, to the Board: Thomas Hoyer, Markku 

Kankaala, Jelena Manojlovic, Terence McConnachie and 

Alwyn Smit. Esa Hukkanen was a Board member until 7 

May 2009.

During 2009, the Board met 21 times (2008: 32 times). 

The average attendance rate of the members was 97% 

(86%).

Audit committee

The audit committee currently has two members: Jelena 

Manojlovic (Chair) and Markku Kankaala. Thomas Hoyer 

resigned from the committee in October 2009 after 

taking up the position of the CEO of the Group’s Wood 

Processing business.

The committee met four times during 2009 (2008: three 

times).

Chief executive officer

The main terms of the CEO agreement signed with Alwyn 

Smit on 11 September 2008 are the following:

fixed monthly gross salary of EUR 30,000; any fees  »

paid based on Board membership are deducted from 

the gross salary, so the total fixed monthly remunera-

tion in EUR 30,000 from both the CEO position and 

Board member position 

bonus salary is based on targets set by the Board in  »

advance and annually capped at 24 months’ gross 

salary

bonus salary for the financial year 2009 performance  »

has been tied to four indicators as defined by the 

Board in the summer 2009 (the relative importance 

subsidiaries, as well as all other Group employees or 

third-party service providers who regularly obtain insider 

information.

Project-specific insider register

When necessary, the Company sets up a separate project-

specific insider register. Project-specific insiders are those 

who, in connection with the insider project, obtain in-

formation about the Company that might have material 

impact on the value of the Company’s shares if it were 

published. The establishment of a project is decided by 

the Board or the CEO.
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of each indicator presented in brackets): 1) realised 

EBITDA of the current businesses (60%); 2) Ruukki 

Group Plc’s share price performance (25%); 3) com-

pletion of unfinished acquisition processes (10%); 4) 

other factors (5%)

based on the EGM resolution in October 2008, Smit  »

has altogether 2,900,000 option rights from the 

I/2008 option scheme; if the CEO resigns on his initia-

tive, the Company has the unilateral right to cancel 

the options

Smit does not have any extra pensions and pension  »

age benefits, Smit’s pension coverage is set equal to 

the Finnish TyeL system

the Company is obliged to arrange Smit life, travel and  »

occupational health insurances

annual vacation totals 5 weeks »

non-competition is valid six months after the CEO  »

agreement has been terminated

in case the employer terminates the agreement, six  »

months notice period is given and the notice period 

pay is applied; if the CEO terminates the agreement 

the notice period is three months.

Management executive committee

With effect from 4 November 2009, Dr Danko Koncar 

was appointed as Chief Executive Officer, Minerals busi-

ness; Dr Alistair Ruiters was appointed as Chief Executive 

Officer, Ruukki South Africa (Pty) Ltd. With effect from 1 

October 2009, Thomas Hoyer was appointed to the new 

role of Chief Executive Officer of Ruukki yhtiöt Oy, the 

subsidiary which the Group intends will become the par-

ent company for the house building and Wood Processing 

businesses. In conjunction with this appointment, an 

operative management team has also been appointed to 

the Wood Processing businesses.

On 24 November 2009, the Group Management Executive 

Committee held its first meeting with five members:

Mr. Alwyn Smit   Chief Executive Officer, Group

Dr. Danko Koncar   Chief Executive Officer, Minerals

                             Processing businesses

Dr. Alistair Ruiters   Chief Executive Officer, Ruukki South

                                Africa

Mr. Thomas Hoyer   Chief Executive Officer, Wood   

                             Processing businesses

Mr. Jukka Havia  Deputy Chief Executive

                             Officer, Group

Ilona Halla replaced Jukka Havia as the Executive 

Committee member from February 2010 since Havia re-

signed from the Company.
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Remuneration of the Board members and the CEO

The Annual General Meeting on 7 May 2009 resolved the 

compensation of the Board as follows: Chairman EUR 

7,500 and each member EUR 5,000 per month. During 

the financial year 2009, the Board members received a 

total of EUR 350,000 as board membership fees (2008: 

EUR 323,000). In addition, the Board members received 

fees on other basis a total of EUR 0 (2008: EUR 18,000).

In 2009, the total fixed gross remuneration to the CEO 

was EUR 360,000, including his board fees, (2008: EUR 

336,000) and bonuses EUR 172,500 (EUR 30,000). 

The IFRS 2 based options expenses in relation to the 

CEO’s option rights totalled EUR 637,000 in 2009 (EUR 

319,000).

SHAREHOLDINGS OF THE PUBLIC INSIDERS ON 31 DECEMBER 2009

Insider

Englund Tomi

Havia Jukka

Hoyer Thomas

Kankaala Markku

Manojlovic Jelena

McConnachie Terence

Smith Alwyn

Shares

0

0

52 083

8 550 228

70 766 500

0

2 800 000

Options

0

250 000

0

0

73 170 731

0

2 900 000
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Notices issued under Chapter 2, section 10 of the 

Securities Market Act in the period from 1 January 

2009 to 25 February 2010  

Ruukki Group Plc has received the following flagging noti-

fications during or after the financial year 1 January – 31 

December 2009. The notifications can be found in full on 

the company website at: 

www.ruukkigroup.fi/In_English/News/Flaggings.iw3

16 January 2009: RCS Trading Corporation Ltd  »  be-

low 5%

19 January 2009: Kermas Limited  »  above 25%

19 January 2009: Danske Bank A/S Helsingin  »

Sivukonttori  above 5% (later to fall below 5% if 

derivative agreements exercised)

19 January 2009: Nordea Bank Finland Plc  »  below 

15% (in June 2009 to fall below 5% when forward 

contracts expire)

27 January 2009: combined ownership of Kai Mäkelä,  »

Oy Herttakakkonen Ab and Oy Herttaässä Ab  below 

5%

5 February 2009: based on Ruukki Group’s announce- »

ment of the Board’s decision to cancel treasury shares, 

Atkey Limited potentially above 10%

20 February 2009: Danske Bank A/S Helsingin  »

Sivukonttori  still above 5% (later to fall below 5% if 

derivative agreements exercised)

24 March 2009: Danske Bank A/S Helsingin Sivukonttori  »

 below 5%

18 May 2009: Kermas Limited  »  current ownership 

above 15%

28 May 2009: Bassanio Services Limited and Alwyn  »

Smit  combined potential future ownership below 

5%

28 May 2009: Atkey Limited and Aida Djakov  »  com-

bined ownership above 20%

9 June 2009: Ruukki Group Plc  »  treasury shares held 

by the Company above 5% 

30 June 2009: based on Ruukki Group’s announce- »

ment of the Board’s decision to acquire 100% of the 

share capital of Sylvania Resources Limited  Kermas 

Limited total ownership (shares and derivatives) 

potentially below 50%, Atkey Limited potentially be-

low 10%, Nordea Bank Finland Plc potentially below 

10%, Hanwa Company Limited potentially below 

10%, Ruukki Group Plc’s treasury shares potentially 

below 5% and Dresdner Bank AG London Branch, a 

shareholder of Sylvania Resources Limited, potentially 

above 5%

21 September 2009: Nordea Bank Finland Plc  »  below 

10% (in November 2009 to fall below 5% when for-

ward contracts expire)

21 September 2009: Kermas Limited  »  current own-

ership above 20%

23 October 2009: Kermas Limited  »  current owner-

ship above 25%

9 November 2009: JPMorgan Chase & Co.   »  own-

ership of JPMorgan Asset Management (UK) Limited 

below 5% 

12 November 2009: Nordea Bank Finland Plc  »  below 

5% 

13 November 2009: Kermas Limited  »  current owner-

ship above 30%, Kermas Ltd will apply for an exemp-

tion from the obligation to make a mandatory bid and 

intends to reduce its holdings below the bid obligation 

threshold (30%)

11 December 2009: Kermas Limited  »  current owner-

ship below 30%

14 December 2009: Atkey Limited and Aida Djakov  »  

Atkey Limited above 15%, combined ownership above 

25% 

19 January 2010: Ruukki Group Plc  »  treasury shares 

held by the Company below 5% 

20 January 2010: Atkey Limited  » g based on Ruukki 

Group’s announcement of the Board’s decision to 

cancel altogether 13,052,022 treasury shares held by 

Ruukki Group Plc Atkey Limited’s ownership will ex-

ceed 20% of the registered share capital and voting 

rights of Ruukki Group Plc after the cancellation has 

been registered at the Trade Register 

FLAGGING NOTICES

ADDITIONAL CORPORATE INFORMATION

Additional information can be found at 

www.ruukkigroup.fi
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